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Chairman’s Statement

Dear shareholders:

The year 2023 is the first year to fully implement the spirit of the 20th National Congress of the Communist Party of China. 

Despite the continued downturn in the world economy and frequent geopolitical conflicts, the economy of China continued 

to rebound and improve in 2023, and high-quality development was solidly pushed forward, with the gross domestic 

product (GDP) for the year increased by 5.2% year-on-year.

Affected by factors such as macroeconomic stability and recovery in consumer market demand, the commercial vehicle 

market achieved recovery growth in 2023. China’s annual sales of commercial vehicles reached 4,031.0 thousand units, a 

year-on-year increase of 22.1%; among which, the annual sales of heavy trucks reached 911.1 thousand units, a year-on-

year increase of 35.6%.

In 2023, we strive to advance towards the vision of “becoming a leader in China’s commercial vehicle service industry”, we 

will continue to consolidate and enhance the advantageous position of the group in the integrated value-added services 

market of the commercial vehicle industry chain. During the Reporting Period, the Group tapped fully into the market 

potential, and branched out into independent third-party customers. We also promoted R&D and innovation capabilities, 

steadily implemented management reform, and continuously made advancements in both model innovation and business 

integration. Throughout the year, our revenue was RMB3,119.4 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 14.3%; net 

profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company was RMB149.3 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 

34.1%; and basic earnings per share was RMB0.07.

In the logistics and supply chain service sector, we provided automobile manufacturing supply chain service for the 

production of approximately 129.2 thousand commercial vehicles, and provided automobile logistics service for 

approximately 62.8 thousand commercial vehicles in 2023. Our subsidiary, Tonghui Logistic, as the national 5A-level logistics 

enterprise, and has led the establishment of the Automotive Logistics Association of Logistics and Purchasing Federation 

of Shaanxi, and was honored as the president unit. In 2023, in the construction of China’s digital warehousing standard 

system, Tonghui Logistics actively participated in the drafting of industry standards, and was awarded the “Exemplary 

organization in the Construction of China’s Digital Warehousing Standard System in 2023” by the IOT Technology and 

Application Professional Committee of the China IOT, and was selected as the outstanding case of logistics enterprises’ 

digital transformation in 2023. At the same time, as a core backbone enterprise of Xi’an’s production and service-oriented 

national logistics hub, Tonghui Logistics has been awarded the “2023 Xi’an National Logistics Hub (Base) Construction 

Benchmark Unit”.

In the supply chain financial service sector, our newly invested funds in financial leasing business and factoring business 

totaled RMB7,711.3 million in 2023. The completion of a sharing financing platform enlarged the capital source. Deewin 

Financial Leasing issued asset-backed securities (ABS) with an aggregate amount of RMB1,230 million. At the same time, 

we also made significant progress in the non-vehicle financial leasing field. Deewin Financial Leasing was awarded the 2023 

“West Lake Forum Cup” Leasing Enterprise Management Award. Deewin Factoring has been awarded the 2023 Advanced 

Member Unit by the Business Professional Committee of the China Association of Trade in Services (CATIS).
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In the IoV and data service sector, the number of heavy commercial vehicles registered with our IoV platform was 

approximately 1,067.5 thousand as of 31 December 2023. We have developed the cloud control platform, which supports 

the application scenarios of autonomous vehicles. We have built a digital operation platform for the whole life cycle of new 

energy, which expands the application of Tianxingjian’s IoT. We have built the intelligent transport capacity service solution 

of “autonomous vehicles + cloud control platform + intelligent network insurance”, realizing the first demonstration case of 

autonomous driving operation in a steel mill. In 2023, our subsidiary Tianxingjian Internet of Vehicle won the second prize 

of “Shaanxi Beidou Innovation and Entrepreneurship Competition”.

Moreover, in the new energy business area, the Group actively explored the business model of providing integrated logistics 

capacity solutions for customers. This means that we provide our partners with transportation management, financial, 

battery charging and swapping and other services through resource integration based on logistics capacity services and 

our strengths in the logistics, capital flow and information flow business, which would bring scale effect to support our 

sustainable operation. In 2023, we will also actively follow up and expand key projects in the province and abroad, continue 

to develop various products in the new energy field, and continuously optimize our product system and service quality.

We believe that the continuous recovery of Chinese economy will create new opportunities for the development of the 

commercial vehicle industry. In 2024, we will continue to maintain our strategic stability, enhance our core competitiveness, 

strengthen the integration and synergy of all sectors, vigorously develop independent third-party customer business, 

concentrate in expanding new energy business, and create new models and new business forms. These efforts are to form 

new advantages in comprehensive services.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to all shareholders, people from all walks 

of life and customers who have shown their concern and support to the Group, and to all staff members who have worked 

diligently. I would like to thank all shareholders and partners for their continued support and understanding of the Group, 

and all staff for their effective work and tireless efforts.

This year, the Group will leverage its industry advantages in the integrated service of the commercial vehicle industry chain, 

remain committed to the commercial vehicle service market, and create greater value for shareholders of the Company.

Guo Wancai

Chairman
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Financial Highlights

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue was approximately RMB3,119.4 million, representing an 

increase of 14.3% as compared to the corresponding period in 2022; gross profit was approximately RMB515.4 million, 

representing an increase of 4.3% as compared to the corresponding period in 2022; profit before income tax was 

approximately RMB209.1 million, representing a decrease of 25.0% as compared to the corresponding period in 2022; 

and profit for the year was approximately RMB151.3 million, representing a decrease of 31.2% as compared to the 

corresponding period in 2022.

The following table sets forth the consolidated financial indicators of the Group for 2019-2023:

Consolidated Results

Year ended 31 December

Years 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

(in RMB million)

Revenue 3,119.4 2,728.3 3,126.9 3,261.7 2,892.0

Gross profit 515.4 494.0 732.4 653.4 474.3

Profit before income tax 209.1 278.8 444.6 399.8 307.9

Profit for the year 151.3 220.0 368.7 318.0 241.1

Consolidated Financial Position

As at 31 December

Years 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

(in RMB million)

Total assets 9,204.8 9,172.7 10,188.0 11,367.1 9,031.8

Total liabilities 5,885.5 5,837.1 7,738.3 9,218.1 7,339.5

Total equity 3,319.3 3,335.6 2,449.7 2,149.0 1,692.3
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Our Group focuses on providing various value-added services, including logistics and supply chain service, supply chain 

financial service, IoV and data service, to players along the commercial vehicle industry chain.

In 2023, the Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB3,119.4 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 14.3%, 

of which revenue from the logistics and supply chain service sector was approximately RMB2,431.1 million, representing a 

year-on-year increase of 22.6%; revenue from the supply chain financial service sector was approximately RMB459.5 million, 

representing a year-on-year decrease of 19.5%; and revenue from the IoV and data service sector was approximately 

RMB228.8 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 30.9%. The three major businesses accounted for 77.9%, 14.7% 

and 7.4% of the Group’s total revenue, respectively.

Logistics and Supply Chain Service Sector

In 2023, our business of logistics and supply chain service mainly included commercial vehicle manufacturing supply chain 

business, automobile sales business and aftermarket product business. Our major customers are components suppliers, 

commercial vehicle manufacturers, commercial vehicle sales dealers, logistics companies and commercial vehicle end-

customers.

In terms of supply chain service, we provide supply chain management and “integrated logistics” services in relation 

to commercial vehicle components. Through seamless integration with the manufacturing plan of commercial vehicle 

manufacturers, we streamlined redundant processes and achieved a lower logistics cost while maintaining service quality. 

In 2023, we provided automobile manufacturing supply chain service for the production of approximately 129.2 thousand 

commercial vehicles, and provided automobile logistics service in relation to approximately 62.8 thousand commercial 

vehicles.

Leveraging our network, we provide logistics service to independent customers such as raw material suppliers, resources 

companies and express courier service providers. In order to further expand our industry advantages in third party logistics 

service, we continued to diversify our customer base while exploring cooperation with more independent customers through 

the expansion and development of our third party logistics service in relation to raw materials (such as coal and ore), 

commodities and express couriers. In 2023, the revenue from logistics service to independent customers was approximately 

RMB1,366.1 million.

In terms of automobile sales business, we realised a sale of 1,214 commercial vehicles and recorded a revenue of 

approximately RMB270.7 million in 2023. We have formulated the annual sales plan according to the market conditions 

in China and each sales region. We believe that with the continuous implementation of the national growth stabilisation 

policy and the continuous development of measures such as promoting industrial and infrastructure construction, the 

market vitality and consumption potential will be further stimulated, which will in turn drive the rebound of the Group’s 

commercial vehicle market demand and achieve sales recovery and growth.
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In terms of aftermarket product business, we engaged in aftermarket product business that mainly covered the sales 

of (i) tyres, (ii) lubricants, and (iii) other commercial vehicle-related products, such as carbamide and components. In 2023, 

these businesses achieved a revenue of RMB80.8 million in total.

Supply Chain Financial Service Sector

Our supply chain financial service sector mainly comprises of financial leasing business and factoring business.

We engage in financial leasing business through our wholly-owned subsidiary Deewin Financial Leasing. We specialise in 

providing sale and leaseback service to our customers. In 2023, newly invested funds reached RMB4,000.3 million, and the 

number of newly cumulative effective finance lease agreements is 6,239. We have served a total of 6,190 customers for 

8,646 leased commercial vehicles through our network of quality commercial vehicle sales dealers in the PRC.

We conduct our factoring business through our wholly-owned subsidiary Deewin Factoring. In 2023, we invested additional 

RMB3,711.0 million.

We have further expanded our sources of funding through diversified funding channels. In 2023, Deewin Financial Leasing 

issued 3 batches of asset-backed securities (ABS), with an aggregate principal amount of RMB1,230 million.

Set out below are further details of the business model and performance of the supply chain financial services segment 

during the Reporting Period:

(i) Customer profiles:

Financial leasing: As at 31 December 2023, our financial leasing business has served customers located in about 

27 provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions in the PRC.

Factoring business: As at 31 December 2023, our factoring business has served customers located in about 

21 provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions in the PRC.

(ii) Details of credit approval processes

Financial leasing: We have established a comprehensive customer due diligence and credit review system. The 

credit assessment department will conduct a further due diligence investigation against the background of the 

leasing project and creditworthiness of our customer, and compile due diligence and risk assessment reports. We 

will also produce credit assessment reports based on the credit assessment results provided by independent third 

parties in the following manner: (a) for all customers who are natural persons, we will obtain credit assessment data 

from various big-data platforms managed by independent third parties with a letter of authorisation issued by such 

customer for conducting information query; and (b) for all customers who are legal persons, we will obtain credit 

assessment information through open information platforms managed by independent third parties. The customer’s 

application and relevant due diligence materials will then be circulated for internal assessment and approval.
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Factoring business: We have established a comprehensive customer due diligence and credit assessment system. We 

will conduct a due diligence and credit assessment on our customer. Further operational and financial information of 

our customer and the buyer will be collected to assess their operation quality, business authenticity and credit level. 

We will also obtain credit assessment reports from independent third parties when assessing Logistics Factoring 

projects. Upon completion of the investigation against our customer and the buyer, the factoring application will 

then be processed internally for final assessment and approval and a credit limit to be granted to our customer will 

be determined.

(iii) Number of lessees/borrowers

Financial leasing: For the year ended 31 December 2023, we had a total of 6,239 new financial lease agreements 

cumulatively, and served a total of 6,190 customers.

Factoring business: For the year ended 31 December 2023, we had a total of 866 new factoring agreements 

cumulatively, and served a total of 211 customers.

(iv) The major terms of the loans

Financial leasing: A summary of the key terms of the financial leasing agreement is set out below (demonstrated 

by those under a core commercial automobile financial leasing transaction):

• Term: the term of our leasing agreements generally varies from two to three years;

• Commercial automobile under lease: a detailed list of commercial automobile for leasing is appended to the 

financial leasing agreement;

• Ownership of commercial automobile under lease: during the lease term, we have the ownership of leased 

commercial automobile, whereas our customer enjoys the right to possess, use and generate income from the 

leased commercial automobile subject to the terms and conditions of the financial leasing agreement. The 

lessee may not transfer, sub-lease, lend or otherwise dispose of the leased commercial automobile without 

our consent, and must take appropriate actions to take proper care of the leased commercial automobile;

• Installation: generally, it is required to install Tianxingjian IoV System or other approved satellite positioning 

devices on leased commercial vehicles;
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• Rent, fees and security deposit:

– regular lease payment by lessee;

– fees for late repayment and insurance; and

– security deposit;

• Information on mortgages: The mortgages under the financial leasing agreement are generally leased 

property, which mainly includes commercial vehicles (such as trucks, tractor-trailers, special purpose vehicles, 

etc.), as well as other machinery and equipment.

• Default provision: if lessee fails to pay any instalment of rent or fails to perform any of its obligation specified 

in the financial leasing agreements, we shall have the right to demand prompt payment in full or in part of 

the loan receivables from the financial leasing business;

• Dispute resolution: the financial leasing agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with the laws of the 

PRC, and if any dispute arises, it shall be heard by the people’s court at the place where the contract is 

signed or the place where the lessor is domiciled or the place where the contract is performed; and

• Completion: after full settlement of all interest and principal payables or compensation settled.

Factoring business: A summary of the key terms of our factoring agreement is set out below:

• Term: one to twelve months in general;

• Major arrangements:

– the customer transfers the ownership of the trade receivables to us, and we provide the customer 

with the factoring services;

– we have the right to demand payment of the trade receivables from the buyer;

– we have the right to demand the customer to repay the outstanding balance of the financing 

provided to such customer, together with any unpaid interest and related fees owed to us, according 

to the conditions set out in the agreement; and

– for most of our factoring transactions, we have the right to notify the buyer of such factoring 

arrangement between us and the customer at the outset before we provide the financing to the 

customer;
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• Ownership of the accounts receivable: the ownership of the trade receivables will be transferred from the 

customer to us upon the commencement of the factoring agreements;

• Factoring financing: we determine (i) a credit limit (which is subject to review periodically) for each customer, 

which limit is determined by the risk review committee, (ii) whether the credit limit will be fixed or revolving 

(typically revolving in nature), and (iii) the availability period of the credit limit for each customer;

• Factoring fees: factoring fees comprise interest and administrative fees. The total factoring fee 

(“Consolidated Effective Annualized Interest Rate”) is primarily determined based on a project-by-

project risk-pricing principle, after taking into account the Company’s cost and other related expenses. Such 

Consolidated Effective Annualized Interest Rate equals to the sum of administrative fee (which needs to be 

converted into annualized rate according to the financing term, and charged in a lump sum prior to lending) 

and the annual interest rate (which is charged on a monthly basis):

– interest is usually paid in installments, but may also be paid upfront, or at the end of the financing 

period; and

– administrative fees are usually paid in full by the customer to us before we provide the customer with 

the financing;

• Default provision: if the customer or the buyer fails to perform certain obligations specified in the agreement, 

we shall have the right to demand for default interest and/or unconditional repurchase of the outstanding 

trade receivables by our customer, and/or to terminate the provision of the financing to the customer;

• Dispute resolution: the factoring agreements shall be interpreted in accordance with the laws of the PRC, 

and if any dispute arises, it shall be subject to the People’s Court of the PRC that has jurisdiction over the 

region where the factoring agreements were signed; and

• Completion: upon the end of the term or the termination of the factoring agreements (whichever is earlier).
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(v) The size and diversity of lessees/borrowers

Financial leasing: As at 31 December 2023, in terms of number of customers, more than 90.0% of our customers 

were individuals who are independent third parties of our Company. The remaining customers of our financial 

leasing business mainly include (a) various companies providing logistics service in relation to a wide range of goods 

and products, (b) an independent commercial automobile manufacturer, and (c) licensed companies conducting 

financial leasing business.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was one single customer who contributed (a) more than 5.0% of 

the total revenue of our financial leasing business, and no single customer contributed (b) more than 1.0% of the 

total revenue of the Group. 

During the year ended 31 December 2023, based on the amount placed, the amount we invested into the provision 

of the financial leasing services to the top five customers represents approximately 21.3% of the percentage to the 

total amount invested into the provision of financial leasing services.

Factoring business: As of 31 December 2023, the major customers of our factoring business include components 

suppliers and assembly plants in the supply chain of commercial vehicle manufacturing, as well as customers in the 

logistics industry (including without limitation, logistics platform companies, small and medium logistics enterprises, 

enterprises running supply chain projects and contract logistic projects), and further expanding into infrastructure, 

commerce and trade sectors.

In relation to the customers of our factoring business, for the year ended 31 December 2023, there are 4 single 

customers contributed (a) more than 5.0% of the total revenue of our factoring business, while not a single 

customer (b) more than 1.0% of the total revenue of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, based on the amount placed, the amount we invested into the provision 

of the factoring services to the top five customers represents approximately 30.3% of the percentage to the total 

amount invested into the provision of factoring services.
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(vi) Interest rates and administrative fees

Finance lease: for the year ended 31 December 2023, we charged interest rates ranging from 2.50% to 9.77% per 

annum; the administrative fees charged ranged from 0.00% to 5.00%.

Factoring: for the year ended 31 December 2023 the annual interest rates we charged ranged from 0.00% 

to 10.50%; the administrative fees charged ranged from 0.00% to 6.96%. In addition, for the year ended 

31 December 2023, the average Consolidated Effective Annualized Interest Rate of the Company’s factoring 

business was 9.03%.

(vii) The ageing analysis of the outstanding loans

Financial leasing: The following table sets out the movement in the number of financial leasing agreements and 

the financial leasing receivables balance during the years and as at the dates indicated:

As of 31 December

2023 2022

Period(1) Number(2)

Financial 

leasing 

receivables 

balance Number(2)

Financial 

leasing 

receivables 

balance

RMB (million) RMB (million)

Less than 1 year 6,219 2,063.1 13,559 1,778.3

Between 1 and 2 years 5,137 2,505.3 4,694 2,955.2

Over 2 years 1,444 923.3 888 801.5

Total 12,800 5,491.7 19,141 5,535.0

Notes:

(1) Period means the length of time remaining until the agreed maturity date of the financial leasing agreements as of 31 December 
2023 and 31 December 2022, respectively.

(2) The number represents the number of financial leasing agreements under performance as of 31 December 2023 and 31 December 
2022, respectively.
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The following table sets out the movement in the financial leasing receivables balance and the percentage during 

the years and as at the dates indicated, based on the length of time the outstanding loans have been outstanding 

from the date of grant to year end:

As of 31 December

2023 2022

Period(1)

Financial

leasing

receivables 

balance Percentage

Financial 

leasing 

receivables 

balance Percentage

RMB (million) RMB (million)

Less than 1 year 3,215.1 58.6% 3,049.0 55.1%

Between 1 and 2 years 1,568.1 28.6% 1,711.1 30.9%

Over 2 years 708.5 12.8% 774.9 14.0%

Total 5,491.7 100.0% 5,535.0 100.0%

Note:

(1) Period means the length of the outstanding loans granted as of the end of 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Factoring business: The following table sets out the movement in the number of factoring agreements and the 

factoring receivables balance during the years and as at the dates indicated:

As of 31 December

2023 2022

Period(1) Number(2)

Factoring 

receivables 

balance Number(2)

Factoring 

receivables 

balance

RMB (million) RMB (million)

Less than 3 months 229 1,224.5 171 670.6

Between 3 months and 6 months 85 271.5 67 255.9

Between 6 months and 12 months 32 73.9 1 6.4

Over 12 months 0 0.0 0 0.0

Total 346 1,569.9 239 932.9

Notes:

(1) Period means the length of time remaining until the agreed maturity date of the factoring agreements as of 31 December 2023 and 
31 December 2022, respectively.

(2) The number represents the number of factoring agreements under performance as of 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, 
respectively.
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The following table sets out the movement in the factoring receivables balance and the percentage during the years 

and as at the dates indicated, based on the length of time the outstanding loans have been outstanding from the 

date of grant to year end:

As of 31 December

2023 2022

Period(1)

Factoring 

receivables 

balance Percentage

Factoring 

receivables 

balance Percentage

RMB (million) RMB (million)

Less than 3 months 1,067.8 68.0% 617.5 66.2%

Between 3 months and 6 months 242.5 15.5% 207.6 22.3%

Between 6 months and 12 months 149.6 9.5% 0.3 0.0%

Over 12 months 110.1 7.0% 107.5 11.5%

Total 1,569.9 100.0% 932.9 100.0%

Note:

(1) Period means the length of the outstanding loans granted as of the end of 2023 and 2022, respectively.

(viii) Movements of impairments or write-offs of loan receivables and the basis of impairment 
assessments

Finance leasing: The Group assessed whether the credit risk of loan receivables had increased significantly since 

their initial recognition, and applied a three-stage impairment model to calculate the expected credit loss (“ECL”). 

For loan receivables classified under stage 1 (there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 

recognition) and stage 2 (there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition but is not yet 

deemed to be credit-impaired), management assessed loss allowances using the risk parameter modelling approach 

that incorporated relevant key assumptions and parameters, including the probability of default, loss given default, 

exposure at default, and forward-looking economic factors. For loan receivables classified under stage 3 (there has 

been identified as credit-impaired since initial recognition), management assessed loss allowances by estimating the 

expected discounted cash flows.

As of 31 December 2023, the Company’s finance leasing business involved long-term receivables of RMB5,491.7 

million (2022: RMB5,535.0 million) and a balance of bad debt provision for long-term receivables of RMB385.2 

million (2022: RMB368.0 million). In 2023, the provision for bad debts slightly increased as compared with 2022, 

mainly due to the impact of existing contracts. In 2023, the asset quality of the new vehicle business was good, and 

the overdue amount was effectively controlled. 
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Factoring business: The Group assessed whether the credit risk of loan receivables had increased significantly 

since their initial recognition, and applied a three-stage impairment model to calculate the expected credit loss. 

For loan receivables classified under stage 1 (there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 

recognition) and stage 2 (there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition but is not yet 

deemed to be credit-impaired), management assessed loss allowances using the risk parameter modelling approach 

that incorporated relevant key assumptions and parameters, including the probability of default, loss given default, 

exposure at default, and forward-looking economic factors. For loan receivables classified under stage 3 (there has 

been identified as credit-impaired since initial recognition), management assessed loss allowances by estimating the 

expected discounted cash flows.

As of 31 December 2023, the Company’s factoring business involved trade receivables of RMB1,569.9 million 

(2022: RMB932.9 million) and the balance of bad debt provision for trade receivables was RMB153.1 million 

(2022: RMB114.5 million). The increase in the balance of bad debt provision in 2023 as compared with 2022 was 

mainly due to the increase in credit impairment losses provided for in 2023 as a result of the Company’s prudent 

consideration of the operation of individual customers.

IoV and Data Service Sector

We conduct our IoV and data service business through our wholly-owned subsidiary Tianxingjian. As at 31 December 2023, 

the number of heavy commercial vehicles registered with our IoV platform was approximately 1,067.5 thousand.

Our IoV system has maintained its strong integration and data collection capabilities and broad range of application 

scenarios. As at 31 December 2023, the intellectual property rights owned by Tianxingjian included 20 patents and 104 

copyrights, and Tianxingjian was in the process of applying for 22 patents.

In addition, based on our advantages in the platform scale and data collection, we have developed several application 

scenarios, including (i) intelligent logistics comprehensive solutions, (ii) automobile financial leasing IoV solutions, 

(iii) industry chain digital intelligence service solutions, (iv) dump truck supervision solutions, (v) integrated solutions for 

driverless cloud control and new energy capacity, and (vi) environmental protection supervision solutions. The large number 

of automobiles covered by the above application scenarios enables us to be one of the top players among IoV applications 

of the same kind in China.
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

In 2023, we continued to deliver a solid performance. While consolidating and enhancing the integration and synergy 

of various sectors, we accelerated the deployment of the new energy industry, and created new models and new types 

of business. In 2024, we have mapped out the working policy of “being market-driven, innovative, and pragmatic and 

improving efficiency and effectiveness”, and planned to focus on the following tasks:

(I) Being goal-driven and going all out to improve the integrated service capability

Logistics and supply chain service sector: We will offer a full range of complete vehicle solutions for large customers 

specific to particular best-selling vehicle models. We will steadily scale up intelligent warehousing facilities such as 

automatic guided vehicles (AGVs) and unmanned vehicles. In addition, we will accelerate the exploration of new 

models and new types of business in the new energy field, and improve and implement programs for battery banks 

and logistics capacity platforms toward new development.

Supply chain financial service sector: We will optimize financial instruments, lower interest rates, forestall risks, and 

bolster the competitiveness of whole-life services in conjunction with vehicle sales. We will continue with customer 

credit investigation, customer risk modeling and profiling, and immediate disbursement to further improve the 

efficiency of the business process and the capability of providing refined services.

IoV and data service sector: We will invest more in technical research and development and talents, and construct an 

integrated platform of lakes and warehouses (i.e., data lakes and data warehouses) to provide a data foundation for 

data application and digital intelligence services.

In addition, implementing projects of integrated logistics capacity service model in the new energy field: We will 

develop new energy projects in alignment with annual business targets and the policy of carbon peaking and carbon 

neutrality, focusing on Shanxi, Inner Mongolia, Shaanxi, Sichuan and Xinjiang regions, to satisfy the market demand 

of coal mines, coking plants, and steel mills.

(II) Keeping abreast of the market situation and continuing to develop new areas of external 
business

Logistics and supply chain service sector: Focusing on the on-site logistics of key customers, we will expedite the 

integration of logistics transportation and packaging business, and cultivate new growth areas such as heavy-cargo 

transportation and cold-chain transportation. By relying on various types of business resources, we will also develop 

large logistics customers, and undertake various short- and medium-distance logistics projects. We will tap into the 

resource-based and environmental protection markets, implant the after-market product sales business through the 

transportation scenarios created by supply chain projects, and scale up the packaging business of spare parts for 

commercial vehicles.
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Supply chain financial service sector: We will continue to strengthen the construction of our core channels while 

developing larger new and used car business channels. Meanwhile, we will further enhance our digital financial 

service capabilities for the increment and expansion of our Silver Chain (銀鏈) platform.

IoV and data service sector: We will, with a keen understanding of customer needs, improve our market sensitivity, 

speed up the development of the IoT and intelligent network, and create a new model of digitalized vehicle 

operation in conjunction with intelligent driving and new energy business. At the same time, we will optimize our 

overseas IoV business by deploying overseas multi-data centers and through terminal independent development.

(III) Focusing on risk control for the Company’s transformation to high-quality development

We will renew our efforts to enhance subsidiaries’ operational and risk control capabilities, and cultivate the 

awareness of risk control among all employees. In this regard, we will improve compliance management and risk 

control, perfect the supplier access filing system, and strengthen the process control of credit granting and rating of 

customers for stronger asset management capabilities. We will set up a review committee by mobilizing professionals 

cross the Company and departments to review the major projects of subsidiaries. In addition, we will cultivate the 

capability of global crisis and risk response, continuously refine the mechanism for risk control of external business, 

and improve the capability of systemic risk resolution.

(IV) Following up rectification, establishing rules and regulations, reforming radically, and 
improving efficiency

Adhering to system and mechanism innovation, we will better the performance appraisal system, and enhance our 

ability to cultivate talents independently. We will fully stimulate the internal driving force and innovative vitality 

of various business entities within the Group. We will also accelerate digital transformation and promote the 

construction of a digital collaborative office platform for the higher synergy between management and business 

informationization. In addition, we will elevate financial informationization.

(V) Closely following the employee team and building a dream with one heart and one mind

We will, focusing on our central work, promote democratic management. We will strengthen the ideological and 

political guidance of employees, and launch labor competitions to promote learning through competitions. We will 

also carry forward the spirit of models and craftsmen, continue to build a team of high-skilled talents, and stimulate 

the enthusiasm of employees and managers for work and entrepreneurship. While paying attention to the dynamics 

of young workers, we will protect the legitimate rights and interests of female workers in accordance with the law.

We are committed to serving our employees so as to build a solid foundation for development. We will fresh our 

efforts in series activities titled “Care for Four Seasons and Festivals” (i.e. Caring for Spring, Cooling for Summer, 

Help for school in Autumn, Warmth for Winter and Greetings for Festivals). We will also carry out team building 

activities in an orderly fashion to enhance the cohesion and centripetal force of the Company. Finally, we will allow 

employees to share the dividends of development to enhance their sense of gain and happiness.
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The following discussion and analysis are based on the Group’s consolidated financial statements and notes thereto 

prepared in accordance with the IFRSs and are designed to assist readers in further understanding the data provided in this 

report so as to better understand the financial position and operating results of the Group as a whole.

REVENUE

The Group’s business operations can be categorised into the following sectors: (i) logistics and supply chain service sector, (ii) 

supply chain financial service sector, and (iii) IoV and data service sector.

The revenue of the Group increased by 14.3% to RMB3,119.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from 

RMB2,728.3 million for the corresponding period of 2022.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of revenue by business sectors in absolute amounts and as percentages to the 

total revenue for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

Amount %  Amount %

(in thousands of RMB, except for percentages)

Logistics and supply chain service sector 2,431,163 77.9 1,982,682 72.7

– Sales of goods 351,520 11.3 293,066 10.8

– Logistics and warehousing service 2,072,905 66.4 1,686,579 61.8

– Others Note (1) 6,738 0.2 3,037 0.1

Supply chain financial service sector 459,517 14.7 570,879 20.9

– Interest income from financial leasing business 363,511 11.6 489,880 18.0

– Interest income from factoring services 95,260 3.1 80,394 2.9

– Others Note (2) 746 0.0 605 0.0

IoV and data service sector 228,757 7.4 174,737 6.4

– Sales of goods 157,382 5.1 72,210 2.6

– IoV and data service 71,375 2.3 102,527 3.8

Total 3,119,437 100.0 2,728,298 100.0

Notes:

(1) Other revenue from logistics and supply chain service sector was mainly (i) financial leasing assistance service for customers of automobile 
sales business, and (ii) provisional automobile plate service.

(2) Other revenue from the supply chain financing services sector is derived from the provision of satellite positioning devices and related 
installation services to commercial vehicle brands other than Shaanxi Holding Group, which facilitates our provision of finance leasing 
services.
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Logistics and supply chain service sector

Revenue for the Group mainly arises from logistics and supply chain service sector for the year ended 31 December 2023. 

Such revenue primarily derived from (i) sales of commercial vehicles and components, including tyres, lubricants and other 

automobile-related products, (ii) our logistics and warehousing services, and (iii) other services, such as leased automobile 

management services. Revenue from the logistics and supply chain services sector increased by approximately 22.6% from 

RMB1,982.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB2,431.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, 

primarily due to the vigorous expansion of external supply chain projects during the Reporting Period, which led to the 

increase in revenue of this sector as compared to the same period of last year.

Supply chain financial service sector

Supply chain financial service sector was our second largest source of revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023. It 

represented the revenue generated from (i) interest income from financial leasing business operated under a sales and 

leaseback model, (ii) interest income from factoring service and (iii) others, such as provision of satellite positioning device 

and the related installation service under our financial leasing service. Revenue from the supply chain financial service 

sector decreased by approximately 19.5% from RMB570.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB459.5 

million for the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily because the production and sales volume of commercial vehicle 

manufacturers in 2022 dropped significantly, which led to a decrease in the lease volume of the finance lease business in 

the corresponding period of the previous year and the decrease in revenue from inventories.

IoV and data service sector

The revenue of IoV and data services was generated from (i) sales of intelligent IoV products, and (ii) provision of IoV 

solutions and data services. Revenue from the IoV and data service sector increased by approximately 30.9% from 

RMB174.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB228.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, 

primarily due to the increase in revenue from sales of IoV products as compared to the same period of last year.
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COST OF REVENUE

The cost of revenue for the Group primarily consisted of (i) for our logistics and supply chain service sector, procurement 

costs of commercial vehicles, services fees paid to third party transportation fleet involved in our logistics services, 

depreciation and maintenance of our own transportation fleet involved in our logistics services, (ii) for our supply chain 

financial service sector, interest expenses of our external financing and marketing expenses, and (iii) for our IoV and data 

service sector, procurement costs of hardware and data usage.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the cost of revenue by business sectors in absolute amounts and as 

percentages to the total revenue for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

Amount % Amount %

(in thousands of RMB, except for percentages)

Logistics and supply chain service sector 2,304,593 73.9 1,892,851 69.4

– Sales of goods 342,783 11.0 289,604 10.6

– Logistics and warehousing service 1,959,661 62.8 1,602,013 58.8

– Others 2,149 0.1 1,234 0.0

Supply chain financial service sector 161,680 5.2 264,491 9.7

– Interest income from financial leasing business 131,423 4.2 227,273 8.4

– Interest income from factoring services 29,660 1.0 36,736 1.3

– Others 597 0.0 482 0.0

IoV and data service sector 137,751 4.4 76,914 2.8

– Sales of goods 120,965 3.9 55,825 2.0

– IoV and data service 16,786 0.5 21,089 0.8

Total 2,604,024 83.5 2,234,256 81.9
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of the cost of revenue by nature in absolute amounts and as percentages to the 

total revenue for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

Amount % Amount %

(in thousands of RMB, except for percentages)

Transportation expenses 1,705,256 54.7 1,387,936 50.9

Funding cost 149,730 4.8 253,107 9.3

Purchase cost of commercial vehicles 265,972 8.5 208,121 7.6

Raw material consumed 204,068 6.5 139,219 5.1

Employee benefit expenses 126,287 4.0 111,794 4.1

Outsourced labour costs 76,925 2.5 38,928 1.4

Lease expenses 19,753 0.6 14,077 0.5

Network traffic costs 14,780 0.5 18,724 0.7

Depreciation of properties, plant and equipment 13,480 0.4 9,664 0.4

Amortisation of right-of-use asset 12,967 0.4 22,902 0.8

Others 14,806 0.6 29,784 1.1

Total 2,604,024 83.5 2,234,256 81.9
    

Cost of revenue for the Group increased by approximately 17.0% from RMB2,234.3 million for the year ended 31 

December 2022 to RMB2,604.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, mainly due to the increase in revenue and 

cost of revenue during the Reporting Period.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the cost of our for logistics and supply chain service sector increased by 21.8% as 

compared to 2022, generally in line with the increase of 22.6% in the sector’s revenue for the same period.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the cost of our supply chain financial service sector decreased by 38.9% as 

compared to 2022, representing a relatively higher decrease as compared to the 19.5% decrease in the sector’s revenue for 

the same period, primarily due to lower cost of financing during the Reporting Period and a decrease in the cost of funds 

invested in our business as compared to the same period.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the cost of our IoV and Data Services sector increased by 79.1% as compared to 

2022, mainly due to the increase in revenue from the sales of IoV products in this segment during the Reporting Period, 

resulting in a corresponding increase in cost.
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GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the gross profit and gross profit margin by business segments for the periods 

indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

Gross Profit

Gross Profit 

Margin Gross Profit

Gross Profit 

Margin

(in thousands of RMB and % for gross profit margin)

Logistics and supply chain service sector 126,570 5.2 89,831 4.5

– Sales of goods 8,737 2.5 3,462 1.2

– Logistics and warehousing service 113,244 5.5 84,566 5.0

– Others 4,589 68.1 1,803 59.4

Supply chain financial service sector 297,837 64.8 306,388 53.7

– Interest income from financial leasing business 232,088 63.8 262,607 53.6

– Interest income from factoring services 65,600 68.9 43,658 54.3

– Others 149 20.0 123 20.3

IoV and data service sector 91,006 39.8 97,823 56.0

– Sales of goods 36,417 23.1 16,385 22.7

– IoV and data service 54,589 76.5 81,438 79.4

Total 515,413 16.5 494,042 18.1
    

The Group’s gross profit increased by 4.3% from RMB494.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB515.4 

million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Gross profit margin is calculated by dividing gross profit by revenue. The 

Group’s gross profit margin decreased from 18.1% for the year ended 31 December 2022 to 16.5% for the year ended 31 

December 2023, which was mainly due to the change in revenue structure during the Reporting Period. The proportion of 

revenue from the logistics and supply chain services sector increased from 72.7% in 2022 to 77.9 % in 2023, the lower 

gross profit margin of which led to a decrease in the overall gross profit margin.
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SELLING EXPENSES

Our selling expenses primarily consisted of (i) employee benefits expenses incurred for our sales and marketing staff, 

including, salaries, bonuses, social insurance costs, housing provident funds and other employee benefits, (ii) travelling 

and accommodation costs incurred by business trips of our sales and marketing staff, (iii) business entertainment expenses 

incurred for our sales and marketing activities, (iv) advertisement expenses, (v) aftersales maintenance expenses for 

intelligent IoV products, and (vi) others, including primarily transportation allowance, office rent and overheads of our sales 

and marketing staff and conference expenses.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the components of our selling expenses in absolute amounts and as 

percentages to the total selling expenses for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

Amount % Amount %

(in thousands of RMB, except for percentages)

Employee benefit expenses 38,978 78.8 34,723 75.5

Travelling costs 6,278 12.7 5,424 11.8

Business entertainment expenses 918 1.9 906 2.0

Advertising expenses 613 1.2 527 1.1

Others 2,698 5.4 4,394 9.6

Total 49,485 100.0 45,974 100.0
    

Our selling expenses increased by approximately 7.6% from RMB46.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to 

RMB49.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such increase was mainly attributable to the increase in employee 

benefit expenses due to the increase in sales force during the Reporting Period as compared to 2022, as well as the increase 

in travel expenses and business entertainment expenses in order to explore the market as compared to the same period of 

last year.
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ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Our administrative expenses primarily consisted of (i) employee benefits expenses incurred for our management and 

administrative staff, including wages, salaries, bonuses, social insurance costs, housing provident funds and other employee 

benefits, (ii) depreciation of property, plant and equipment used for administrative and general use, (iii) amortisation of 

intangible assets for administrative and general use, (iv) office rent for management and administrative staff, (v) business 

entertainment expenses incurred by our management and administrative staff, (vi) conference expenses, (vii) consulting fees 

paid to external advisors in connection with general consulting projects, and (viii) others, including primarily travelling and 

accommodation costs incurred by business trips and overheads of our management and administrative staff and advertising 

expenses for general purposes.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the components of our administrative expenses in absolute amounts and as 

percentages to the total administrative expenses for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

Amount % Amount %

(in thousands of RMB, except for percentages)

Employee benefit expenses 68,726 56.4 73,133 60.2

Advisory fees 7,411 6.1 7,441 6.1

Office rental 6,857 5.7 6,403 5.3

Depreciation of properties, plant and equipment 2,939 2.4 3,627 3.0

Business entertainment expenses 2,580 2.1 2,340 1.9

Amortisation of intangible assets 2,564 2.1 1,894 1.6

Conference expenses 258 0.2 387 0.3

Others 30,519 25.0 26,243 21.6

Total 121,854 100.0 121,468 100.0
    

Administrative expenses increased by approximately RMB0.4 million from RMB121.5 million for the year ended 31 

December 2022 to RMB121.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such increase was mainly due to (i) a decrease 

of approximately RMB4.4 million in employee benefit expenses as compared to the same period in 2022, (ii) a decrease 

of approximately RMB0.7 million in depreciation of properties and plant as compared to the same period in 2022, (iii) 

an increase of approximately RMB3.2 million in technical service fees of other projects and outsourced labour costs as 

compared to the same period in 2022.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Our research and development expenses primarily consisted of (i) employee benefits expenses incurred for our research and 

development staff, including wages, salaries, bonuses, social insurance costs, housing provident funds and other employee 

benefits, (ii) technical service fees incurred for our outsourced research and development activities and testing fees, (iii) 

depreciation of property, plant and equipment used for research and development activities, (iv) office rent for our research 

and development team and activities, and (v) others, including primarily amortisation of intangible assets used for research 

and development activities.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the components of our research and development expenses in absolute 

amounts and as percentages to the total research and development expenses for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

Amount % Amount %

(in thousands of RMB, except for percentages)

Employee benefit expenses 24,315 66.8 24,956 60.2

Office rental 6,747 18.5 5,657 13.6

Depreciation of properties, plant and equipment 3,284 9.0 4,286 10.3

Technical service fees 550 1.5 5,725 13.8

Others 1,534 4.2 852 2.1

Total 36,430 100.0 41,476 100.0
    

Research and development expenses decreased by approximately 12.2% from RMB41.5 million for the year ended 31 

December 2022 to RMB36.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease 

in technical service fees as some of the research and development projects were no longer outsourced during the Reporting 

Period.

NET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

Net impairment losses represented the provision for impairment of certain financial assets and the provision for expected 

credit losses of our financial assets during the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023. The Group calculates the expected 

credit loss based on the default risk exposure and the expected credit loss rate, which is in turn determined based on 

the default probability and the default loss rate. In determining the expected credit loss rate, the Group mainly considers 

internal historical credit losses and other relevant data, and adjusts such data for current conditions and forward looking 

data. In considering the forward looking data, the Group considers macroeconomic factors including gross domestic 

products, aggregate finance, industrial add value, producer price index, consumer price index, total retail sales of consumer 

goods, RMB Loan, M2 and purchasing manager’s index.
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Net impairment losses on financial assets increased by approximately 47.8% from RMB78.8 million for the year ended 31 

December 2022 to RMB116.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such increase was mainly attributable to (i) 

the net provision for credit impairment loss of approximately RMB52.6 million in the logistics and supply chain services 

sector during the Reporting Period due to slower repayment from customers, representing an increase of approximately 

RMB24.3 million as compared to the last year; and (ii) the increase by approximately RMB13.4 million in the supply chain 

financial services sector as compared to the corresponding period of the last year, of which the provision for bad debt 

losses increased by approximately RMB43.4 million due to the operation of individual customers in the factoring service 

business during the Reporting Period for the sake of prudence. The financial leasing business strengthened risk control 

and reduced the investment in vehicle business and increased the investment in non-vehicle business during the Reporting 

Period, resulting in a decrease in credit impairment loss of approximately RMB30.0 million as compared to the same period 

last year.

OTHER INCOME

Other income decreased by approximately 60.5% from RMB68.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to 

RMB27.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which was mainly due to (i) the receipt of government listing 

grants of RMB20.7 million in the corresponding period of the last year, and (ii) the decrease in the scale of the financial 

leasing business and the decrease in the amount of value-added tax and enterprise income tax paid during the Reporting 

Period, which resulted in a decrease in the amount of value-added tax demand refunds and financial subsidies received by 

approximately RMB15.4 million as compared with that of the corresponding period of the last year.

OTHER LOSSES – NET

Other losses – net consist of (i) notes receivable discount expenses; (ii) gains or losses on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment, and (iii) others (primarily including default interest income and liquidated damages).

Other losses – net decreased by approximately 45.1% from RMB0.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to 

RMB0.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in business penalty 

charged by our customers in the logistics and supply chain services business during the Reporting Period.

FINANCE COSTS – NET

Finance income primarily derived from the interest income of our bank deposits. Finance costs primarily represented the 

interest expenses incurred for our borrowings to fund our operations other than the supply chain financial service sector, 

the interest expenses resulted from the unwinding of lease liabilities and exchange  losses arising from settlement of foreign 

exchange.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the components of net finance (costs)/income in absolute amounts and as 

percentages of total net finance costs/income for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

Amount % Amount %

(in thousands of RMB, except for percentages)

Finance income 29,491 (212.3) 31,142 (13,779.6)

Finance costs (43,384) 312.3 (31,368) 13,879.6

Net (13,893) 100.0 (226) 100.0
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We recorded finance net costs of RMB0.2 million and RMB13.9 million for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, 

respectively, which represented the combined effect of our finance income and finance costs for the years indicated.

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

Profit before income tax decreased by 25.0% from RMB278.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB209.1 

million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in government grants received, 

the increase in provision for credit impairment losses and the decrease in foreign exchange income arising from the 

settlement of proceeds during the Reporting Period.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Our income tax expense was approximately RMB57.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, as compared to 

RMB58.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease was due to the decrease in profit before tax during 

the Reporting Period.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Our profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately RMB151.3 million, as compared to RMB220.0 million 

for the year ended 31 December 2022. Net profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2023 was 4.9%, as compared 

to 8.1% for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease was mainly due to (i) the significant decrease in government 

grants received by the Group in 2023 as compared to 2022: the Company completed the Global Offering (as defined in 

the Prospectus of the Company) and was successfully listed on the Stock Exchange in 2022, and received more special 

government incentives, and such government grants decreased in 2023; (ii) the increase in credit impairment loss provided 

by the Group in 2023 for the sake of prudence in respect of the operation of individual customers; and (iii) there was a 

relatively higher foreign exchange income arising from the settlement of the proceeds from the Global Offering in 2022, 

and no such income was generated in 2023.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Current Assets and Current Liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s net current assets amounted to approximately RMB1,870.4 million, representing a 

decrease of approximately 19.0% from RMB2,307.9 million as at 31 December 2022. Such decrease was mainly because 

the current liabilities increased by RMB560.0 million as compared to the end of 2022, while the current assets merely 

increased by RMB122.5 million as compared to the end of 2022.

The Group’s current assets increased by RMB122.5 million from approximately RMB6,897.9 million as at 31 December 

2022 to approximately RMB7,020.4 million as at 31 December 2023. Such increase was mainly due to the increase in loan 

receivables, financing receivables and long-term receivables due within one year.

The Group’s current liabilities increased by RMB560.0 million from approximately RMB4,590.0 million as at 31 December 

2022 to approximately RMB5,150.0 million as at 31 December 2023. Such increase was mainly due to (i) the increase of 

short-term borrowings by RMB1,008.5 million as a result of changes in financing structure; (ii) the increase of RMB284.5 

million in notes payable and accounts payable compared to the end of 2022 as a result of expansion of business scale, and 

(iii) the decrease in other payables, prepayments, bond payables and lease liabilities by RMB733.0 million.
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Other Receivables

Other receivables decreased by approximately RMB235.6 million from RMB415.7 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022 to RMB180.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in other 

receivables and lease deposits transferred due within one year.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income increased by approximately RMB22.0 million from 

RMB90.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB112.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The 

increase was mainly due to the increase in income scale during the Reporting Period and the increase of the payment from 

customers resulting in an increase in notes receivables at the end of the year.

Loan Receivables

Loan receivables increased by approximately RMB537.9 million from RMB5,985.4 million for the year ended 31 December 

2022 to RMB6,523.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase was mainly due to: the increase in 

receivables of the factoring business of approximately RMB598.4 million as compared with that of 31 December 2022, 

which was mainly due to the increase in the invested funds in factoring business in supply chain financial services sector in 

2023 as a result of the expansion of external business during the Reporting Period.

Inventories

Inventories decreased by approximately RMB69.3 million from RMB113.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 

to RMB43.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease was mainly due to the purchase volume of 

commercial vehicles decreased as the market demand declined, while the stock cars was significantly reduced.
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The following table sets forth the average turnover days of our inventories of the logistics and supply chain service sector 

and IoV and data service sector for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

Average turnover days of inventories of the logistics and supply chain 

 service sector Note (1) 84.0 187.4

Average turnover days of inventories of the IoV and data service sector Note (2) 5.7 23.8

Notes:

(1) Average turnover days of inventories of the logistics and supply chain service sector equal to the average of the opening and closing inventory 
balances of the logistics and supply chain service sector of the indicated year divided by the cost of revenue of the logistics and supply chain 
service sector for such year and multiplied by number of days contained in that period.

(2) Average turnover days of inventories of the IoV and data service sector equal to the average of the opening and closing inventory balances 
of the IoV and data service sector of the indicated year divided by the cost of revenue of the IoV and data service sector for such year and 
multiplied by number of days contained in that period.

Average turnover days of inventories of the logistics and supply chain service sector in 2022 and for the year ended 31 

December 2023 were 187.4 days and 84.0 days, respectively, which was mainly due to the shorter average inventory 

turnover days as a result of the fast reduction of stock cars.

Average turnover days of inventories of the IoV and data service sector in 2022 and for the year ended 31 December 

2023 were 23.8 days and 5.7 days, respectively, mainly due to shorter average turnover days of inventories resulting from 

significant increase in sales volume during the Reporting Period.

Trade Receivables

Trade receivables increased by approximately RMB202.7 million from RMB581.6 million as at 31 December 2022 to 

RMB784.3 million as at 31 December 2023. The increase was mainly due to the increase in the revenue from the logistics 

and supply chain service sector, resulting in the increase in accounts receivable in the Reporting Period.
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The following table sets forth the average turnover days of our trade receivables for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

Average turnover days of trade receivables Note (1) 101.3 92.8

Note:

(1) Average turnover days of trade receivables equal to the average of the opening and closing trade receivables divided by revenue generated 
during the year (other than revenue generated from our supply chain financial service sector) and multiplied by the number of days contained 
in that period.

In 2022 and the year ended 31 December 2023, the average turnover days of trade receivables were 92.8 days and 101.3 

days, respectively. The increase in turnover days was mainly due to the slow collection from some customers, resulting the 

increase in the turnover days of trade receivables during the Reporting Period.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables decreased by approximately RMB53.0 million from RMB2,019.5 million for the year ended 31 

December 2022 to RMB1,966.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease was mainly due to (i) the 

portion due within one year increased by approximately RMB8.9 million as compared to that as at 31 December 2022, 

which mainly comprised the decrease of approximately RMB170.6 million in financial leasing deposit due within one year 

as compared to that as at 31 December 2022, the increase of approximately RMB57.7 million in related party borrowings 

due within one year as compared to that as at 31 December 2022, the increase of approximately RMB284.5 million in 

bills payable and accounts payable as compared to that as at 31 December 2022 and the decrease of approximately 

RMB164.5 million in other payables as compared to that as at 31 December 2022; (ii) the long-term portion decreased by 

approximately RMB61.9 million as compared to that as at 31 December 2022, which was mainly due to the decrease of 

approximately RMB11.5 million in financial leasing deposit from supply chain financial service sector as compared to that 

as at 31 December 2022 and the reclassification of long-term payables to one year according to the repayment schedule, 

resulting in a decrease of RMB50.0 million compared with 31 December 2022.

The following table sets forth the average turnover days of our trade payables for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

Average turnover days of trade payables Note (1) 51.1 60.2

In 2022 and for the year ended 31 December 2023, the average turnover days of trade payables were 60.2 days and 51.1 

days, respectively, primarily due to changes in revenue structure of logistics and supply chain service sector during the 

Reporting Period, shorter transportation settlement period from third party logistics, causing short average turnover days of 

trade payables.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have financed our operations primarily through cash generated from our operating activities, capital contribution from 

our Shareholders, bank borrowings, loan from related parties, asset-backed securities and other borrowings obtained from 

other financial institutions. As at 31 December 2022 and as at 31 December 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of 

RMB1,149.0 million and RMB976.9 million, respectively.

The following table sets forth our cash flows for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

Operating profit before changes in working capital 378,926 412,399

Changes in working capital:

– Restricted cash at banks (30,179) 68,658

– Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) (22,016) 30,151

– Notes receivable 184,856 (319,084)

– Trade receivables (251,826) (128,251)

– Loan receivables (601,823) 2,148,897

– Other receivables 232,121 (153,180)

– Prepayments 95,528 (90,153)

– Inventories 68,010 67,562

– Trade and other payables 277,017 (545,033)

– Contract liabilities (71,149) (10,485)

– Borrowings 40,677 (1,530,315)

– Provisions for warranty (483) (268)

Changes in working capital (79,267) (461,501)

Cash flow from operating activities

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 299,659 (49,102)

Interests received 29,491 16,651

Income tax paid (61,758) (110,273)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 267,392 (142,724)

Net cash used in investing activities (58,009) (32,057)

Net cash (used in) /generated from financing activities (381,162) 1,110,409
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Net cash used in operating activities

Our primary source of cash generated from operating activities consists of revenue from our logistics and supply chain 

service sector, supply chain financial service sector and IoV and data service sector. Our cash used in operating activities 

are mainly used to fund the purchase of commercial vehicles, financing costs and marketing, research and development 

activities. Our net cash generated from operating activities primarily reflected the combined effect of (i) operating profit 

before changes in working capital adjusted for non-operating items such as finance costs, and non-cash items such as 

provision, depreciation and amortisation, (ii) the effect of movements in working capital, including changes in restricted 

cash at banks, financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, trade receivables, loan receivables, other 

receivables, prepayments, inventories, trade and other payables, contract liabilities and borrowings, (iii) interests received, 

and (iv) income tax paid.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, net cash generated from operating activities was RMB267.4 million, representing an 

increase of RMB410.1 million compared to the same period in 2022, which primarily reflected the adjustment in payment 

methods of various business sectors, decrease in cash payments and increase in notes payments during the Reporting 

Period, resulting in a decrease in cash used for purchasing goods and paying for labor services rendered compared with the 

same period of the last year.

Net cash used in investing activities

Our cash generated from investing activities primarily reflected the proceeds received from disposal of equity interest, 

property, plant and equipment and wealth management products. Our cash used in investing activities primarily reflected 

the payments made for wealth management products and property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, net cash used in investing activities was RMB58.0 million, with an increase of 

RMB26.0 million compared with the same period in 2022, mainly due to the increase in cash payment for the purchase and 

construction of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and other long-term assets during the Reporting Period 

compared with the same period of the previous year.

Net cash generated from financing activities

Our cash generated from financing activities primarily represented the proceeds we received from bank borrowings and 

bond issuance. Our cash used in financing activities primarily represented the repayment of borrowings and bond, dividend 

payment to our Company’s Shareholders and non-controlling interests of our subsidiaries and repayment of lease liabilities.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the net cash used in financing activities was RMB381.2 million, representing a 

decrease of RMB1,491.6 million compared to the same period in 2022, which primarily reflected the combined effects of (i) 

RMB920.4 million of funds raised from listing were received in 2022 and an increase of RMB105.8 million in cash payment 

for shares repurchase during the Reporting Period compared with the previous year; (ii) the amount of borrowings obtained, 

loan from related parties and bond increased by RMB167.8 million compared to the same period of last year, (iii) the 

amount of repayment of borrowings, loan from related parties and bond payment increased by RMB764.4 million compared 

with the same period of last year, and (iv) the payment of dividends and interest decreased by RMB103.9 million compared 

to the same period of last year.
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Capital Expenditure

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s capital expenditures amounted a total of RMB68.2 million, of which 

investments in property, plant and equipment was RMB43.9 million in total. The capital expenditure investments in 

intangible assets and right-of-use assets amounted to RMB18.9 million and RMB5.4 million, respectively.

The following table sets forth our capital expenditures for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

Property, plant and equipment 43,915 24,663

Intangible assets 18,878 15,322

Right-of-use assets 5,385 25,217

Total 68,178 65,202

INDEBTEDNESS

Bank Borrowings

Our bank borrowings increased by 69.1% from RMB1,857.6 million as at 31 December 2022 to RMB3,141.1 million as at 

31 December 2023, mainly due to the adjustment of the financing structure during the Reporting Period and the increase 

in proportion of bank borrowings.

Loan from related parties

Our loan from related parties decreased by 15.2% from RMB973.0 million as at 31 December 2022 to RMB825.0 million as 

at 31 December 2023, mainly due to a decrease of RMB 148.0 million in borrowings due to Shaanxi Automobile in 2023.

Loan from a third party

Our loan from a third party has no change between 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023 of RMB50 million.

Asset-Backed Securities

Our asset-backed securities decreased by 32.8% from RMB908.5 million as at 31 December 2022 to RMB610.7 million as 

at 31 December 2023, primarily due to the fact that the amount of asset-backed securities (ABS) due for repayment during 

the Reporting Period was greater than the amount of the newly issued ABS during the Reporting Period.
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Other Borrowings

Our other borrowings obtained from other financial institutions decreased by 95.2% from RMB835.1 million as at 31 

December 2022 to RMB40.0 million as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to the adjustment of financing structure and the 

increase in the proportion of bank borrowings and the decrease in proportion of other borrowings obtained from other 

financial institutions during the Reporting Period.

Notes Payable

Our notes payables increased by 572.5% from RMB38.2 million as at 31 December 2022 to RMB256.9 million as at 31 

December 2023, primarily due to (i) the increase in revenue from the logistics and supply chain services segment and the 

internet and data services segment during the Reporting Period, corresponding to the increase in notes payment, and the 

increase in the amount of notes at the end of the period as compared with the end of last year was RMB155.7 million; (ii) 

the increase of RMB63.0 million in financial leasing business and the funds issued by banks to customers as compared with 

the end of last year.

The maturity date of financial liabilities is as follows:

31 December 2023

Less than 

1 year

Between 

1 and 2 years 

Between 

2 and 5 years Over 5 years Total

(RMB’000)

Trade and other payables 1,765,498 125,554 28,114 – 1,919,166

Lease liabilities 18,693 5,178 4,493 860 29,224

Borrowings 2,749,951 567,289 – – 3,317,240

Bond payables 620,805 – – – 620,805

5,154,947 698,021 32,607 860 5,886,435

The following table sets forth our weighted average effective interest rates of bank borrowings, loans from related parties, 

loan from a third party, asset-backed securities and other borrowings from other financial institutions as at the dates 

indicated:

Items Weighted average interest rate

Bank borrowings 3.56%

Loan from related parties 2.56%

Loan from a third party 3.00%

Asset-backed securities 3.68%

Borrowings from other financial institutions 4.23%
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Lease Liabilities

Our lease liabilities represent the lease of office buildings and facilities for our logistics and warehousing services. Our lease 

liabilities amounted to RMB41.7 million and RMB27.8 million, respectively, as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 

2023. The lease term of our lease of buildings and facilities ranges from one year to ten years.

Charges on Assets

Details of the Group’s charges on assets as at 31 December 2023 are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, our Group did not have any unrecorded significant contingent liabilities, guarantees or any 

litigation against us.

As at 31 December 2023, save as disclosed above, our Group did not have any other outstanding borrowings, mortgage, 

charges, debentures or other loan capital (issued or agreed to issue), bank overdrafts, loans, liabilities under acceptance or 

acceptance credits, or other similar indebtedness, financial leasing commitments, hire purchase commitment.

Save as disclosed above, our Directors have confirmed that there has not been any material change in the indebtedness and 

contingent liabilities of our Group since 31 December 2023 and up to the Latest Practicable Date.

Gearing Ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio increased from 51.2% as at 31 December 2022 to 52.5% as at 31 December 2023. This was 

mainly due to an increase of RMB488.3 million in borrowings in 2023 as compared to 2022, and a decrease of RMB172.1 

million in cash and cash equivalents as compared to 2022, leading to an increase in the leverage ratio.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China with most of the transactions settled in RMB, and there is no significant 

exchange rate risk. The Group currently does not engage in hedging activities designed or intended to manage foreign 

exchange rate risk. The Group will continue to monitor foreign exchange movements to best preserve the Group’s cash 

value.



DEEWIN TIANXIA CO.,LTD38

Management Discussion and Analysis

QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT FINANCIAL RISKS

Our Group’s activities and operations are exposed to a variety of market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and capital risk. Our 

overall risk management policy focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 

effects on our Group’s financial performance. We currently do not use any derivative financial instruments to hedge certain 

risk exposures.

Market Risk

Our market risk primarily includes cash flow and fair value interest rate risk, which is mainly attributable to our cash and 

cash equivalents, restricted cash at banks, loans receivables, borrowings, bond payables, trade and other payables and lease 

liabilities. Specifically, we are exposed to cash flow rate risk with our financial assets and liabilities at variable interest rates 

and are exposed to fair value interest rate risk with our financial assets and liabilities at fixed interest rates.

As at 31 December 2023, if interest rates on our cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash at bank, trade and other 

payables and bank borrowings had been 10% higher/lower with all other variables held constant, our profit after income 

tax for the year would have been RMB832 thousand higher/lower, mainly as a result of higher/lower net interest income/

expense being recognised/incurred.

Credit Risk

We are exposed to credit risk primarily in relation to our cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash at banks, loan 

receivables and trade and other receivables.

We do not expect any significant credit risk associated with cash at bank and restricted cash at bank since they are 

deposited at state-owned banks and other medium or large size listed banks.

Our management has credit policy in place and the exposures to those credit risk are monitored on an ongoing basis. We 

have policies to monitor the credit exposure, trade receivables, loan receivables and other receivables. We assess the credit 

quality of and set credit limits on our customers by taking into account their financial position, the availability of guarantee 

from third parties, their credit history and other factors such as current market conditions. We regularly monitor the credit 

history of our customers. In respect of customers with a poor credit history, we will use written payment reminders, or 

shorten or cancel credit periods, to ensure that our overall credit risk is limited to a controllable extent.
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Our loan receivables are mainly receivables generated from our financial leasing business. For such receivables, we perform 

standard credit management procedures, which include primarily project due diligence and proposal submission, credit 

guarantee review and approval, disbursement, post-lending monitoring and management of non-performing financial 

lease receivables. We enhance our credit risk management by strictly complying with our credit management procedures, 

strengthening customer investigation, lending approval and post-lending monitoring measures, enhancing risk mitigation 

effect of loan receivables through obtaining collateral, security deposits and corporate or individual credit guarantee.

We write off financial assets when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery with the indicators of bankruptcy, 

cancellation, revocation or closure of the debtor, and the debtor has no enforceable property.

We made provision for financial instruments measured at amortised cost, financial lease receivables, loan commitments 

and financial guarantee contracts using the “expected credit loss model” by dividing the financial instruments and loan 

receivables into 3 stages: (i) stage 1 is “the credit risk has not increased significantly since its initial recognition”, at which 

we only need to measure the expected credit loss in the next 12 months; (ii) stage 2 is “the credit risk has increased 

significantly since its initial recognition but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired”, at which we need to measure lifetime 

expected credit loss but do not perform credit impairment; and (iii) stage 3 is “financial instrument is credit-impaired”, at 

which we need to measure lifetime expected credit loss and perform credit impairment.

Liquidity Risk

We aim to maintain sufficient cash and sources of funding through committed credit facility and maintain flexibility in 

funding by maintaining committed credit lines. To manage the liquidity risk, we monitor rolling forecasts of our Group’s 

liquidity reserve (comprising undrawn banking facilities) and cash and cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows. 

All the borrowings are in compliance with the relevant covenants. We expect to fund the future cash flow needs through 

internally generated cash flows from operations and borrowings from financial institutions.

Capital Risk

Our primary objective for capital management is to safeguard our ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 

returns for equity holders. We manage our capital structure and make adjustments to it, based on changes in economic 

conditions. In order to maintain or adjust our capital structure, we may adjust the amount of dividends paid to equity 

holders, return capital to equity holders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

We monitor capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is 

calculated as total borrowings (including “borrowings”, “lease liabilities”, “loan from related parties”, “loan from a third 

party” and “bond payable” as shown in our consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents and 

restricted cash at banks. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position 

plus net debt.
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EMPLOYMENT, REMUNERATION POLICY AND TRAINING

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 1,694 employees. Employees of the Group are remunerated based on 

their performance, experience and prevailing industry practices, with all compensation policies and packages reviewed on 

a regular basis. The remuneration of the Group’s employees includes salaries and allowances. As required by the PRC laws 

and regulations, the Group participates in various employee social security plans for its employees that are administered by 

local governments, including housing, pension, medical insurance, maternity insurance and unemployment insurance.

The Group also emphasises employee trainings and career development, and invest in the education and training programs 

for its employees with the purpose of upgrading their knowledge on the latest trends and developments of the industry.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not held any significant investments.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the date of this report, save as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus 

of the Company, the Group did not have any existing plan to acquire other material investments or capital assets. 
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Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Runliang (王潤梁), aged 54, was appointed as an executive Director on 15 April 2019. He is also the general 

manager of the Company.

Mr. Wang is primarily responsible for the overall management and operations of the Group. Mr. Wang has over 28 years 

of experience in commercial vehicle industry. Mr. Wang joined Shaanxi Automobile in 1993, during which he served at 

Shaanxi Automobile (previously known as Shaanxi Automobile Manufacturing) as a staff of the finance section from August 

1993 to September 2002, and from September 2002 to May 2003 as a staff of the finance section of the sales department. 

From May 2003 to February 2008, he served as the chief of integrated finance section of sales department of the Shaanxi 

Heavy Duty Automobile. From February 2008 to January 2013, he served as the deputy general manager of integrated 

management department of the sales department of Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile. From May 2013 to January 2017, he 

served as deputy general manager of Shanzhong Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.* (山重融資租賃有限公司) and responsible for 

overall management and management. He served as deputy general manager the Company from January 2017 to January 

2019, and then he has served as the general manager of the Company since January 2019.

Mr. Wang graduated with a major in financial accounting (online courses), from Xi’an Jiaotong University, School of 

Network Education* (西安交通大學網絡教育學院) in the PRC in July 2010.

Mr. Wang Wenqi (王文岐), aged 52, was appointed as an executive Director on 25 December 2020. He is also the vice 

general manager of the Company. Mr. Wang is primarily responsible for the overall management and operations of the 

Group.

Mr. Wang has more than 33 years of experience in the commercial vehicle industry. From December 1990 to March 2002, 

he worked at Shaanxi Automobile (formerly known as Shaanxi Automobile Manufacturing Plant (Engine branch)* 陝西汽車

製造總廠發動機分廠) as a staff. From April 2002 to November 2007, he worked at the Shanghai branch, the Nanjing branch 

and the Shandong branch of Shaanxi Automobile. From December 2007 to November 2010 and from November 2010 to 

April 2012, he served as officer of the Wuhan branch and the Shanghai-Ningbo branch of Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile, 

respectively. Mr. Wang served as general manager of the leasing division from June 2012 and then serve as deputy general 

manager in Deewin Financial Leasing since January 2014. From January 2016 to January 2017, he served as the deputy 

general manager of the Company. He served as the general manager of Tonghui from January 2017 to December 2020, 

and chairman of Tonghui since April 2019, and responsible for the overall management and operation of Tonghui.  He has 

been the deputy general manager of the Company since December 2020.

Mr. Wang graduated from Shaanxi Automobile Technical School* (陝西汽車技工學校) in the PRC in August 1990 and he 

studied major of business administration (MBA) in Xi’an Jiaotong University* (西安交通大學) in the PRC in April 2012.



DEEWIN TIANXIA CO.,LTD42

Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Gang (李剛), aged 50, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 25 December 2020. Mr. Li is 

primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement to our Board.

Mr Li has been engaged in teaching and scientific research in the field of supply chain management and e-commerce, 

internet business innovation, as well as business analytics and intelligent decision-making for over 22 years. Mr. Li worked 

as an assistant professor and associate professor of Xi’an Jiaotong University* (西安交通大學) from February 2005 to 

December 2014. He is currently a professor and Ph.D. supervisor of Xi’an Jiaotong University since December 2014. From 

October 2011 to February 2012, he was an International Faculty Fellow at The Massachusetts Institute of Technology Sloan 

School of Management. From July to August 2016, he was a Visiting Professor at Hong Kong Polytechnic University. From 

September 2017 to August 2018, he was a Fulbright Visiting Research Scholar at the University of Florida.

Mr. Li graduated with a bachelor’s degree in computer and application from Xidian University* (西安電子科技大學) in the 

PRC in July 1996. He also obtained a master’s degree in computer and application from Xi’an Shiyou University* (西安石油

大學) in the PRC in June 2001. He obtained a doctor degree in management science and engineering from Xi’an Jiaotong 

University* (西安交通大學) in the PRC in May 2005.

Mr. IP Wing Wai (葉永威), aged 45, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 25 December 2020. Mr. 

Ip is primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement to our Board.

Mr. Ip has over 24 years of experience in the accounting, auditing and corporate field. Mr. Ip worked in KPMG from 

September 2000 to September 2003 and Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange 

(Stock Code: 392)) as an accounting manager. During September 2006 to August 2008, Mr. Ip served as a finance manager 

and company secretary in a Fortune Dragon Group Limited. He was in charge of financial reporting, corporate finance, 

mergers and acquisitions and company secretarial matters. He then worked with Shougang Fushan Resources Group Limited 

(a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 639)) as a senior finance manager from September 2008 to March 

2010. During the tenure, he was mainly responsible for the group’s financial reporting, project evaluation, regulatory 

compliance and investors relationship. From June 2015 to May 2018, Mr. Ip served as executive director of Beijing Beida 

Jade Bird Universal Sci-Tech Company Limited (a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8095)) 

and then has served as the non-executive director of Beijing Beida Jade Bird Universal Sci-Tech Company Limited from May 

2018 to May 2021. Mr. Ip has worked at King Stone Energy Group Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock 

Code: 663)) since April 2010 as the chief investment officer and currently serves as a vice president at the group. Mr. Ip 

served as the independent non-executive director of 8088 Investment Holdings Limited (formerly known as AID Life Science 

Holding Limited) (a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8088)), from 2020 to August 2022.

Mr. Ip holds a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration in Accounting from The Hong Kong University of Science and 

Technology in Hong Kong in 2000. He is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since July 

2004.
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Mr. Yu Qiang (余強), aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 25 December 2020. Mr. Yu is 

primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement to our Board.

Mr. Yu has been engaged in teaching and scientific research in the field of transportation and vehicle engineering 

specialising in smart cars, new energy automobiles and vehicle system dynamics for over 23 years. From 2000 to 2003, Mr. 

Yu served as the head of the department of vehicle engineering, then from 2003 to 2008 as the deputy dean, and from 

2009 to 2018 as the dean of the school of Automobile, Chang’an University* (長安大學汽車學院).

From October 1978 to July 1982, Mr. Yu studied an undergraduate degree in automobile application engineering 

obtaining a bachelor’s degree in Engineering at Xi’an Highway University* (西安公路學院) in the PRC. From September 

1982 to September 1985, he studied a postgraduate in automobile application engineering obtaining a master’s degree in 

Engineering at Xi’an Highway University* (西安公路學院). From September 1997 to June 2000, he studied a postgraduate 

degree in transport engineering obtaining a doctoral degree in engineering at the Chang’an University (formerly known as 

Xi’an Highway and Jiaotong University) in the PRC.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Guo Wancai (郭萬才), aged 50, was appointed as a non-executive Director and the chairman of our Board on 17 July 

2020. Mr. Guo is primarily responsible for the overall affairs of the Board, and participating in the formulation of business 

plans, strategies and major decisions of the Group through being a member of the Board.

Mr. Guo has over 27 years of experience in corporate finance and accounting. During the period from June 1997 to March 

2014, Mr. Guo served in various positions of the Financial Assets Division of Shaanxi Nuclear Industry Geology Bureau* 

(陝西省核工業地質局財務資產處) including as a staff member, assistant accountant, accountant, chief staff member 

and deputy director. From March 2014 to June 2017, he served as the deputy director of the finance and accounting 

department of China Shaanxi Nuclear Industry Group Corporation* (中陝核工業集團公司). From March 2014 to December 

2015, he acted as the chairman of the board of supervisors of Shaanxi Hechang Electromechanical Equipment Co., Ltd.* 

(陝西核昌機電裝備有限公司). From June 2017 to August 2019, he served as chief financial officer of Shaanxi Hexin Mining 

Co., Ltd.* (陝西核鑫礦業有限責任公司), and from October 2018 to August 2019, he also served as the head of the audit 

department of China Shaanxi Nuclear Industry Group Corporation* (中陝核工業集團公司). Since August 2019, Mr. Guo 

has been serving as a chief accountant of Shaanxi Automobile Holding and was primarily responsible for relevant work in 

finance. From July 2020 to March 2021, he served as a director of Shaanxi Automobile. From July 2020 to date, he serves 

as the general accountant Shaanxi Automobile.

Mr. Guo graduated with a bachelor’s degree in economics, majoring in accounting, from Central South Institute of 

Technology* (中南工學院) in the PRC in June 1997.
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Mr. Tian Qiang (田強), aged 44, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 30 May 2023. Mr. Tian is primarily 

responsible for participating in the formulation of business plans, strategies and major decisions of the Group.

Mr. Tian graduated from the School of Economics and Management of Hubei Shashi University majoring in accounting and 

the Correspondence College of Yangtze University (長江大學函授學院) majoring in computer science. From July 2000 to 

October 2004, Mr. Tian Qiang worked as an employee of the finance department of Shaanxi Automobile Manufacturing 

Plant. From October 2004 to March 2013, he worked in the financial and accounting department of Shaanxi Heavy Duty 

Motor Company Limited (陝西重型汽車有限公司), and successively served as employee of the financial and accounting 

department, section officer of management accounting section, section officer of fund management section and section 

officer of management accounting section, and section officer of fund management section. From March 2013 to February 

2014, he served as the deputy manager of the general management department of the sales company of Shaanxi Heavy 

Duty Motor Company Limited. From February 2014 to January 2016, he served as the deputy head of the finance and 

accounting department of Shaanxi Heavy Duty Motor Company Limited (陝西重型汽車有限公司). From January 2016 

to January 2019, he served as the head of the operation management department and secretary of the Party branch of 

Shaanxi Automobile Holding Group Co., Ltd. (陝西汽車控股集團有限公司). From January 2019 to January 2023, he served 

as the general manager of Shandong Automobile Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (山東汽車製造有限公司) (later renamed Weichai 

New Energy Commercial Vehicle Co., Ltd. (濰柴新能源商用車有限公司)). Since January 2023 until now, he has been serving 

as the director of commercial vehicles of Shaanxi Automobile Group Co., Ltd. (陝西汽車集團股份有限公司); deputy secretary 

of the Party Committee, director and general manager of Shaanxi Automobile Group Commercial Vehicle Co., Ltd. (陝汽集

團商用車有限公司).

Mr. Zhao Chengjun (趙承軍), aged 45, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 30 May 2023. Mr. Zhao is primarily 

responsible for participating in the formulation of business plans, strategies and major decisions of the Group.

Mr. Zhao holds a junior college degree in marketing from Shaanxi University of Finance and Economics, a bachelor’s 

degree in business management from Xi’an University of Technology, and a master’s degree in business administration 

from the School of Business Administration of Xi’an University of Technology. From March 2003 to September 2005, Mr. 

Zhao Chengjun was engaged in market research in the marketing department of the sales company of Shaanxi Heavy Duty 

Automobile Co., Ltd (陝西重型汽車有限公司). From October 2005 to February 2014, he worked in the sales company of 

Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile Co., Ltd and successively served as the section officer of the market research section of 

the marketing department, the director, the manager of the sales department, the deputy general manager, the deputy 

general manager and the manager of the sales service department of the Zhengzhou office. From February 2014 to January 

2022, he worked in the quality management department of Shaanxi Automobile Holding Group Co., Ltd. (陝西汽車控股

集團有限公司), and successively served as the head of the quality management department and the secretary and head of 

the general party branch of the quality management department. Since January 2022 until now, he has been serving as the 

sales director of Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile Co., Ltd; secretary of the Party Committee and general manager of the 

sales company.
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Ms. Feng Min (馮敏), aged 36, was appointed as a non-executive Director and an employee representative Director on 27 

August 2021. Ms Feng is primarily responsible for participating in the formulation of business plans, strategies and major 

decisions of the Group.

Ms. Feng has over 13 years of experience in financial management and accounting. From 2011 to 2014, she worked in 

the accounts department of Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile as a staff. Ms Feng served as a financial staff from April 2014 

to December 2014 at the financial and information department of Xi’an Kangmingsi Generator Co., Ltd.* (西安康明斯發

動機有限公司). From January 2015 to December 2016, she served as head of accounting and accounting manager of the 

operations centre of the Company. Since January 2017, Ms Feng served as the deputy director and director of the financial 

management department of the Company.

Ms Feng graduated with a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Wuhan University of Technology* (武漢理工大學) in the 

PRC in 2011.

SUPERVISORS

Mr. Zhang Yu’an (張育安), aged 52, was appointed as the shareholder representative Supervisor and the chairman of the 

Board of Supervisors on 25 December 2020. Mr. Zhang is primarily responsible for supervising the operations and financial 

activities of the Group and organising meetings of the Board of supervisors.

From March 2001 to May 2009, he served in different positions in Xi’san Prudential Investment Development Co., Ltd.* 

(西安保德信投資發展有限責任公司), including as a planning supervisor of the chairman office, general manager of the 

investment department, deputy general manager of the investment management department, member of the company 

strategy committee and member of the investment decision-making committee. From May 2009 to May 2010, he served 

as deputy director of the capital operations department of Shaanxi Electronics Information Group Co., Ltd.* (陝西電子信息

集團有限公司). Subsequently, he served as an employee of Shaanxi Automobile from May 2010 to April 2011 and director 

of investment and capital operations from April 2011 to January 2016. From January 2016 to January 2024, he has been 

serving as director of the investment securities department (renamed as “the investment management department”) of 

Shaanxi Automobile Group. Since May 2023 to date, he has been serving as the secretary of the board of directors of 

Shaanxi Automobile Holding and the secretary of the board of directors of Shaanxi Automobile Group.

Mr. Zhang graduated with a bachelor’s degree, majoring in national economic management from the Northwest University* 

(西北大學) in the PRC in 1997. He completed the course of in business administration in Northwestern Polytechnical 

University* (西北工業大學繼續教育學院) in the PRC in 2004.
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Mr. ZHANG Shaojie (張少傑), aged 48, was appointed as the representative supervisor of the Shareholders on 30 May 

2023. Mr. Zhang is mainly responsible for monitoring the Group’s operation and financial activities.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Baoji School of Finance and Economics majoring in financial accounting and holds a master’s 

degree in business administration from the School of Business Administration of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He 

is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Zhang Shaojie worked in the finance department 

of the production segment of Shaanxi Automobile Group Co., Ltd. from August 1995 to January 2005, successively serving 

as the accountant and the director of the finance department of the production segment. From January 2005 to October 

2005, he served as the financial director of the material procurement department of Shaanxi Automobile Group Co., Ltd.. 

From October 2005 to January 2013, he served as the chief financial officer of Shaanxi Tonghui Automobile Logistics 

Co., Ltd. (陝西通匯汽車物流有限公司). From January 2013 to January 2017, he served as the general manager of Shaanxi 

Tonghui Automobile Logistics Co., Ltd. From January 2017 to February 2021, he served as Party branch secretary and 

general manager of Shaanxi Huazhen Industry and Trade Service Co., Ltd. (陝西華臻工貿服務有限公司). Since February 

2021, he has been serving as the Party branch secretary and head of the financial management department of Shaanxi 

Automobile Holding Group Co., Ltd.

Mr. Qin Xiaohui (秦曉輝), aged 46, was appointed as the employee representative Supervisor on 11 August 2016. Mr. Qin 

is primarily responsible for monitoring our Group’s operations and financial activities.

From April 2004 to July 2012, Mr. Qin served as discipline inspection and supervision officer of discipline inspection and 

audit office of Shaanxi Automobile. From November 2012 to March 2016, he served as general manager assistant and 

director of the integrated management department of Shaanxi Zhongfu Wulian Technology Service Co., Ltd.* (陝西中富物

聯科技服務有限公司). From April 2016 to February 2018, he served as the chairman of the labour union, deputy director 

of the administrative personnel department. From February 2018 to February 2021, he has been serving as the chairman 

of the labour union, director of the integrated management department of the Company. Since March 2021, he has been 

serving as the chairman of the labour union and the director of the general manager office of the Company.

Mr. Qin graduated with a major in business administration from the Open College in Central Party School* (中央黨校函授學

院) in the PRC in 2006.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For the biographical details of Mr. Wang Runliang (王潤梁) and Mr. Wang Wenqi (王文岐), see “ Directors, Supervisors 

and Senior Management – Executive Directors” for their detailed background.

Mr. Lin Jun (林俊), aged 53, was appointed as the vice general manager of the Company on 21 January 2016. Mr. Lin is 

primarily responsible for the overall management and operations of the Group.

From August 1990 to January 2003, Mr. Lin served as officer of Handan No. 1 Transportation Corporation No. 2 Auto 

Repair Factory* (邯鄲市第一運輸總公司第二汽車修理廠). Mr Lin served as manager of sales and credit department, deputy 

general manager and chairman of the labour union of Handan Group Automobile Trading Service Co., Ltd.* (邯運集團汽車

貿易服務有限公司) from January 2003 to April 2010. From April 2010 to April 2011, Mr. Lin served as deputy director of 

the property management department of Handan Transportation Group Co., Ltd* (邯鄲交通運輸集團有限公司). From April 

2011 to September 2012, Mr. Lin served as deputy director of the security technology department then as vice chairman of 

the labour union of Wanhe Group Co., Ltd.* (萬合集團股份有限公司). He served as general manager of the supply chain 

division of Deewin Financial Leasing from June 2012 to October 2013. He then served as general manager of Fargo from 

March 2016 to February 2018. Since January 2016, he has been serving as deputy general manager of the Company.

Mr. Lin graduated (online courses) in law from the Xi’an Jiaotong University (西安交通大學) in the PRC in 2013.

Mr. Li Rui (李銳), aged 40, was appointed as the vice general manager of the Company on 15 February 2021. Mr. Li is 

primarily responsible for the overall management and operation of the Group.

Mr. Li has over 18 years of experience in research and development of heavy truck electronic, electrical systems and 

intelligent product. Mr. Li served in various positions in the Department of Electronics and Electrical Appliances of the 

Automotive Engineering Research Institute* (汽車工程研究院電子電器所) of Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile, including as a 

staff of the Department of Electronics and Electrical Appliances from August 2006 to October 2011, the deputy officer and 

the officer of the General Electrical Layout Room from October 2011 to August 2012 and from August 2012 to July 2015 

respectively, the officer of the Applied Technology Research and Development Room from July 2015 to March 2016 and the 

deputy director of the Department of Electronics and Electrical Appliances from March 2016 to June 2018. Mr. Li served as 

the director of the Department of Electronics and Electrical Appliances from June 2018 to February 2021.
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Mr. Li graduated with a bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering and automation from the School of Electrical Engineering 

of the Xi’an Jiaotong University* (西安交通大學電氣工程學院) in the PRC in July 2006. He then obtained a master’s degree 

in automotive engineering from the School of Automobile of the Chang’an University* (長安大學汽車學院) in the PRC in 

June 2015.

Mr. Liu Lulu (劉錄錄), aged 39, he was appointed as the financial director of the Company on 29 January 2019, Board 

secretary of the Company on 25 December 2020 and the joint company secretary of the Company on 20 January 2021. Mr. 

Liu is primarily responsible for the financial management of the Group, information disclosure of Board related matters and 

liaison with regulatory authorities.

Mr. Liu has over 14 years of experience in corporate finance. From July 2010 to April 2013, he served as officer of the 

financial management department of Shaanxi Huazhen Industry and Trade Service Co., Ltd.* (陝西華臻工貿服務有限公司). 

From November 2013 to April 2016, he served as financial director of Xinjiang Fargo Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. 

From April 2016 to February 2018, he served as financial director of Shanghai Fargo. He then served as deputy director of 

the financial services department of Shaanxi Automobile Holding from January 2018 to January 2019. Since January 2019, 

he has been serving as financial director of the Company.

Mr. Liu graduated with a master degree in financial science in 2010 from the Xinjiang University of Finance and Economics* 

(新疆財經大學) in the PRC.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Liu Lulu (劉錄錄) is one of our joint company secretaries. For the biographical details of Mr. Liu Lulu, see “Directors, 

Supervisors and Senior Management – Senior Management” for his detailed background.

Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie (麥寶文) is one of our joint company secretaries and was appointed in January 2021. Ms. 

Mak Po Man Cherie is the vice president of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited. She has worked for 

various professional firms and listed companies in Hong Kong, with over 18 years of experience in the fields of auditing, 

accounting, corporate finance, compliance and company secretarial. Ms. Mak has been the vice president of SWCS 

Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited since October 2019 and was the assistant vice president from August 2018 

to September 2019.

Ms. Mak obtained a master of corporate governance degree from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2017. She has 

been admitted as an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance 

Institute in the United Kingdom in 2017, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 2003, and 

a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in 2006.
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The Board of Directors (“Board”) are pleased to present this annual report and the audited consolidated financial 

statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is a joint stock company established in accordance with the PRC Company Law, the Securities Law and other 

applicable regulations of the People’s Republic of China. The Company provides various value-added services, including 

logistics and supply chain services, financial services and IoV data services, to players along the commercial vehicle industry 

chain. Commercial vehicles, mainly include trucks, pickups, trailers, buses and lorries. The business scope of the company 

covers the following: automobile components sales; automobile after-sales (excluding assembly) service; machinery and 

equipment leasing, automobile leasing; second-hand automobile information consulting, automotive marketing planning; 

site leasing; investment in automobile and automotive products, management and consulting (investment with own assets 

only; for items subject to approval according to law, business activities can only be carried out after the approval by relevant 

authorities).

Results and Dividend Distribution

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income on page 130.

Based on the operating results of the Group for 2023 and taking into account the overall financial position and cash flow 

of the Group, the Board recommended the payment of final dividend of RMB0.4076 (tax inclusive) per 10 shares for 2023. 

The proposed 2023 final dividend will be paid on Friday, 23 August 2024 or earlier to Shareholders whose names appear 

on the register of members of the Company on Tuesday, 11 June 2024. 

To determine the identity of Shareholders who are entitled to the proposed 2023 final dividend, the register of members 

will be closed from Wednesday, 5 June 2024 to Tuesday, 11 June 2024 (both days inclusive). In order to establish 

entitlements to the proposed 2023 final dividend, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates 

must be lodged for registration with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor 

Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. 

on Tuesday, 4 June 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview and Performance of the Year

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023, a discussion and analysis on the Group’s 

future business development and the key financial and operational performance indicators employed by the Directors 

in measuring the performance of the Group’s business are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and 

Analysis” on pages 20 to 40 of this annual report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and performance, relationships with key stakeholders, and compliance 

with the relevant laws and regulations are contained in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” section of this 

report.
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Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

Our business has been and will continue to be governed in accordance with the relevant Chinese laws and regulations, 

which were promulgated and implemented by Chinese government authorities, including national and local laws and 

regulations related to logistics and supply chain business, supply chain financial services, IoV and data services. As far as the 

Board is aware, the Group has complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant 

impact on the business and operation of the Group and has obtained all material licenses, approvals and permits from 

relevant regulatory authorities for the operations of the Group in the PRC. During the year ended 31 December 2023, there 

was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2023 AGM will be held on 30 May 2024. Notice of 2023 AGM will be published in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purposes of ascertaining the members’ eligibility to attend and vote at the AGM, the Company’s register of 

members will be closed during the following periods:

For ascertaining eligibility to attend and vote at the AGM:

• Latest time to lodge transfers documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 23 May 2024 (Thursday)

• Closure of register of members 24 May 2024 (Friday) to 30 May 2024 (Thursday)

To be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all duly stamped instruments of transfers, accompanied by the relevant share 

certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, namely Computershare Hong 

Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong 

Kong not later than the respective latest time as stated above.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities of the Group in the form of a comparative table for the 

last five financial years is set out on page 6 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTY

Our Group has designed and implemented risk management policies to address various potential risks we have identified in 

relation to our operations, including financial risks and corporate governance risks. Our risk management policy sets forth 

procedures to identify, analyse, mitigate and monitor the relevant risks. We are dedicated to establishing a risk management 

system which operates effectively and is suitable for our long-term business development.

Our audit committee under the Board is responsible for overseeing the overall risk management practice and closely works 

with the senior management to evaluate the implementation and effectiveness of our risk management policies. We make 

timely adjustment to our risk management policies in response to the rapid development of our operations.
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EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Voluntary liquidation of a subsidiary

After the Reporting Period, in view of the need for resources optimization and integration as well as cost reduction and 

efficiency improvement, the Group decided to absorb and merge Shanghai Fargo Logistics Service Co., Ltd (上海遠行物流服

務有限公司) (“Shanghai Logistics”) by Shanghai Fargo Supply-chain Management (Group) Co., Ltd (上海遠行供應鏈管理

（集團）有限公司), and liquidate and deregister Shanghai Logistics. The percentage ratios (as defined under Rule 14.04 (9) of 

the Listing Rules) in respect of the total revenue of Shanghai Logistics for the year ended 31 December 2022 are more than 

5%. For details of the dissolution of Shanghai Logistics, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 15 March 

2024.

Buy-back of shares

The resolution in relation to the grant of a general mandate to the Board to repurchase H shares of the Company was 

considered and approved at the annual general meeting, H share class meeting and domestic share class meeting of the 

Company held on 30 May 2023. Pursuant to the mandate, the Company repurchased a total of 15,885,000 H Shares 

on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange during the period from 2 January 2024 to 22 January 2024, and the total amount of 

funds used was approximately HKD31.19 million (excluding transaction costs). As of the date of this annual report, the 

cancellation of the aforesaid repurchased H Shares has not been completed.

Proposed Amendments to the Articles of Association, the Rules of Procedures for General 
Meetings and the Rules of Procedures for Board Meetings

In view of the changes in domestic and foreign laws, regulations and regulatory rules and taking into account the actual 

situation of the Company, the Board resolved on 28 March 2024 to propose certain amendments to the Articles of 

Association. In addition, in view of the above proposed amendments to the Articles of Association and in order to meet the 

requirements of the Company’s operation, on 28 March 2024, the Board also resolves to propose certain amendments to 

the rules of procedures for the general meetings of the Company (the “Rules of Procedures for General Meetings”) and the 

rules of procedures for the board meetings (the”Rules of Procedures for the Board Meetings”). For details, please refer to 

the announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2024.

Proposal on the Re-election of Directors and Proposal on the Re-election and Appointment of 
Supervisors

The Board meeting held on 28 March 2024, the Board of Directors resolved to propose the re-election of Mr. Wang 

Runliang and Mr. Wang Wenqi as executive Directors of the Second Session of the Board of Directors; the re-election of 

Mr. Guo Wancai, Mr. Tian Qiang and Mr. Zhao Chengjun as non-executive Directors of the Second Session of the Board of 

Directors; and the re-election of Mr. Li Gang, Mr. Ip Wing Wai and Mr. Yu Qiang as independent non-executive Directors of 

the Second Session of the Board of Directors. The Board of Supervisors resolved at the meeting of the Board of Supervisors 

held on 28 March 2024 to propose the re-election of Mr. Zhang Shaojie as a supervisor of the Second Session of the Board 

of Supervisors. Meanwhile, in view of the retirement of Mr. Zhang Yu’an, Chairman of the Board of Supervisors, the Board 

of Supervisors resolved at the meeting to propose the appointment of Mr. Ji Jianguo as a Supervisor of the Second Session 

of the Board of Supervisors. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2024.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company’s H Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 15 July 2022. The net proceeds from the Listing were 

approximately HKD1,011.0 million (after deducting the underwriting commissions and other related listing expenses payable 

by the Company in connection with the Global Offering). 

As of 31 December 2023, the Company used RMB105.6 million of the proceeds raised from H Shares during the year, 

and the cumulative total utilised proceeds raised from H Shares amounted to RMB204.3 million, and the balance of the 

unutilized proceeds raised from H Shares amounted to RMB664.5 million. As at the date of this report, the unutilized net 

proceeds have been deposited in licensed banks in the PRC and will continue to be used in accordance with the purposes 

set out in the Prospectus, which is expected to be fully utilized by 31 December 2026. The table below sets out the details 

of the use of the net proceeds:

Actual net proceeds received

Amount 

available for 

utilisation as at 

the beginning 

of the Reporting 

Period

(RMB/million)

Amount 

utilised during 

the Reporting 

Period

(RMB/million)

Utilized amounts

accumulated

in aggregate 

(RMB/million)

Unutilized 

amounts

(RMB/million)

Expected

timetable for

the utilized

net proceedsHKD/million RMB/million

Offline business development

 –  establishment of an offline digital warehousing 

and distribution network, as well as a repair 

service network targeting at commercial vehicle 

aftermarket 379.1 325.8 324.0 77.2 79.0 246.8 by the end of 2026

Online business development

 –  ongoing establishment of online service platform 

for commercial vehicle aftermarket (being CLGG 

Online Platform) 227.5 195.5 193.4 3.7 5.8 189.7 by the end of 2025

Enhance the core technology capabilities and data 

service capabilities of IoV and data service 

sector 303.3 260.6 252.7 24.7 32.6 228.0 by the end of 2026

Replenishment of general working capital 101.1 86.9 – – 86.9 – fully utilized in 2022

Total 1,011.0 868.8 770.1 105.6 204.3 664.5

Note: We engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP to verify the increase in registered capital and share capital of the Company as of 12 
August 2022 due to the proceeds raised from the initial issuance of overseas-listed foreign shares (H Shares) and over-allotment of H Shares 
to domestic/foreign investors, and issued the Capital Verification Report (PwC Zhong Tian Yan Zi (2022) No. 0794) on 28 November 2022.
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SHARE CAPITAL

The changes in share capital of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 29 to the Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Details of the changes in reserves of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 30 to the Financial 

Statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the reserves of the Company available for distribution to Shareholders was approximately 

RMB334.6 million.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Major Customers

The Company’s major customers mainly included commercial vehicle manufacturers and automobile sales dealers, 

components suppliers, logistics companies, commercial vehicle and aftermarket product end-users and governmental 

or industry regulatory bodies. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for 

approximately 44.2%, as compared to approximately 44.2% of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December 

2022.

The Group’s single largest customer for year ended 31 December 2023 accounted for approximately 16.1%, as compared to 

approximately 16.3% of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022. For the year ended 31 December 

2023, Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile and its subsidiaries were the second largest customer of the Group, and Shaanxi 

Automobile Holding and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) were the fourth largest customers of the Company. Save as 

disclosed above, none of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge 

of the Directors, own more than 5.0% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in the Group’s five 

largest customers. 

Major Suppliers

The Company’s major suppliers mainly included commercial vehicle manufacturers, carrier and transportation fleet for 

logistics and supply chain services, aftermarket product suppliers and intelligent IoV product manufacturers. For the year 

ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 37.3% of the Group’s total 

purchase amount, as compared to approximately 28.0% of the Group’s total purchase amount for the year ended 31 

December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s single largest supplier accounted for approximately 9.8% of the 

Group’s total purchase amount, as compared to approximately 8.3% of the Group’s total purchases for the year ended 

31 December 2022. During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or any of their close associates or 

any Shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5.0% of the number of issued shares of the 

Company) had any interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The changes in property, plant and equipment during the Reporting Period are set out in note 14 to the Financial 

Statements.

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The Directors and supervisors in office during the Reporting Period and as at the date of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Runliang

Mr. Wang Wenqi

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Guo Wancai (Chairman)

Mr. Tian Qiang

Mr. Zhao Chengjun

Ms. Feng Min

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Gang

Mr. Ip Wing Wai

Mr. Yu Qiang

Supervisors

Mr. Zhang Yu’an

Mr. Zhang Shaojie

Mr. Qin Xiaohui
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT MEMBERS

Since the date of the Company’s 2023 Interim Report, there are no changes in any information of Directors and Supervisors 

required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND SERVICE 
CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service contract/signed an appointment letter with the Company and is 

appointed for a specific term of three years with effect from the respective date stated therein until the expiry of the term 

of the current session of the Board of Directors.

Each of the Non-executive Directors and the Independent non-executive Directors has signed an appointment letter with the 

Company and is appointed for a specific term of three years with effect from the respective date stated therein until the 

expiry of the term of the current session of the Board of Directors.

None of the Directors and Supervisors has or is proposed to have a service contract with any member of the Group which is 

not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation). 

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in the Report of the Board of Directors, no transactions, 

arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, the Company’s holding 

company, any of the Company’s subsidiaries or any fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or Supervisor of 

the Company or an entity connected with them had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end 

of the Reporting Period or at any time during the Reporting Period.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTEREST

Same as disclosed in this annual report, no Controlling Shareholders or their subsidiaries had a material interest, either 

directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance, whether for the provision of services or otherwise, to the Group to 

which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS 
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of 31 December 2023, none of the Directors, Supervisors or chief executives of the Company had any interests or short 

positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the 

meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 

Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have 

taken under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to 

therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES 
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons and entities (other than the Directors, Supervisors or chief executives of 

the Company) have interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares which are required to be notified to the 

Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the 

register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest Class of Shares

Number of

Shares or

Underlying

Shares Held(1)

Approximate

Percentage of

Shareholding

in the total

share capital of

the Company

as at the date

of this report

Shaanxi Automobile(2) Beneficial owner Domestic Shares 1,500,146,100(L) 67.09%

Interest in a controlled 

corporation Domestic Shares 117,125,100(L) 5.24%

Interest in a controlled 

corporation Domestic Shares 11,728,800(L) 0.52%

Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile(2)(3) Beneficial owner Domestic Shares 117,125,100(L) 5.24%

Weichai Power Co., Ltd. （濰柴動力股份

有限公司）(3)

Interest in a controlled 

corporation Domestic Shares 117,125,100(L) 5.24%

Shaanxi Commercial Automobile(2) Beneficial owner Domestic Shares 11,728,800(L) 0.52%

Shaanxi Automobile Holding(2)

Interest in a controlled 

corporation Domestic Shares 1,629,000,000(L) 72.85%

Shanghai International Trust Co., Ltd. 

（上海國際信託有限公司）(4) Trustee H Shares 152,620,500(L) 6.83%

SDIC Taikang Trust Co., LTD. （國投泰康

信託有限公司）(5) Trustee H Shares 136,333,500(L) 6.10%

HWABAO TRUST CO., LTD(6) Trustee H Shares 44,104,500(L) 1.97%

CCB Trust (Jianhang No.9 Single Fund 

Trust Scheme) （建航9號單一資金信託

計劃） Trustee H Shares 32,500,500(L) 1.45%

23,805,000(S) 1.06%

8,695,500(P) 0.39%
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Notes:

(1) The letters “L” and “S” denote the Shareholder’s long position and short position in such securities respectively,  and “P” denotes lending 
pool.

(2) As at the date of this report, Shaanxi Automobile was owned as to 67.06% by Shaanxi Automobile Holding. By virtue of the SFO, Shaanxi 
Automobile Holding is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Shaanxi Automobile is interested. As at the date of this report, 
Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile was owned as to 49.00% by Shaanxi Automobile and Shaanxi Commercial Automobile was owned as to 
68.51% by Shaanxi Automobile. By virtue of the SFO, Shaanxi Automobile is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Shaanxi 
Heavy Duty Automobile and Shaanxi Commercial Automobile are interested.

(3) As at the date of this report, Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile was owned as to 51.00% by Weichai Power Co., Ltd., a company listed on the 
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2338) and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000338). By virtue of the SFO, Weichai Power Co., Ltd. is 
deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile is interested.

(4) According to the equity disclosure filed by Shanghai International Trust Co., Ltd. (上海國際信託有限公司) on 16 August, 2022, Shanghai 
International Trust Co., Ltd. (上海國際信託有限公司), as a trustee of the Single Fund Trust in Hong Kong Market under the Platinum 
Collection of Shanghai Trust (GJ-13-22005), the Single Fund Trust in Hong Kong Market under the Platinum Collection of Shanghai Trust (GJ-
13-22006) and the Single Fund Trust in Hong Kong Market under the Platinum Collection of Shanghai Trust (GJ-13-22007), holds 21,819,000 
H shares, 87,201,000 H shares and 43,600,500 H shares of the Company through these trusts, respectively.

(5) According to the equity disclosure filed by SDIC Taikang Trust Co., LTD. (國投泰康信託有限公司) on 12 August, 2022, SDIC Taikang Trust 
Co., LTD. (國投泰康信託有限公司), as a trustee of SDIC Taikang Trust – Ruijin No. 37 QDII Single Fund Trust, SDIC Taikang Trust -Ruijin No. 
38 QDII Single Fund Trust and SDIC Taikang Trust -Ruijin No. 39 QDll Single Fund Trust, holds 43,873,500 H shares, 44,500,50 H shares and 
47,959,500 H shares of the Company through these trusts, respectively.

(6) According to the equity disclosure filed by HWABAO TRUST CO., LTD on 15 July, 2022, HWABAO TRUST CO., LTD, as a trustee of HWABAO 
OVERSEAS INVESTMENT SERIES 2 NO 46-1 QDII SINGLE MONEY TRUST, holds 44,104,500 H shares of the Company through these trusts.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company had not been notified by any persons (other than Directors, 

Supervisors or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares of 

the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the 

SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying 

Shares and Debentures of the Company or its Associated Corporations” above, at no time during the year ended 31 

December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report is the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any 

arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of the shares in, or debentures of, 

the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 

18 were granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or had 

exercised any such right.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has maintained directors’ liability insurance to protect the directors of the Company against any loss that 

may arise from their actual or alleged misconduct. Such insurance was in force during the Reporting Period and remained in 

force as at the date of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

As at the date of this annual report, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company during the Reporting 

Period or subsisted at the end 31 December 2023.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

As of the date of this annual report, the Company did not have any share option scheme.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

As at the date of this annual report, the Company did not have any share awards scheme.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 39 

to the consolidated financial statements. Certain related party transactions as referred to in Note 39 to the consolidated 

financial statements also constituted connected transactions as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The 

Company confirms that such transactions were in compliance with the requirements (including the disclosure requirements)

of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DEBENTURE

In order to facilitate the Group to adjust its debt structure and reduce financing costs, the Group issued asset-backed 

securities (ABS) in an aggregate principal amount of RMB1,230 million with interest rates ranging from 3.00% to 4.60% 

during 2023. 

Details of the principal terms of the Group’s ABS are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Connected Transactions of One-off Industrial Products Sale and Purchase Contract

Tonghui, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an Industrial Products Sale and Purchase Contract with 

Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile on 13 October 2023. Tonghui will provide Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile with power 

battery systems and battery replacement systems at an aggregate price of RMB19,850,843.40 (excluding tax). Tonghui is 

a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Shaanxi Automobile is the controlling shareholder of the Company which 

directly holds 67.09% equity interests in the Company and directly holds over 30% equity interests in Shaanxi Heavy Duty 

Automobile, therefore Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile is a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the transaction 

between Tonghui and Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under the 

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. New energy battery is a type of environment-friendly, high-performance renewable 

energy, and the power battery segment represented by the application in new energy vehicles is developing the most 

rapidly, and the market demands related to the new energy vehicles is gradually increasing. The Industrial Products Sale and 

Purchase Contract was entered into based on the Company’s needs for the expansion of new energy business, which is in 

line with the Company’s overall development strategy and is conducive to improving the aftermarket service industry layout, 

further enhancing the Company’s competitiveness and facilitating the Company’s long-term and healthy development. For 

further details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 13 October 2023.

Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

We entered into the following transactions with Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or its associates (excluding members 

of our Group) in the ordinary and usual course of business, which will, upon Listing, constitute continuing connected 

transactions of our Company that are fully exempt from annual reporting, announcement and independent Shareholders’ 

approval requirements under Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules:

Trademark Licensing Framework Agreement

As our Company is a major subsidiary of Shaanxi Automobile and members of our Group have been using certain registered 

trademarks owned by Shaanxi Automobile (the “Licensed Trademarks”) in the course of our business operations, and it is 

in the best interests of our Group and our Shareholders as a whole for us to continue to use the Licensed Trademarks upon 

Listing.

Principal Terms

On 23 June 2022, we entered into a trademark licensing framework agreement (the “Trademark Licensing Framework 

Agreement”) with Shaanxi Automobile, pursuant to which Shaanxi Automobile agreed to grant our Group a non-exclusive 

licence for the use of the Licensed Trademarks on a royalty-free basis. Our Group will use the Licensed Trademarks 

within the scope specified in the Trademark Licensing Framework Agreement. The initial term of the Trademark Licensing 

Framework Agreement will commence on the Listing Date and end on 31 December 2024. The Trademark Licensing 

Framework Agreement is subject to renewal through mutual consent by the parties.
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The Trademark Licensing Framework Agreement was entered into on normal commercial terms or better and the applicable 

percentage ratio calculated for the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules will be less than 0.1% on an annual basis. 

By virtue of Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated under the Trademark Licensing Framework 

Agreement are exempt from the annual review, reporting, announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval 

requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Provision of Financial Services by Shaanxi Automobile Holding

To promote funding liquidity and strengthen centralised funds management, Shaanxi Automobile Holding has an “unified 

borrowing and repaying” (統借統還) model and an internal guarantee policy. Under the “unified borrowing and repaying” 

(統借統還) model, Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or its subsidiaries (the “Lending Entity”) may borrow from financial 

institutions (such as banks) (the “Borrowing”) and allocate funds obtained from the Borrowing to another intra-group entity 

(the “Borrowing Entity”). The Borrowing Entity will repay the principal and interest (on the same terms as agreed between 

the financial institution and the Lending Entity for the Borrowing) to the Lending Entity. The Lending Entity will in turn use 

such repayment to repay the relevant financial institution. The loan terms applicable to the Borrowing Entity will correspond 

to those under the financing agreements entered between the Lending Entity and the lending financial institutions. During 

the Track Record Period, Shaanxi Automobile Holding and Shaanxi Automobile provided loans under its “unified borrowing 

and repaying” (統借統還) model to our Group. While we have sufficient capital to operate our business independently 

and we are capable of obtaining financing from third parties without relying on any guarantee or security provided by our 

Controlling Shareholders or other connected persons, our Directors believe that the continuation of the loans provided 

by Shaanxi Automobile Holding to us after the Listing will provide the Group with another fund raising channel as an 

alternative to borrowing from third parties and therefore this is in the interests of our Group and the Shareholders as a 

whole.

Principal Terms

On 23 June 2022, the Company entered into a financial services framework agreement (the “Financial Services Framework 

Agreement”) with Shaanxi Automobile Holding, pursuant to which Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or its associates will 

provide loans to us. The initial term of the Financial Services Framework Agreement will commence on the Listing Date and 

end on 31 December 2024, subject to renewal through mutual consent by the parties.

The Financial Services Framework Agreement provides that: Loans services — Interest rates on the loans to be advanced 

by Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or its associates to our Group will be the same as the interest rates the lending banks 

and financial institutions charged Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or its associates on the same loans. The interest rates 

will not be higher than the interest rates for loans of a similar type offered for the same period by independent commercial 

banks to us and our subsidiaries as the loan terms applicable to our Group will correspond to those under the financing 

agreements of Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or its associates with the lending banks and financial institutions.

The financial services provided to the Group under the Financial Services Framework Agreement would amount to financial 

assistance by a connected person for the benefit of our Group, which were entered into on normal commercial terms or 

better and such financial assistance (loans) is not secured by the assets of our Group. Therefore, the financial services 

provided to the Group under the Financial Services Framework Agreement are exempt from the annual review, reporting, 

announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.
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Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

We have entered into the following transactions with Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or its associates in the ordinary and 

usual course of our business, which will, upon Listing, constitute continuing connected transactions of our Company subject 

to the annual reporting, announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the 

Listing Rules (the “Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions”).

Products Purchasing Framework Agreement

On 23 June 2022, we entered into a products purchasing framework agreement (the“Products Purchasing Framework 

Agreement”) with Shaanxi Automobile Holding, pursuant to which Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or its associates will 

provide certain products to our Company and/or our subsidiaries. These products include commercial vehicles, commercial 

vehicle components and others, such as commercial vehicle components management and storage services (the “Commercial 

Vehicles and Other Products”).

Our Group procured commercial vehicles, commercial vehicle components and others from Shaanxi Automobile Holding 

and/or its associates. Given our industry experience and our deep understanding of customer needs, we have accumulated 

many quality customers, which provides us with more bargaining power when we purchase commercial vehicles or 

commercial vehicle components and others from Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or its associates. At the same time, we 

also benefit from Shaanxi Automobile Holding’s customised services and our long-term stable business relationship with 

Shaanxi Automobile Holding to enhance our market competitiveness.

While we have readily available access to identical or similar commercial vehicles, commercial vehicle components and 

others from other commercial vehicle sales dealers which are independent third parties in the regions where our businesses 

operate in the PRC, we believe that such direct procurement from independent third parties would not be as efficient either 

on a cost basis or an operational basis as our current arrangement to procure through Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/

or its associates. In addition, since Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or its associates have been providing us with a long-

term stable supply of commercial vehicles, commercial vehicle components and others, we believe that Shaanxi Automobile 

Holding and/or its associates have a deep understanding of our business and operational requirements.

The initial term of the Products Purchasing Framework Agreement will commence on the Listing Date and end on 31 

December 2024, and is subject to renewal through mutual consent by the parties.

(a) Pricing Policy

The terms of the transactions contemplated under the Products Purchasing Framework Agreement will be separately 

negotiated between Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or its associates and us on an arm’s length basis. The sales 

price of the Commercial Vehicles and Other Products shall be determined with reference to (i) the ex-factory price 

set by Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or its associates, which apply to all commercial vehicle dealership groups, 

and (ii) the technical specifications and requirements of the Commercial Vehicles and Other Products. In order to 

ensure that the prices of the Commercial Vehicles and Other Products are fair and reasonable, we will generally 

obtain quotations from independent commercial vehicle sales dealers, and compare the price offered by Shaanxi 

Automobile Holding and/or its associates with those offered by independent commercial vehicle sales dealers. If 

alternatives are available, our Company and our subsidiaries will conduct a price comparison process before selecting 

suppliers for such alternatives. In such price comparison process, the connected persons of our Company are treated 

no differently from any other independent suppliers. Consequently, the purchase of the Commercial Vehicles and 

Other Products by our Company and our subsidiaries from the connected persons of our Company would not be 

made if our Company and our subsidiaries could obtain better terms from any other independent suppliers.
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(b) Annual caps and actual transaction amounts

The annual caps and actual transaction amounts of the continuing connected transactions contemplated under the 

Products Purchasing Framework Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows: 

Proposed annual cap 

for the year ended

31 December 2023

Actual 

transaction amounts  

for the year ended 

31 December 2023

(RMB thousand) (RMB thousand)

Purchase of the Commercial Vehicles and Other Products

 Commercial vehicles 423,900 83,900

 Commercial vehicle components and others 1,420 506

Total 425,320 84,406

Supply of Products and Services Framework Agreements

By leveraging the one-stop service capacity for the commercial vehicle industry chain streaming from our integrated business 

layout, we provide diversified services to individual and corporate customers. During the Track Record Period, our Group 

provided various products and services, including (i) commercial vehicle-related goods, (ii) supply chain services (including 

transportation, distribution, logistics and warehousing services), and (iii) data-related services to Shaanxi Automobile 

Holding and/or its associates. In particular, during the Track Record Period, (i) Fargo and Tianxingjian provided commercial 

vehicle-related goods, including intelligent IoV products and aftermarket products, (ii) Fargo and Tonghui provided supply 

chain services, including transportation, distribution, logistics and warehousing services, and (iii) Tianxingjian provided data-

related services to Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or its associates.

Our Directors consider that the supply of products and services to Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or its associates would 

benefit our Group for the following reasons: (a) our Group and Shaanxi Automobile Holding are long-standing partners; 

(b) prices and terms for the products and services provided by us to Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or its associates 

are comparable to those offered by us to independent third parties; (c) according to the Frost & Sullivan Report, Shaanxi 

Automobile Holding, comprising its close associates, was the fourth largest commercial vehicle manufacturer in the 

commercial vehicle sales market in the PRC, thus the supply of products and services to Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or 

its associates will provide us with a steady source of income which is in the interest of our Company and our Shareholders 

as a whole; and (d) to provide diversified services to commercial vehicle manufacturers is one of our important business 

models and development strategies.
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(1) Shaanxi Automobile Holding Supply of Products and Services Framework Agreement

On 23 June 2022, we entered into a supply of products and services framework agreement (the “Shaanxi 

Automobile Holding Supply of Products and Services Framework Agreement”) with Shaanxi Automobile Holding, 

pursuant to which our Company and/or our subsidiaries will supply the following types of products and services 

to Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or its associates (excluding Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile): (i) supply chain 

services, (ii) commercial vehicle-related goods and (iii) data-related services (the “Products and Services Supplied to 

Shaanxi Automobile Holding”).

(a) Principal Terms

The initial term of the Shaanxi Automobile Holding Supply of Products and Services Framework Agreement 

will commence on the Listing Date and end on 31 December 2024. Subject to compliance with applicable 

laws and regulations (including but not limited to the Listing Rules) and requirements of securities regulatory 

authorities, the Shaanxi Automobile Holding Supply of Products and Services Framework Agreement may be 

automatically renewed for a further term of three years from time to time, unless the Company provides a 

written notice to terminate the agreement during its term. Upon renewal of the Shaanxi Automobile Holding 

Supply of Products and Services Framework Agreement, the parties may amend the terms of the agreement 

based on the then prevailing circumstances and the Company will continue to comply with the applicable 

disclosure and/or independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules and other 

requirements.

(b) Pricing Policy

The amount of fees to be charged by us in respect of the transactions contemplated under the Shaanxi 

Automobile Holding Supply of Products and Services Framework Agreement will be separately negotiated 

between our Group and Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or its associates (excluding Shaanxi Heavy Duty 

Automobile).

The sales price or the services fee of the Products and Services Supplied to Shaanxi Automobile Holding 

charged by our Group under the Shaanxi Automobile Holding Supply of Products and Services Framework 

Agreement will be determined on “cost-plus” basis (principle of cost plus a reasonable margin) and with 

reference to the market rate. The “market rate” represents the price provided or obtained by an independent 

third party in respect of a same or similar product or service in the same area on normal commercial terms 

during the ordinary course of business of the parties.

With respect to the supply chain services, the service fee of supply chain services will be determined based 

on a “cost-plus” basis and with reference to the market rate. In particular, Tonghui will update its scale of 

fees in relation to its provision of logistics services on an annual basis by taking into account relevant factors, 

including but not limited to gasoline and diesel prices, national toll billing policies, transportation methods, 

management expense, tax rates and reasonable gross profit margins and for each transaction entered by 

both parties under the Shaanxi Automobile Holding Supply of Products and Services Framework Agreement 

the services fee charged by our Group will be in line with such scale.
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With respect to the commercial vehicle-related goods the sales price of such goods will be determined on 

a “cost-plus” basis and with reference to the market rate. The reasonable margin of the sales price of such 

goods, will primarily be determined based on the gross profit margin of each product.

With respect to the data-related services, the service fee of data-related services will be determined based 

on a “cost-plus” basis. For each transaction entered by both parties under the Shaanxi Automobile Holding 

Supply of Products and Services Framework Agreement, the parties will negotiate the services fee charged 

by our Group separately on an arm’s length basis, by taking into account relevant factors, including but not 

limited to research and development costs, labour and operation costs as well as reasonable gross profit 

margins.

We will make reference to the applicable historical prices of the Products and Services Supplied to Shaanxi 

Automobile Holding and the fees we charged from independent third parties, to ensure that the terms of the 

supply of the Products and Services Supplied to Shaanxi Automobile Holding are fair and reasonable.

(c) Annual caps and actual transaction amounts 

The annual caps and actual transaction amounts of the continuing connected transactions contemplated 

under the Shaanxi Automobile Holding Supply of Products and Services Framework Agreement for the year 

ended 31 December 2023 are as follows: 

Proposed annual cap 

for the year ended

31 December 2023

Actual 

transaction amounts  

for the year ended 

31 December 2023

(RMB thousand) (RMB thousand)

Supply of commercial vehicle-related goods

 Intelligent IoV products 110,500 60,273

Supply of supply chain services 192,000 105,250

Supply of data-related services 500 41

Total 303,000 165,564



Annual Report 2023 65

Report of the Board of Directors

(2) Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile Supply of Products and Services Framework Agreement

On 23 June 2022, we entered into a supply of products and services framework agreement (the “Shaanxi Heavy 

Duty Automobile Supply of Products and Services Framework Agreement” with Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile, 

pursuant to which our Company and/or our subsidiaries will supply the following types of products and services to 

Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile and/or its subsidiaries: (i) supply chain services, (ii) commercial vehicle-related goods 

and (iii) data-related services (the “Products and Services Supplied to Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile”).

(a) Principal Terms

The initial term of the Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile Supply of Products and Services Framework 

Agreement will commence on the Listing Date and end on 31 December 2024. Subject to compliance with 

applicable laws and regulations (including but not limited to the Listing Rules) and requirements of securities 

regulatory authorities, the Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile Supply of Products and Services Framework 

Agreement may be automatically renewed for a further term of three years from time to time, unless the 

Company provides a written notice to terminate the agreement during its term. Upon renewal of the Shaanxi 

Heavy Duty Automobile Supply of Products and Services Framework Agreement, the parties may amend the 

terms of the agreement based on the then prevailing circumstances and the Company will re-comply with 

the applicable disclosure and/or independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules 

and other requirements.

(b) Pricing Policy

The amount of fees to be charged by us in respect of the transactions contemplated under the Shaanxi 

Heavy Duty Automobile Supply of Products and Services Framework Agreement will be separately negotiated 

between our Group and Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile and/or its subsidiaries. The sales price or the services 

fee of the Products and Services Supplied to Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile charged by our Group under the 

Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile Supply of Products and Services Framework Agreement will be determined 

on “cost-plus” basis (principle of cost plus a reasonable margin) and with reference to the market rate. The 

“market rate” represents the price provided or obtained by an independent third party in respect of a same 

or similar product or service in the same area on normal commercial terms during the ordinary course of 

business of the parties.

With respect to the supply chain services, the service fee of supply chain services will be determined based 

on a “cost-plus” basis and with reference to the market rate. In particular, Tonghui will update its scale of 

fees in relation to its provision of logistics services on an annual basis by taking into account relevant factors, 

including but not limited to gasoline and diesel prices, national toll billing policies, transportation methods, 

management expense, tax rates and reasonable gross profit margins and for each transaction entered by both 

parties under the Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile Supply of Products and Services Framework Agreement the 

services fee charged by our Group will be in line with such scale.
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With respect to the commercial vehicle-related goods the sales price of such goods will be determined on 

a “cost-plus” basis and with reference to the market rate. The reasonable margin of the sales price of such 

goods, will primarily be determined based on the gross profit margin of each product.

With respect to the data-related services, the service fee of data-related services will be determined based on 

a “cost-plus” basis. For each transaction entered by both parties under the Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile 

Supply of Products and Services Framework Agreement, the parties will negotiate the services fee charged 

by our Group separately on an arm’s length basis, by taking into account relevant factors, including but not 

limited to research and development costs, labour and operation costs as well as reasonable gross profit 

margins. We will make reference to the applicable historical prices of the Products and Services Supplied to 

Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile and the fees we charged to independent third parties, to ensure that the 

terms of the supply of the Products and Services Supplied to Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile are fair and 

reasonable.

(c) Annual caps and actual transaction amounts 

The annual caps and actual transaction amounts of the continuing connected transactions contemplated 

under the Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile Supply of Products and Services Framework Agreement for the 

year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

Proposed annual cap 

for the year ended

31 December 2023

Actual 

transaction amounts  

for the year ended 

31 December 2023

(RMB thousand) (RMB thousand)

Supply of commercial vehicle-related goods 110,000 93,493

 Intelligent IoV products 100,000 93,493

 Aftermarket products 10,000 0

Supply of supply chain services 500,500 282,611

Supply of data-related services 11,000 5,927

Total 621,500 382,031

The Company confirms that the execution and enforcement of the specific agreements under the above 

continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 December 2023 have followed the pricing principles 

of such continuing connected transactions.
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INTERNAL CONTROL PROCEDURES IN RELATION TO CONTINUING CONNECTED 
TRANSACTIONS

Our Company has adopted the following internal control procedures to ensure that the continuing connected transactions 

are fair and reasonable and on normal commercial terms or better:

• we have adopted and implemented a management system on connected transactions. Under this system, our 

designated departments including finance management department, audit department and operation management 

department will be jointly responsible for reviewing and evaluating the terms of the continuing connected 

transactions and, in particular, the fairness of the pricing terms and will provide periodic reports on connected 

transactions to our management team, which is responsible for ensuring that the annual caps of the continuing 

connected transactions have not been exceeded and that the price of each of the continuing connected transactions 

remains fair and reasonable;

• the independent non-executive Directors have review the continuing connected transactions every year pursuant 

to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules and confirm in the annual report of our Company that the transactions have 

been entered into: (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of our Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or 

better to our Group; and (iii) according to the agreement governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and 

in the interests of our Shareholders as a whole. If our independent non-executive Directors cannot so confirm, we 

will duly comply with Rule 14A.59 of the Listing Rules by promptly notifying the Stock Exchange and publishing an 

announcement. The independent non-executive Directors have also review our management system on connected 

transactions, supervising our implementation and making recommendations to our Board and review and approve 

connected transactions of our Company and other related matters to the extent authorised by our Board; and

• the external auditor of our Company has also conduct an annual review and report on the continuing connected 

transactions pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. We have disclosed in the annual report the work 

performed by the Company’s external auditors on our continuing connected transactions and their review 

conclusions on the continuing connected transactions.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST 
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and those of the five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 

31 December 2023 are set out in notes 9 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group in this annual report. None 

of the Directors waived his/her emoluments nor has agreed to waive his/her emoluments for the year ended 31 December 

2023. Details of the remuneration of the current senior management of the Company by band for the year ended 31 

December 2023 are set out as follows:

Range Number of individuals

RMB0 to RMB500,000 0

RMB500,000 to RMB1,000,000 5
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PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF SHARES

The resolution on granting general mandate to the Board to repurchase H Shares of the Company was considered and 

approved at the annual general meeting, the H Share Class Meeting and the Domestic Shareholders Class Meeting of the 

Company held on 30 May 2023. According to such mandate, from the period from 11 July 2023 to 29 December 2023, 

the Company repurchased a total of 38,721,000 H Shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with a total amount of 

approximately HK$77.0 million (excluding transaction fees). Such repurchase was made for the purpose of enhancing the 

net asset value per Share and/or earnings per Share based on prevailing market conditions and funding arrangements. 
Details of the Monthly Repurchase are summarised as follows:

Month of repurchase 

during the year ended 

31 December 2023

Number of Shares 

repurchased

Purchase consideration per Share Total consideration 

paid

(HK$)

Highest price paid

(HK$)

Lowest price paid

(HK$)

July 31,845,000 2.00 1.83 62,585,820.00

October 2,986,500 2.20 1.89 6,173,175.00

November 1,132,500 2.20 2.16 2,483,520.00

December 2,757,000 2.20 1.94 5,718,660.00

As of the date of this annual report, the Company accumulatively repurchased a total of 54,606,000 H Shares with a 

total amount of approximately HK$108.2 million (excluding transaction fees). As of the date of this annual report, the 

cancellation of the above repurchased H Shares has not been completed.

During the Reporting Period, there was no purchase and sale of any listed securities of the Company by the Company or 

any of its subsidiaries.

There is no provision regarding pre-emptive rights in the Articles or the laws of the PRC which would oblige the Company 

to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating elements of good corporate governance in the management 

structures and internal control procedures of the Company so as to achieve effective accountability. The Company is 

committed to the view that the Board should include a balanced composition of Executive Directors and Independent non-

executive Directors so that there is a strong independent element on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent 

judgement. The Board has established following mechanisms to ensure the Board can obtain independent opinions when 

necessary for enhancing an objective and effective decision making. The Board also reviews the implementation and 

effectiveness of the following mechanisms annually:

1. among the nine Directors of the Board, there are three independent non-executive Directors, which fulfilles the 

requirement which there shall be at least three independent non-executive Directors in the Board and the number of 

independent non-executive Directors shall be at least one-third of the Board under the Listing Rules;
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2. independent non-executive Directors are required to be assessed in terms of independence, qualification and ability 

at the time of appointment and continue to be assessed on the aforementioned matters upon appointment;

3. the Board listens to the work report of independent non-executive Directors every year, and evaluates the time that 

independent non-executive Directors have devoted to the affairs of the Company and the situation of expressing 

independent opinions during the year. The attendance record of Directors in 2023 is set out in the “Corporate 

Governance Report” of this annual report;

4. the Directors can seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense, if necessary;

5. Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) with a material interest in contracts, arrangements or 

other proposals shall not vote on any Board resolution approving such matters or be counted in the quorum.

6. the chairman meets with independent non-executive Directors every year without the presence of executive Directors 

and non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee, consisting of all three Independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ip Wing Wai (chairman of the 

Audit Committee), Mr. Li Gang and Mr. Yu Qiang is responsible for reviewing the Company’s corporate governance policies 

and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and will make relevant recommendations to the Board accordingly.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT STATUS

The Company has received, from each of the Independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his 

independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the Independent non-executive 

Directors independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As of 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or their respective close associates had interests in businesses which 

compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group pursuant to the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors 

confirmed that the Company has maintained a sufficient public float required under the Listing Rules as at the date of this 

annual report.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group recognises that the employees, customers and suppliers are keys to corporate sustainability and are keen 

on developing long-term relationships with stakeholders. The Company places significant emphasis on human capital 

and strives to foster an environment in which the employee can develop their full potential and to assist their personal 

and professional growth. The Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promoting diversity to our staff, providing 

competitive remuneration and benefits and career development opportunities based on their merits and performance. 

The Group also puts on-going efforts to provide adequate trainings and development resources to the employees so that 

they can keep abreast of the latest development of the market and the industry and, at the same time, improve their 

performance and self-fulfillment in their positions. The Group places emphasis on supplier selection and encourages fair 

and open competition to foster long-term cooperative relationships with quality suppliers on the basis of mutual trust. 

To maintain the competitiveness of the Group’s brand and products, the Group abides by the principles of honesty and 

trustworthiness and commits itself to consistently provide quality products and services to establish a reliable service 

environment for its customers.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material and significant legal dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or 

customers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 

Company were entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL RESULTS

The Audit Committee had reviewed this annual report (including the Financial Statements) and the annual results 

announcement of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 and had submitted the same to the Board for 

approval. Members of the Audit Committee were of the opinion that the Financial Statements, the results announcement 

and this annual report had been prepared in compliance with the applicable accounting standards and the Listing Rules and 

that adequate disclosure had been made.
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AUDITOR’S CONFIRMATION

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, a listed issuer must engage its auditors to report on the continuing connected 

transactions every year. The Board engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the Group’s continuing connected 

transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other 

Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practise Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on 

Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified letter in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules 

confirming that nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that:

i. the above continuing connected transactions have not been approved by the Board of the Company; 

ii. for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group, the transactions were not, in all material 

respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group; 

iii. the above continuing connected transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the 

relevant agreements governing the transactions; and 

iv. the above continuing connected transactions have exceeded the annual caps set by the Company.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as auditor of the Company in 2023. PricewaterhouseCoopers has been the auditor 

of the Company since the listing of the Company in 2022. A resolution for their re-appointment as the Company’s auditor 

for the year 2024 will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

The f inancial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by 

PricewaterhouseCoopers. All references above to other sections, reports or notes in this report form part of this Report of 

the Board of Directors.

By order of the Board of Directors

Chairman

Guo Wancai

28 March 2024
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The Company is committed to maintaining and enhancing the standard of corporate governance so as to enhance the 

accountability and transparency of the Group and to enhance long-term returns to the Shareholders. During the Reporting 

Period, the Company has complied with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in 

Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, except for code provision B.2.2.

Code provision B.2.2 stipulates, inter alia, that every director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be 

subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. As disclosed in the announcement of the Company 

dated 20 December 2023, the term of office of the first session of the Board and the Board of Supervisors expired on 

24 December 2023. As the nomination of candidates for Directors and Supervisors of the new session of the Board and 

the Board of Supervisors are still in progress when the term of the first session of the Board and the Board of Supervisors 

expires, in order to maintain the continuity of relevant work, the election of the Board and the Board of Supervisors of the 

Company has been delayed, and members of the first session of the Board and the Board of Supervisors of the Company 

will continue to perform their duties until the election of the new session. The postponed election of the Board and the 

Board of Supervisors of the Company has not affected the normal operation of the Company. The nomination of Directors 

of the second session of the Board (excluding employee representative Directors) and Supervisors of the second session of 

the Board of Supervisors (excluding employee representative Supervisors) has been completed on 28 March 2024, and the 

appointment is subject to the approval of the general meeting of the Company. 

During the Reporting Period and as of the date of this report, Mr. Guo Wancai is the Chairman and Non-executive Director 

of the Company, and Mr. Wang Runliang is the Chief Executive Officer. 

BOARD GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

As of the end of the current Reporting Period, the Board comprised nine Directors, three of whom are independent 

non-executive Directors. The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit Committee comprising three 

independent non-executive Directors, Ip Wing Wai (Chairman), Li Gang and Yu Qiang; the Remuneration Committee 

comprises Li Gang (Chairman), an independent non-executive Director, Yu Qiang, an independent non-executive Director, 

and Ip Wing Wai, an independent non-executive Director; and a Nomination Committee comprising Guo Wancai (Chairman), 

a  non-executive Director, Li Gang, an independent non-executive Director, and Yu Qiang, an independent non-executive 

Director.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance records of each Director at Board meetings, general meeting, and Board Committee meetings of the 

Company held during the Reporting Period are set out in the table below:

Name of Director

Shareholders’ 

Meeting

The Board of 

Directors

Audit 

Committee

Remuneration 

Committee

Nomination 

Committee

Executive Directors

Wang Runliang 3/3 5/5 1/1

Wang Wenqi 3/3 5/5 1/1

Non-executive Directors

Guo Wancai (Chairman) 3/3 5/5

Tian Qiang 0/3 3/5

Zhao Chengjun 0/3 3/5

Wang Jianbin (resigned) 3/3 2/5

Zhou Qi (resigned) 3/3 2/5

Feng Min 3/3 5/5

Independent Non-executive Directors

Li Gang 3/3 5/5 3/3 1/1 1/1

Ip Wing Wai 3/3 5/5 3/3

Yu Qiang 3/3 5/5 3/3 1/1 1/1

During the Reporting Period, the number of Board meetings held, procedures for convening Board meetings, record 

keeping, rules for conducting meetings and relevant matters were in compliance with the relevant code provisions.
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THE DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors is accountable to the general meeting, and exercises its powers in accordance with the Articles 

of Associations and the Rules of Procedures of Meetings of the Board. According to the Articles of Association, the main 

duties of the Board include: (1) to convene general meetings and report its work to the general meetings; (2) to determine 

the Company’s business plans and investment plans; (3) to formulate the Company’s annual financial budget plans and 

accounting plans; (4) to formulate the Company’s profit distribution plans and loss recovery plans; (5) to determinate the 

structure of the Company’s internal management organization; and (6) to appoint or dismiss the general manager and 

Secretary to the Board of the Company; to appoint or dismiss the deputy general manager and financial officer according 

to the nomination of the general manager, and to decide on matters of their remuneration, rewards and punishments.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions including: (1) to develop and review the 

Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make recommendations; (2) to review and monitor the 

training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management members; (3) to review and 

monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (4) to develop, review 

and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors; and (5) to review the 

Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report. During 

the Reporting Period, the Board actively performed its corporate governance duties. For specific implementation, please 

refer to the disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

THE DUTIES OF THE MANAGEMENT

The management shall strictly abide by various responsibilities stipulated by laws, regulations and the Articles of Association, 

and its main tasks are to ensure that the Company’s business practises comply with economic policies and market regulatory 

requirements, and to ensure transparent financial conditions through responsible and supervision of the daily operation of 

the Company, so as to achieve the Company’s strategic goals. The management shall also diligently perform their duties, 

conscientiously implement the tasks and plans determined by the Board, and promote the implementation of operation and 

management. At the same time, safeguarding the rights and interests of corporate property is also the primary responsibility 

of the management. Members of the management are required to deal with the conflict between their personal interests 

and the interests of the Company, and are prohibited from taking advantage of their personal positions to seek business 

opportunities that belong to the Company, or cooperating with others on their own to compete in the same industry and 

disclosing the Company’s trade secrets to the detriment of the interests of the Company and its shareholders.

The main duties and powers performed by the management include: (1) to promote the production, operation and 

management of the Company, organise the implementation of the Company’s annual business plan and investment plan, 

and formulate and implement the Company’s internal management structure and basic management system; (2) to be 

responsible for the daily financial management of the Company, organise and urge the departments to complete the 

corresponding responsibilities, such as monitoring and reporting major economic activities that may cause economic losses 

to the Company in a timely manner, organising the preparation of financial budgets, final accounts and tax payments 

in a timely manner, and being responsible for asset verification of the Company; (3) to formulate and supervise the 

implementation of corporate human resources strategic plans; (4) to strengthen the internal scientific governance of listed 

companies and to carry out compliance information disclosure, equity investment and external investor relations; (5) to 

promote other daily management affairs of the Company.
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PROCEEDINGS OF THE BOARD

According to the Articles of Association of the Company, the Board shall hold at least two meetings each year, which shall 

be convened by the Chairman and notified to all the Directors and supervisors 10 days prior to the meeting in writing. 

Shareholders representing more than one-tenth of the voting rights, and more than one-third of the Directors or Board of 

Supervisors may propose an interim Board meeting. The Chairman of the Board shall convene and preside over a Board 

meeting within ten days after receiving the proposal. The chairman shall convene and preside over a Board meeting within 

10 days after receiving the proposal. The notice of interim board meeting held by the Board shall be served by hand, email 

or facsimile 5 days before the date of the meeting. If an interim meeting of the Board needs to be held quickly due to 

urgent circumstances, a meeting notice may be given at any time by telephone or other oral method, provided that the 

convener gives an explanation thereof at the meeting and the same is entered into the meeting minutes.

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

According to the Articles of Association, the Directors of the Company who are not employee representatives shall be 

elected or replaced by the general meeting, and Directors who are employee representatives shall be elected or replaced by 

the general meeting of employees of the Company. The Directors shall have a term of office of 3 years. Upon the expiration 

of the term, the Directors may be reelected and serve consecutive terms. In addition, the Chairman of the Board shall be 

elected by more than half of votes casted by all Directors at the meeting of the Board for a term of three years, and eligible 

for re-election.

PROCEDURES FOR THE ELECTION AND APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS AND 
SENIOR MANAGEMENT MEMBERS

The Nomination Committee shall conduct a comprehensive assessment and analysis of the Company’s existing directors 

and senior management members, fully communicate with relevant departments of the Company, learn the Company’s 

needs for new directors and senior management members, and prepare written materials; extensively identify candidates 

for directors and senior management members through various channels including the Company, its subsidiaries, and talent 

market in accordance with the job requirements and the Board Diversity Policy; obtain information of the occupation, 

educational background, job title, detailed work experience and all the part-time positions of the preliminary candidates 

and prepare written materials; seek the consent of the candidates for the nomination of directors and senior management 

members by relevant institutions or personnel in accordance with the provisions of laws and regulations and the Articles 

of Association; otherwise, the candidates shall not be selected as directors and senior management members; convene 

a meeting of the Nomination Committee to review the qualifications of the preliminary candidates according to the job 

descriptions of directors and senior management members; formulate the resolutions of the Nomination Committee 

meeting, and to propose candidates and relevant materials to the Board of the Company; and carry out other follow-up 

work according to the decision(s) and feedback of the Board.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Nomination Committee shall consider relevant factors according to the Company’s business model and specific needs 

in reviewing the size and composition of the Board, searching for and proposing candidates for directors to achieve the 

diversity of board members. The Committee may consider board diversity from a number of aspects, including but not 

limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and 

service period. After considering the above-mentioned relevant factors, the Committee will make a final appointment 

recommendation to the Board based on the strengths of the director candidates and their contribution to the Board. At 

least one female director will be appointed among the Directors of the Company (Ms. Feng Min was appointed as a non-

executive Director of the Company on 27 August 2021). The Company will also endeavor to achieve gender diversity when 

recruiting staff at all levels (including mid to senior level) so that suitable succession planning for the Board can be made to 

ensure gender diversity of the Board.

EMPLOYEE DIVERSITY

The Group values and cultivates the diversity, and is committed to creating an equal, inclusive, healthy and comfortable 

working environment for all employees. We treat all employees equally, so that all employees can gain a sense of belonging 

and respect. Any form of discrimination regarding gender, ethnicity, race, religion and other aspects is prohibited. The 

Group’s recruitment strategy is to hire the right staff for the right positions, regardless of gender. The Group welcomes 

all people to join, and promises to provide equal opportunities for employees in terms of recruitment, training and 

development, job promotion, salary and benefits, and protect employees’ rights and interests from infringement. As at the 

end of the Reporting Period, the male to female ratio of all employees of the Group (including senior management) was 

approximately 1.75:1.
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THE TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE 
DIRECTORS

The management of the Company provides appropriate and sufficient information to the Directors in a timely manner to 

keep them abreast of the latest development of the Company and enable them to perform their duties.

Newly appointed Directors are provided with an induction programme on the Company’s activities to help them familiarise 

themselves with the management, business and governance practises of the Company. The Company also encourages the 

Directors to attend seminars and courses organised by qualified institutions to ensure that they continuously update their 

skills and keep abreast of the latest developments or changes in the regulations, the Listing Rules and the Code that are 

required to be complied with when performing their duties.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code provision C.1.4 of the Code on Directors’ training. All 

Directors have participated in continuous professional development by attending training and courses or reading materials 

to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills and provided a record of training to the Company. Details of the training 

are as follows: 

Directors Special Training

Executive Directors
Wang Runliang ABCDEF

Wang Wenqi ABCDEF

Non-executive Directors
Guo Wancai (Chairman) ABCDEF

Tian Qiang CDEF

Zhao Chengjun CDEF

Wang Jianbin (resigned) AB

Zhou Qi (resigned) AB

Feng Min ABCDEF

Independent Non-executive Directors
Li Gang ABCDEF

Ip Wing Wai ABCDEF

Yu Qiang ABCDEF

A. On 15 February 2023, the Directors completed the learning of the revised Guidelines for General Meetings during their term of office.

B. On 22 March 2023, the Directors completed the study of the executive briefing on the Listing Rules during their term of office.

C. On 1 June 2023, during the term of office, the Directors completed the study of the Listed Issuer Regulatory Newsletter – Phase VIII.

D. On 23 August 2023, the Directors received the training on “Notifiable Transactions, Connected Transactions and Continuing Obligations” 
provided by the overseas legal adviser, Jingtian & Gongcheng.

E. On 17 November 2023, during the term of office, the Directors completed the study of independent non-executive Directors: introduction of 
roles and responsibilities.

F. On 30 November 2023, the Directors completed the learning of the 2022 Issuer’s Report on Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices 
during their term of office.

The Board has delegated certain of its functions to the Board committees, details of which are set out below.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

Functions of the Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with the relevant 

requirements of the Listing Rules. The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee include: to make recommendations to 

the Board on the appointment, removal, remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and supervise and 

evaluate the external auditor; to guide the internal auditing; to review and comment on the Company’s financial reports; to 

evaluate the effectiveness of the financial reporting system and internal controls; to coordinate the communication between 

the management, the internal audit department, and relevant departments and external auditor; to review and monitor the 

Company’s policies and practices regarding compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; to review the Company’s 

compliance with the applicable corporate governance code and the corporate governance reports required to be disclosed 

by the listing rules of the place where the shares of the Company are listed; to ensure that the Company establishes 

appropriate channels so that employees can report or raise questions about potential improper behaviors in financial 

reporting, internal control or other aspects under the premise of confidentiality; and to review relevant arrangements from 

time to time to allow the Company to conduct a fair and independent investigation into such matters and take appropriate 

follow-up actions, and to report its decisions or suggestions to the Board, unless prevented from doing so by law or by 

other restrictions.

Members of the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee Meeting

As of 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee consists of three members, all of whom are independent non-executive 

Directors. The chairperson of the Audit Committee is Mr. Ip Wing Wai and other members include Mr. Yu Qiang and Mr. Li 

Gang.

During the Reporting Period, the Company held three meetings of the Audit Committee. Analysed as:

On 27 March 2023, the Company convened the first meeting of the Audit Committee of the Board in 2023. All members 

attended the meeting. The meeting mainly approved the draft audited consolidated financial statements of the Group 

for the year ended 31 December 2022, the draft annual results announcement, the draft annual report, the continuing 

connected transactions and the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as Auditor for the year 2023.

On 30 August 2023, the Company convened the second meeting of the Audit Committee of the Board in 2023. All 

members attended the meeting. The meeting considered and approved the financial position of the Group for the half-

year ended 30 June 2023, the annual audit plan for 2023, the interim financial statements, the draft interim results 

announcement, the draft interim report and the remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditors.

On 21 December 2023, the Company convened the third meeting of the Audit Committee of the Board in 2023. All 

members attended the meeting. The meeting mainly considered and approved the update to the Group’s annual audit plan 

for 2023.
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Decision-Making Procedures of the Audit Committee

The Company shall prepare for the preparatory work for the decision-making of the Audit Committee, and the coordination 

between the Company’s internal audit department, financial department and other relevant departments to provide written 

information of the Company; the Audit Committee meeting shall review the reports provided by the relevant departments, 

and submit relevant written resolution materials to the Board for discussion.

Compensation Committee

Functions of the Compensation Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with the relevant 

requirements of the Listing Rules. The main responsibilities of the Compensation Committee include: to consider and draw 

up the evaluation criteria for directors and senior management members, conduct evaluations and make recommendations; 

to study and review the remuneration policies and plans for directors and senior management members, and submit 

relevant proposals to the Board for approval ; to supervise and implement the implementation of the resolutions of the 

Board in relation to the remuneration or assessment of the Directors and senior management of the Company; to review 

and monitor the training and continuous professional development of the directors and senior management members; and 

to review and approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Members of the Compensation Committee and the Compensation Committee Meeting

As at 31 December 2023, the Compensation Committee consists of three members, all of whom are independent non-

executive Directors. The chairperson of the Compensation Committee is Mr. Li Gang, an independent non-executive 

Director, and other members include Mr. Yu Qiang (an independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Ip Wing Wai (an 

independent non-executive Director).

During the Reporting Period, the Company convened one Remuneration Committee meeting.

On 27 March 2023, the Company convened its first meeting of the Remuneration Committee of the Board in 2023. All 

members attended the meeting. The meeting reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the Company’s Board of 

Directors and senior management and made recommendations to the Board of Directors. 
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Decision-Making Procedures for the Remuneration of the Directors and Senior Management 
Members

After the Company’s directors and senior management members report and make self-evaluation to the Compensation 

Committee, the Compensation Committee shall evaluate the performance of directors and senior management members 

in accordance with the performance evaluation standards and procedures. The amount of remuneration and reward 

method for directors and senior management members shall be proposed in accordance with the performance evaluation 

results of the post and the remuneration distribution policies, and shall be submitted to the Board after being approved 

by voting. Pursuant to the Terms of Reference of the Compensation Committee of the Board, the remuneration plan for 

the directors of the Company proposed by the Compensation Committee shall be submitted to the Board for approval and 

submitted to the general meeting of shareholders for deliberation and approval before implementation. The remuneration 

distribution plan for the senior management members of the Company shall be submitted to the Board for approval before 

implementation.

Nomination Committee

Functions of the Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with the relevant 

requirements of the Listing Rules. The main responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include: to consider and draw 

up the criteria and procedures for selection of directors and senior management members of the Company, including 

but not limited to the appointment or re-appointment of directors and the succession plan for directors (in particular the 

chairman and Chief Executive Officer), and make recommendations to the Board; to extensively identify qualified candidates 

for directors and senior management members, and select and nominate relevant persons to serve as directors or make 

recommendations to the Board; to review the candidates for directors and senior management members, and make 

recommendations; to assess the independence of independent non-executive directors; to advise the Board on the scale 

and composition of the Board based on the Company’s business activities, asset size, and equity structure and review the 

structure, number of people, and composition of the Board (including the diversity of skills, knowledge, and experience) at 

least annually, and make recommendations on proposed changes to the Board in line with the Company’s strategy; and to 

report its decisions or recommendations to the Board, unless prevented from reporting by laws or regulatory restrictions.

Members of the Nomination Committee and the Nomination Committee Meeting

As at 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee consists of three members, including two independent non-executive 

Directors and one non-executive Director. The chairperson of the Nomination Committee is Mr. Guo Wancai, a non-

executive Director, and other members include Mr. Yu Qiang (an independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Li Gang (an 

independent non-executive Director).

During the Reporting Period, the Company held a meeting of the Nomination Committee.
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On 27 March 2023, the Company held the first meeting of the Nomination Committee of the Board for 2023. All members 

attended the meeting. The meeting reviewed the structure, size and composition (including skills, knowledge, experience 

and length of service) of the Board and made recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement 

the Company’s corporate strategy and board diversity policy. In addition, the Meeting assessed the independence of the 

independent non-executive Directors and noted that all independent non-executive Directors are considered independent. 

The Meeting approved the resignation and re-appointment of two non-executive Directors and recommended the results 

to the Board. It reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the Board Diversity Policy, the measurable objectives 

and the progress on achieving the objectives.

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

During the Reporting Period, with the support and cooperation of the Board and leaders at all levels, the Board of 

Supervisors of the Company actively attended the Board meetings and Shareholders’ general meetings in accordance with 

the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “Company Law”), the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on 

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and other relevant laws and regulations, as well as the Articles of Association 

and the Rules of Procedure for the Board of Supervisors, in order to effectively safeguard the interests of the Company 

and protect the interests of the Shareholders, effectively supervised the Company’s major operating activities and the 

performance of duties by the Directors and senior management members, and effectively performed the supervisory 

function of the Board of Supervisors, promoted the standardised operation of the Company and protected the legitimate 

rights and interests of the Company and the Shareholders. The work of the Board of Supervisors for 2023 is reported as 

follows:

Attendance Records of  Members of the Board of Supervisors 

The attendance records of the meetings of Board of Supervisors of the Company held by all Supervisors during the 

Reporting Period is set out in the table below: 

Name of Supervisors Board of Supervisors

Zhang Yu’an (Chairperson) 2/2

Wang Jing’an (Resigned) 1/2

Zhang Shaojie 1/2

Qin Xiaohui 2/2

Performance of the Board of Supervisors

Working by Rules, Operating by Laws and Performing Monitoring Functions

By attending the Board meetings and Shareholders’ general meetings, the Board of Supervisors listened to various 

important proposals and resolutions of the Company, understood the formation process of various important decisions of 

the Company, mastered the operating results of the Company, and performed the informed supervision and inspection 

functions of the Board of Supervisors. It also understood the major decisions of the Company and played the necessary 

audit functions and statutory supervision functions.
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Enhancing the Supervision on the Operation of the Company to Prevent Violations

In accordance with the requirements of relevant laws and the Articles of Associations, the Board of Supervisors mainly 

follows up and understands the daily operation of the Company. The Board and the management team have given due 

attention, support and convenience to the works of the Board of Supervisors. Through supervision and examination on the 

operating, financial and management conditions, the Board of Supervisors is of the view that the Company has conducted 

its business in respect of corporate governance, business development of the Company and its subsidiaries, financial 

accounting and results of the Company pursuant to the requirements of the Articles of Association of the Company in 

2023. The Board of Supervisors has not found any damage to the interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

Adhering to the principle of authorization control, the Company has formulated the Authorization Management System 

of the Board, Measures for the Implementation of the “Three Importance and One Significance Events” Decision-making 

System and other system documents, and has conducted its business pursuant to the Shareholders’ general meetings and 

the terms of reference of the Board and the management. There was no violation of the Articles of Association, nor was 

there any material decision-making matters of the Company beyond the authority of the Shareholders’ general meeting 

and the Board of Directors without consideration and approval. The Shareholders’ general meeting has fulfilled its functions 

of the right, the Board has fulfilled its functions of decision-making, the Board of Supervisors has fulfilled its functions of 

supervision and the management has fulfilled its functions execution in general.

In addition, the Board of Supervisors had not found any acts of Directors and managers which are in breach of discipline, 

regulations and the Articles of Association or against the interests of the Company in fulfilling their duties.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

Review of Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for maintaining sound and effective risk management and internal control 

systems and reviewing their effectiveness. The Company’s risk management and internal control systems provide a 

comprehensive and organized structure with clearly defined scopes of responsibilities, authorities and procedures. Such 

systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only 

provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Company has in place an internal 

audit function, which is to have a designated risk management and internal control team (the “team”) responsible for 

identifying and monitoring the Company’s risks and internal control issues and reports directly to the Board of any findings 

and follow-up actions. The Board receives regular updates from the senior management and reviews the Group’s business 

plan, financial results, investment strategies and business indicators to ensure that the business risks are identified and 

managed. The senior management supervises the Group’s business performance on an on-going basis via regular meetings 

with respective departments and project teams, to identify potential risks and develop strategies to address the risk. The 

Group monitors a wide range of indicators, such as overdue ratio of supply chain finance business, asset-debt ratio, the 

occupation of “two funds” and employee turnover rate, and responds promptly if any risk indicators arise. The Group also 

works with external legal, accounting and other professional advisers as required to ensure that it is in compliance with 

relevant legislation and regulations. All departments of the Company are required to adhere to the Company’s internal 

control procedures and report to the team of any risks or internal control issues. The Audit Committee of the Board also 

reviews the Company’s financial controls, risk management and internal control systems on a regular basis.
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The Board has received confirmation from the management that in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023:

– the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 

operations and finances of the Group; and

– the risk management and internal control systems of the Group are effective.

Based on the framework for risk management and internal control systems established by the Group, the Board and the 

Audit Committee considered that, through the review of risk management and internal control systems of the Group, it 

can evaluate and improve their effectiveness and resolve material internal control defects. The Board, with the concurrence 

of the Audit Committee, considered that the Company’s internal control systems, including financial, operational and 

compliance, were effective and adequate for the year ended 31 December 2023 based on the work performed and report 

prepared by the team as well as the confirmation letter received by the management. The Company will perform ongoing 

assessments to update all material risk factors on a regular basis. In any case, review of risk management and internal 

control systems by the Board will be conducted annually.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR THE HANDL ING AND 
DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Board conducts regular review and assessment of inside information, discusses with the management or authorized 

persons of the Company about disclosure of inside information, reports to the Board once identified any inside information 

for dissemination.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 

December 2023.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 

upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements 

is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 124 to 129 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We currently do not have any pre-determined dividend pay-out ratio. The payment and the amount of any future dividends 

will be at the discretion of our Board and will also depend on factors such as our results of operations, cash flow, capital 

requirements, general financial condition, contractual restrictions, future prospects and other factors that our Board deem 

relevant. Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of dividends will be subject to Articles of Association and the 

Company Law, including the approval of our Shareholders. In addition, dividends can only be paid out of profits or other 

distributable reserves.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Implementation Rules 

of the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China (collectively, the “Enterprise Income Tax Law”) and the 

Notice of the State Administration of Taxation on Issues Relevant to the Withholding of Enterprise Income Tax on Dividends 

Paid by PRC Enterprises to Offshore Non-resident Enterprise Holders of H Shares (《國家稅務總局關於中國居民企業向境外H

股非居民企業股東派發股息代扣代繳企業所得稅有關問題的通知》) (Guoshuihan [2008] No. 897, the “Notice”), the Company 

is required to withhold enterprise income tax at the rate of 10% when distributing the final dividend to non-resident 

enterprise Shareholders whose names appear on the H Share register of members of the Company.

Pursuant to the regulations promulgated by the SAT, the dividend (bonus) received by the overseas resident individual 

shareholders from the shares issued by domestic non-foreign invested enterprises in Hong Kong is subject to the payment 

of individual income tax, which shall be withheld by the withholding agents according to the relevant laws. However, the 

overseas resident individual shareholders of the shares issued by domestic non-foreign invested enterprises in Hong Kong 

are entitled to the relevant preferential tax treatment pursuant to the provisions in the tax agreements signed between 

the countries where they are residents and China as well as the tax arrangements between Mainland China and Hong 

Kong (Macau). The tax rate for dividends under the relevant tax agreements and tax arrangements is generally 10%, and 

for the purpose of simplifying tax administration, domestic non-foreign invested enterprises issuing Shares in Hong Kong 

may, when distributing dividends, generally withhold individual income tax at the rate of 10%, and are not obligated to 

file an application. If the tax rate for dividends is not equal to 10%, the following provisions shall apply: (1) for citizens 

from countries which have entered into tax agreements/arrangements stipulating a tax rate of lower than 10%, the 

withholding agents may file applications on their behalf to seek entitlement of the relevant agreed preferential treatments, 

and such Shareholders shall timely submit application to withholding agents and collect and file related information for 

reference pursuant to the Measures for the Administration of Non-Resident Taxpayers’ Enjoyment of the Treatment under 

Tax Agreements (《非居民納稅人享受協定待遇管理辦法》) (Announcement No. 35 [2019] of the State Administration of 

Taxation) and related tax agreements/arrangement. Upon approval by the tax authorities, the excess tax amounts withheld 

will be refunded; (2) for citizens from countries which have entered into tax agreements/arrangements stipulating a tax 

rate of higher than 10% but lower than 20%, the withholding agents will withhold the individual income tax at the agreed 

upon effective tax rate when distributing dividends, and are not obligated to file an application; and (3) for citizens from 

countries without tax agreements/arrangements or are under other situations, the withholding agents will withhold the 

individual income tax at a tax rate of 20% when distributing dividends.

Should the holders of H Shares of the Company have any doubt in relation to the aforesaid arrangements, they are 

recommended to consult their taxation advisors regarding relevant tax laws and regulations in Mainland China, Hong Kong 

and other countries on the taxation implications of the dividend payment by the Company, holding, or dealing in the H 

shares of the Company.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS CONDUCTED BY DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as 

set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the rules governing dealings by the Directors and Supervisors in the listed 

securities of the Company. Specific enquiries have been made to all Directors and Supervisors who have confirmed that they 

have complied with the Model Code during the Reporting Period.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The auditor of the Company is PricewaterhouseCoopers. For the year ended 31 December 2023, a total of 3,373,000 was 

paid/payable by the Group to PricewaterhouseCoopers as service fees.

Service item

Amount of service fees 

(RMB, thousand yuan)

Audit services 3,000

Non-audit services

– ABS related agreed-upon procedures services 166

– Hong Kong tax report services 7

– PN730 100

– PN740 100

Total 3,373

Note:  Service fees are exclusive of tax and disbursements.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

In January 2021, as nominated by the chairman of the Board, the Company appointed Mr. Liu Lulu and Ms. Mak Po Man 

Cherie as the joint company secretaries. Such term of office commenced from the date of consideration and approval by 

the Board meeting convened in June 2022 for the arrangement of listing, and shall hold office for a term of at least three 

years from the listing date of the Company on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. Liu Lulu is the key contact person of 

Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie in the Company.

In 2023, both Mr. Liu and Ms. Mak have received more than 15 hours of training to update their professional skills and 

knowledge in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the year.
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SHAREHOLDER’S RIGHTS

Two or more shareholders holding more than 10% of the shares with voting rights at the proposed meeting separately 

or jointly may sign one or several written requests of the same format and content to ask the Board to convene the 

extraordinary general meeting or the class meeting and describe the meeting topics. The Board shall convene a meeting 

as soon as possible upon receipt of the aforesaid written request. If the Board fails to issue a notice to convene a 

meeting within 30 days after receiving the aforesaid written request, the shareholder making the request may request 

the Supervisory Committee to convene an EGM or a class meeting. If the Supervisory Committee fails to issue a notice to 

convene the meeting within 30 days after receiving the aforesaid written request, the shareholder(s) individually or jointly 

holding more than 10% of the shares carrying the right to vote at the meeting sought to be held for 90 consecutive days 

may convene the meeting by themselves within four months after the receipt of the request by the Board, provided that 

the procedures for convening the meeting shall be the same as that used by the Board when possible. Where the Company 

convenes a general meeting, the shareholders individually or jointly holding more than 3% of the shares of the Company 

may raise a temporary proposal and submit it to the convener in writing 10 days before the general meeting is held. For 

details, please refer to Articles 74 and 79 of the Articles of Association of the Company. Shareholders who intend to put 

forward their enquiries to the Board of the Company may send their enquiries to the Company in writing. The Company 

will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may put forward proposals or enquiries to the 

Board through the Company Secretary. The contact detail of the Company Secretary is as follows: ir@deewinfl.com.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company attaches great importance to communication with shareholders and investors. The Company informs 

shareholders of the Company’s operations through various channels, especially periodic reports such as annual reports and 

interim reports. The Company publishes its circulars, notices, financial reports and other corporate information electronically 

through its corporate website at http://www.deewintx.com. The Company regards the annual general meeting as an 

important event of the Company during the year. The Directors, Supervisors and senior management members attended the 

meeting and arranged a session for shareholders to ask questions and communicate directly with shareholders. The date, 

content, delivery method, announcement method and shareholders’ voting procedures of the circular to shareholders and 

the notice of the general meeting of the Company strictly comply with the relevant provisions of the Company Law of the 

People’s Republic of China, the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange to ensure the smooth 

realization of shareholders’ right to attend the general meeting. According to the Articles of Association, shareholders 

of the Company shall have the right to supervise the operation of the Company, and to put forward proposals or raise 

questions.

The Company is committed to promoting investor relations and maintaining good communication with investors through 

investor relations hotline, e-mail and investor reception. The Company has reviewed the implementation of the policies 

relating to communication with shareholders during the Reporting Period and considered that such policies are appropriate 

and effective. In the coming year, the Company will further strengthen its communication with investors, increase their 

understanding of the Company, and at the same time, hope to receive more support and attention from investors.
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ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

According to Articles of Association, the Company shall amend the Articles of Association under any of the following 

circumstances: (I) after the PRC Company Law or relevant laws and administrative regulations are amended, the provisions 

of the Articles of Association are in conflict with the provisions of the amended ones; (II) there has been a change to the 

Company, resulting in inconsistency with the contents in the Articles of Association; and (III) the general meeting decides 

to amend the Articles of Association. Except as otherwise provided in the Articles of Association, the following procedures 

shall be followed to amend the Articles of Association: (I) the Board shall adopt a resolution in accordance with the Articles 

of Association to prepare a proposal to amend the Articles of Association or a proposal by the shareholders to amend the 

Articles of Association; (II) notify the shareholders of the amendment proposal and call a general meeting to vote on it; (III) 

the amendments submitted to the general meeting for voting shall be adopted by special resolution; and (IV) the Company 

reports the amended Articles of Association to the company registry for the record. The Company has not made any 

amendments to the Articles of Association of the Company during the Reporting Period.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

To avoid any actual or potential competition between the businesses of the controlling shareholders of the Company 

and the Company, on 23 June 2022, the controlling shareholders of the Company, namely Shaanxi Automobile, Shaanxi 

Automobile Holding and Shaanxi Commercial Automobile, had undertaken to the Group (the ‘’Non-Competition 

Undertaking’’) that, subject to certain exceptions, they shall not, and shall procure that their associates (other than 

members of the Group) will not, engage in any business which directly or indirectly competes with our Core Business 

within the Relevant Period (as defined in the Prospectus). Please refer to the Prospectus for details of the Non-Competition 

Undertaking.

As of 31 December 2023, the controlling shareholder of the Company did not hold any interest in any other business which 

may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

The Company has received confirmation from the controlling shareholders of the Company, confirming their compliance 

with the Non-Competition Undertaking during the year ended 31 December 2023 for disclosure in this report.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the compliance with the Non-Competition Undertaking for the year 

ended 31 December 2023 on the basis of the information and confirmations provided by or obtained from the controlling 

shareholder of the Company and are satisfied that the Non-Competition Undertaking has been duly complied with by the 

controlling shareholder of the Company.

The Company will review the signatures of the confirmations from the controlling shareholders of the Company in a 

timely manner prior to the publication of each annual report, and the independent non-executive Directors will review the 

compliance with the Non-Competition Undertaking by the controlling shareholders of the Company during the relevant 

reporting period. The Company will disclose the progress of the Non-Competition Undertaking during the relevant reporting 

period in a timely manner in the annual report.
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1. About the Company

1.1. Introduction of Company

Deewin Tianxia co,. Ltd is a wholly-owned subsidiary established by Shaanxi Automobile Holdings Limited in 

2014, with its headquarters located in Xi’an, Shaanxi. Deewin Tianxia Co., Ltd is a major player in China’s 

commercial vehicle service industry, with business scopes covering three major sectors: logistics and supply 

chain services, supply chain financial services, and vehicle networking and data services. Our company 

provide participants in the entire commercial vehicle industry chain with integrated comprehensive solutions 

including whole vehicle sales, supply chain business, aftermarket products, financing leases, commercial 

factoring, vehicle networking products, and vehicle networking technology. This achieves comprehensive 

coverage of logistics, capital flow, and data flow, greatly satisfying customers’ needs for commercial vehicle 

services during operations.

Deewin Tianxia
Co., Ltd

Logistic And 
Supply Chain Service Sector

Supply Chain
Business

Automobile Sales
Business

Aftermarket Product
Business

Supply Chain
Financial Service Sector

Financial Leasing
Business

Intelligent IoV
Products Sales Business

IoV And Related
Technologies Application

Solution Business
Factoring Business

IoV And Data Service Sector
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1.2 Industry Culture

The Group’s philosophy and principles focused on our valued customers and production quality. 

Encompassing dedication, apprentice, trust, and renovating and the business philosophy of “virtue wins 

the world; silver leads the future, quality achieves the future.” The Group aims to present our clients and 

shareholders the best and earnest services and products. DeeWin, in Chinese refers to virtue wins the world 

and people-oriented, with that in mind, our company aims to embrace the openness, give back to the 

community, create wealth for the society, and grow together with our employees and nations in both the 

present and the future.

Corporate Vision Business Philosophy

➤ Develop together with clients and 

employees

➤ Virtue wins the world, leading with 

exceptional services, and quality creates 

the future

Core Values Management Philosophy

➤ People-oriented, serving the nation with 

excellence

➤ Pursuit of excellence, strive for premium

➤ Making communication simple

Enterprise Purpose Service Concept

➤ Customer-centric ➤ Heed the market, Connect with clients, 

Empathic thinking, Sincere services

Corporate Mission Quality Concept (“Double Excellence” Ideals)

➤ Provoke more values for the society, 

Provide better services for clients, 

Generate greater returns for stakeholders, 

Present employee with platform for 

development

➤ Aspired by clients’ satisfaction, Producing 

the best product and service quality  

among industry
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2. About the Report
2.1. Introduction of Report

Deewin Tianxia co,. Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively called as “the Group” or “us”) 
is pleased to release the Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“ESG Report”), summarizing the 
Group’s efforts and achievements in environmental and social aspects throughout the year of 2023.

2.2. Scope of Report

The report focuses on the performance of the Group regarding the environmental management and social 
responsibility during the period of 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Year”), which includes the 
Group’s logistics and supply chain services, supply chain financial services, and IoV and Data services in the 
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”); Whereas the Key Performance Indicators (“KPI”) disclosed in the report 
will be focusing on the performance of subsidiaries and the Group’s offices, including Shaanxi Tonghui 
Automobile Logistics Co., Ltd. (“Tonghui logistics”), Shanghai Yuanxing supply chain management (Group) 
Co., LTD. (“Shanghai Yuanxing”), Deewin Financial Leasing Co., Ltd. (“Deewin Leasing”), Shanghai Deewin 
Commercial Factoring Co., Ltd. (“Deewin Factoring”), Shaanxi Tianxingjian Internet of Vehicles Information 
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Tainxingjian”) located in China, and Shanghai offices. The scope of the report was set 
by the Group’s operational control rights.

2.3. Reporting Framework

The ESG (Environmental, Social, and Governance) report, the Group has made relevant disclosures in 
accordance with the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” in Appendix C2 of the Listing 
Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX”). The Group have complied with the mandatory 
disclosure requirements and the “comply or explain” provisions.

2.4. Reporting Principles

Materiality

The content of the ESG report are determined according to the situation and materiality assessment 
conducted by the stakeholders. The assessment includes the identification of ESG related issues, collecting 
and examining suggestions from internal management and different stakeholders, evaluating the relevance 
and importance of company’s issues, and the preparation and confirmation of data reported. The major 
issues which concerned various stakeholders are also included in the ESG report as well.

Quantitative

ESG report discloses the quantified environmental and social key performance indicators (“KPIs”) to help 
stakeholders better understanding the Group’s performance in different environmental and social aspects. 
The relevant calculation standards, methods, references, and data sources of each KPIs have been presented 
in the appropriate places within the ESG report, together with the conversion factors used for each KPIs.

Balance

The Group's performance during the reporting period has been presented in an impartial manner, avoiding 
choices, omissions or presentation formats that may unduly influence readers' decisions or judgements. 
Performance data is reported in a way that allows information users to see negative and positive year-on-year 
trends in impacts.

Consistency

Where feasible, the Group will adopt a consistent reporting format and calculation method, as to facilitate 
the comparison of ESG performance in future years.
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3. Environmental Protection

3.1. Board Statement

The Group deeply believes that a comprehensive ESG governance could strengthens the company’s 

adaptability to risks and sustainable development, as such its investment value would increase, and 

thus bringing in long term returns to stakeholders. The Board of Directors (“Board”) has established 

its responsibility and duties, and are responsible for monitoring the implementation of all the Group’s 

ESG-related matters. The Board will oversee the establishment of ESG’s overall vision, methods, strategies, 

and/or initiatives, with regular policy reviews to critique company’s overall ESG performance. Besides, the 

Board of Directors has formulated the Group’s overall plan for sustainable development and established 

communication channels with key stakeholders. Communication channels and ESG issues that stakeholders 

valued will be reviewed regularly to ensure information flow and performance meet stakeholders’ 

expectations. The Board will be informed with the compliance of ESG-related issues through different board 

meetings. The Board will also supervise the preparation process of the ESG report, and learn about the 

Group’s annual ESG highlights through the reporting of the ESG report to ensure that the content complies 

with its requirements.

The Board has established clear criteria and basis, and identified potential ESG-related risks and issues. 

To assess the materiality of different ESG-related risks or issues, the Board has entrusted an independent 

consulting firm to conduct materiality assessment, and assist in prioritizing issues according to their 

importance. The Board also participates in the materiality assessment and provides opinions on the 

importance of ESG issues as a stakeholder. The Board has reviewed, summarized, and validated the results of 

the materiality assessment. The Board will continue to review and formulate policies and measures to better 

respond to the important issues related to ESG.

The Board will based on its business and stakeholders to formulate and review the most important 

ESG-related issues to improve ESG management. The Board will review the Group’s ESG performance during 

regular ESG meetings to make sure the company is heading towards the right directions, achieving its ESG 

goals, and to draw up company’s future ESG development blueprints.

3.2. Stakeholder Engagement

The Group understands that stakeholders’ opinions are crucial in improving business operations and in 

formulating both short-term and long-term business development strategies. As such, the Group is dedicated 

to enhance the effectiveness of communication among stakeholders, establishing numerous communication 

channels to interact with stakeholders. The Group understands the expectations and concerns that 

stakeholders had in us in terms of sustainability development and potential business operating risks, so as to 

generate sustainable development strategy in a targeted manner.
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The table below listed the requirements and expectations of stakeholders have on the Group, and our 

corresponding communication methods and responses.

Stakeholders Requirements & Expectations Communication & Responses

Government & 

 Regulating 

 Authority

• Adhering to national policies & 

regulations

• Promoting local economic development

• Leading local employment

• Timely taxation

• Regular reports

• Regular conversations with regulatory 

authorities

• Special report

• Checkups & monitoring

Shareholders • income return

• Compliance operation

• Raising company revenue

• Information transparency and efficient 

communication

• shareholders meeting

• Group Announcements and Circulars

• Email, Telephone Communications and 

Company Website

• Special report

• On-site inspections

Partnerships • Integrity management

• Fair competition

• Perform according to law

• Mutual benefits

• Review and Evaluation Meeting

• Business communications

• Exchange seminars

• Cooperation talks

Clients • Quality Products and Services

• Health & Safety

• Perform according to law

• Integrity management

• Customer Service Center and Hotline

• Customer opinion survey

• Customer communication meeting

• Social media platform

• Return visits

Environment • Discharge quotas

• Energy-savings

• Ecological protection

• Reasonable water usage

• Communicate with local environmental 

authorities

Industry • Industry standard formulation

• Promoting industry development

• Communicate with local labor 

authorities

• Participate in industry forums

• Mutual study tours

Employee • Rights protection

• Occupational health & safety

• Remuneration and benefits

• Career development

• Humanistic care

• Employee meetings

• Company Newsletter and Intranet

• Staff mailbox

• Training and Workshop

• Employee activities

• Workers Congress

• Democratic seminars

Community and 

 public

• Community improvement

• Participate in public welfare 

undertakings

• Open and transparent information

• Company website

• Company Announcement

• Media interviews

• Social media platforms
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3.3. Materiality Assessment

The Group has carried out several materiality assessments throughout the year, helping us to identify the 

most crucial ESG issues regarding the company’s businesses and its stakeholders. The data will help generate 

ESG management policy more effectively. This materiality assessment was established based on the results of 

internal stakeholder surveys, combined with the analysis from other ESG professional organizations and the 

materiality map1 provided by a well-known external organization. The results of this evaluation are also used 

as a reference for the Group to strengthen our internal management.

Identifying potential significant ESG issues that may impact the group’s business or stakeholder interests is 

illustrated as follows:

Environment Labor Practices Operation Practices Community Investment

1. Environmental Compliance 19. Employment Compliance 28. Operation Compliance 42. Charity

2. Air Pollution Management 20. Employees’ Remuneration 

and Benefits

29. Managing Environmental 

Risks of Supply Chain

43. Promotion of Community 

Development

3. Fleet Emissions 

Management

21. Employees’ Working Hours 

and Rest Period

30. Managing Social Risks of 

Supply Chain

44. Poverty Alleviation

4. Wastewater Management 22. Diversity and Equality 31. Supply Chain Management

5. Noise management 23. Occupational Health and 

Safety

32. Quality Management

6. Greenhouse Gas Emission 24. Training and Education 33. Customer Health and 

Safety

7. Air Quality 25. Prevention of Child Labour 

and Forced Labour

34. Procurement Practice

8. Waste Management 26. Employee Health and 

Safety

35. Responsible Sales and 

Marketing

9. Energy Consumption 27. Employee Rights 36. Customer Service 

Management

10. Use of Water Resources 37. Intellectual Property 

Protection

11. Green Office 38. Research and Development

12. Green Energy Project 39. Information Security

13. Green Building 40. Customer Privacy 

Protection

14. Use of Raw Materials and 

Packaging Materials

41. Anti-corruption

15. Soil Contamination 

Management

16. Ecological Protection

17. Responding to Climate 

Change

18. Prevention and Handling of 

Environmental Incidents

1 The materiality assessment refers to the ESG industry materiality map provided by Morgan Stanley Capital International 
(MSCI) and the materiality map provided by the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB).
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During the Year, the Group identified 11 ESG related issues, and will be discussed in each chapter of this 

report.

Aspects Important Issues Corresponding chapter

Environmental Protection Emission of Greenhouse Gases

Air Quality

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Employee and Labour 

Practices

Employee Rights and Benefits

Employee Health and Safety Protocol

Employee Rights

Employment and Labor Practices

Employee Health and Safety Protocol

Employee Rights

Operation Practices Operation Compliance

Supply Chain Management

Quality Management

Intellectual Property

Information Security

Anti-corruption

Operation Practices

Supply Chain Management

Quality Management

Intellectual Property

Information Security

Anti-corruption

3.4. Information and Feedback

For detailed information on the Group’s environmental, social and corporate governance, please refer to 

the official website of Deewin Tianxia Co., Ltd (www.deewintx.com). Should you have any inquiry and 

suggestions about this report, feel free to contact us by email: ir@deewinfl.com.

4. Environmental Protection

To better respond the nation’s carbon neutral and sustainable development goals, the Group is determine to achieve 

its low carbon operations goals, and will integrate environmental protection principles into Group’s sustainable 

development strategies. The Group has ensured associated departments to adhere and conform to the nation’s 

laws and regulation related to environmental protection, including but not limited to “Environmental Protection 

Law of the People’s Republic of China”, “Air Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of 

China”,“Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China”, “Law of the People’s 

Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste”, “Energy Conservation 

Law of the People’s Republic of China” and “Cleaner Production Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of 

China”, also implements and enhances our environmental protection work in accordance with the ISO 14001:2015 

International Environmental Management Standards.

Within the different business segments, the Group has successfully established and certified an environmental 

management system that complies with the ISO 14001:2015 standard. For Tonghui logistics and Tainxingjian, the 

specific environmental management systems could be applied to manufacturing supply chain service and sales 

services of commercial vehicles and related management activity of Tonghui logistics, as well as the design and 

development of vehicle driving recorders, vehicle networking system integration, and software development for 

Tainxingjian. The Group including its subsidiaries has formulated environmental management policies. For instance, 

Tonghui Logistics has established work environment management control procedures to ensure that production and 

office areas meet environmental management requirements and has developed environmental safety reward and 

penalty regulations to promote environmental compliance and enhance employees’ awareness of their environmental 

responsibilities. In 2023, the Group was honored with the title of “Civilized Unit of State-Owned Enterprises in 

Shaanxi Province.”
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The Group has established annual targets for energy conservation, emission reduction and waste management in 

response to support the nation’s “double carbon” targets. The Group have set up an“Environmental factors and 

hazard identification, evaluation control procedures” aimed at identifying and controlling activities that may have a 

significant impact on the environment, to ensure that our business operations comply with the requirements of the 

environmental management system.

The environmental targets set out by the Group throughout the year are as followed:

Environmental areas Targets Processes Related to Business

Greenhouse gases Reduction in greenhouse gases 

emission, reaching nation’s carbon 

reduction targets by 2030

The greenhouse gas emissions 

intensity in 2023 is 1.87 tons of 

carbon dioxide equivalent/RMB 

millions revenue, has decreased by 

10% compared to the year 2022.

The main source of the Group's 

GHG emissions is vehicle fuel 

combustion (79 8%), and the 

Group has a high demand for 

vehicles usage in the provision of 

logistics and supply chain service.

Energy uses Replacement of traditional energy 

with clean alternatives, reducing 

energy consumption

The energy consumption intensity 

in 2023 is 6.28 MWh/RMB millions 

revenue, has decreased by 10% 

compared to the year 2022.

The Group's energy usage is 

mainly derived from vehicle fuel 

consumption (89.6%), with a 

higher demand for vehicles in the 

provision of the Group's logistics 

and supply chain service.

Water usage (Note 1) Reduction in water consumption 

and the practice water recycling

The water consumption intensity 

in 2023 is 6.09 cubic meter/RMB 

millions revenue, has increased by 

23% compared to the year 2022.

Since the Group's operation 

involves no consumption of water 

for industrial purpose, the water 

consumption of its business 

operation is relatively insignificant, 

mainly comes from offices, 

warehouses and charging rooms.

Waste Reduction in waste emission The waste intensity in 2023 is 0.84 

tonnes/RMB millions revenue, has 

decreased by 75% compared to 

the year 2022.

As the Grouip provides logistics 

and supply chain services involving 

packaging of materials, waste 

such as waste wood pallets and 

waste carboard is generated.
    

Note:

1. The increase in water consumption was mainly due to: (1) the growth in the business volume of the subsidiaries and the increase in 
water demand; (2) the aging and leakage of water pipes in the charging rooms of the subsidiaries as a result of the deep burial of 
pipes underground, which has been inspected and repaired to prevent potential problems, and regular inspections have been carried 
out in order to save water resources.
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4.1. Emission and Waste Management

To reduce the production of emissions and waste, the Group strictly adheres to national laws and regulations 

namely the “Air Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China” and “Law of the 

People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste”, and 

also implements the environmental policy of “strengthening risk control and preventing environmental 

pollution”. Moreover, the subsidiary companies of the Group have adopted a series of measures to 

implement control over exhaust emissions, waste, and greenhouse gas emissions, ensuring that operational 

activities not only comply with legal requirements but also provide a healthier and more sustainable living 

environment for the community.

Emission of Exhaust Gases

Exhaust gases are emitted by logistics, supply chains, and other daily operations from our company vehicles. 

The Group have implemented policies to control exhaust emissions while ensuring vehicles function and 

operate normally. The Group has established the Work Environment Management Control Program, ensuring 

the exhaust emissions of stackers and motor vehicles used in the production sites are all in compliance with 

the emission standards of relevant laws and regulations. The Group will also conduct regular checkups for 

diesel stacker’s emissions, and implement improvement measures should the emissions exceeded the required 

standard.

To ensure vehicle performance and reduce exhaust emissions, the Group including Tonghui Logistics, has 

established “Vehicle Safety Management Measures” to improve efficiency of vehicle utilization and specify 

maintenance management, etc., to avoid increased emissions due to decreased vehicle performance. 

Additionally, in terms of vehicle management, the Group also ensures stable tire pressure in vehicles, avoids 

idling, and optimizes transportation and delivery routing plans, thereby reducing the emissions of major 

pollutants such as nitrogen oxides, sulfur dioxide, and particulates.

Tonghui Logistics has developed an “Heavily Polluted Weather Emergency Operation Protocol” in response 

to major vehicle emission pollutants, including nitrogen oxides, sulfur dioxide, and particulate matter. 

Concurrently, Tonghui Logistics carries out education on severe pollution weather prevention to raise 

employees’ awareness of environmental and safety hazards and to increase their involvement in responding 

to heavy pollution conditions. Also, Tonghui Logistics will conduct on-site inspections and initiate a response 

mechanism for production lines and traffic control based on the air quality and severity of air pollutions. 

The Tonghui Logistics follows principles of specificity, effectiveness, operability, and accountability, 

aiming to reduce pollution levels as much as possible while minimizing the impact on society, especially 

on residents’ quality of life, by executing emergency emission reduction measures during heavily polluted 

weather. Emergency emission reduction measures examine pollutant emissions in material transportation, 

forklift loading and unloading, equipment maintenance, vehicle restrictions, vehicles service schedule, and 

overcapacity. At the same time, Tonghui Logistics will also restricts maintenance activities such as electric 

welding and paint touch-ups until the passing of heavily polluted weather. The Group is committed to 

minimizing pollutant emissions and creating a cleaner and safer environment for the society.
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During the Year, the Group’s vehicle emissions data are as followed:

Air pollutants (Note 1) 2023 2022 (Note 2)

Nitrogen oxides (kg) 28,603 26,076

Sulfur dioxide (kg) 28 27

Particulates (kg) 2,131 1,899

Notes:

1. Calculated based on the “Land Transportation Enterprises – Greenhouse Gas Emission Accounting Methodology and 
Reporting Guidelines (Trial)” issued by the National Development and Reform Commission of China and Appendix 2 
“Guidelines for Reporting Environmental Key Performance Indicators” issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

2. As a result of the adjustment of the vehicle-related data for 2022, the Air Pollutant data in 2022 has changed.

Waste Management

The waste generated by the Group can be divided into non-hazardous waste and hazardous waste, major 

non-hazardous waste include general waste, plastics, waste paper, wood by-products, and leftovers; 

hazardous waste includes waste oil, waste coolants, waste lead acid batteries, and other office waste (ink 

cartridges, printer, light tubes), etc.

The main treatment for non-hazardous waste is recycling. The Group has set up waste sorting bins 

throughout the workplace to facilitate and encourage the recycling of different types of waste. In order to 

reduce the production of non-hazardous waste, the Group will regularly evaluate the amount of materials 

used to avoid excessive inventory. At the same time, the Group also encourages employees to reduce the use 

of disposable and non-recyclable products.

As for hazardous waste, the Group has also set up Hazardous Waste Emergency Plan and Hazardous Waste 

Standardized Management System. In the event of hazardous waste spillage or fire, the emergency plan will 

be activated to coordinate emergency personnel to prevent the spreading of infected areas and the impact 

of accident. The Group is equipped with storage facilities to classify and store various hazardous waste. 

The Group has established storage facilities for hazardous wastes, classified and collected all hazardous 

wastes generated and posted conspicuous signs to indicate the names and types of wastes, and established 

a hazardous waste management ledger and formulated a hazardous waste management plan based on 

the management ledger and the production plan in recent years. Leakage and incompatible reactions are 

avoided by using appropriate packaging materials when handling hazardous wastes. After careful handling, 

all hazardous waste will then be collected and recycled by qualified collectors, suppliers, or businesses. In 

addition, the Group is also committed to reducing hazardous office wastes by complying with electronics 

companies to recycle used computers and other electronic wastes, and encourage employees to use 

rechargeable batteries instead of disposable batteries to reduce the hazardous waste generated by the office.
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During the Year, the data of waste produced by the Group are as follows:

Waste 2023 2022

Total non-hazardous waste generated (tonnes) (note 1) 2610 9,029

Non-hazardous waste density (tonnes/RMB millions revenue) 0.84 3.31

Total hazardous waste generated (tonnes) (note 2) 19 25

Hazardous waste density (tonnes/RMB millions revenue) 0.01 0.01
   

Notes:

1. According to the statistics of the actual weight of non-hazardous waste generated by the Group.

2. Calculated based on the actual weight of hazardous waste.

3. The main reason for the decrease in non-hazardous waste is that the company has strengthened environmental supervision, 
enhanced waste recycling and taken measures for waste minimization, resource utilization, harmlessness and so on.

Emission of Greenhouse Gases

The Group’s greenhouse gas emissions mainly contribute by direct emissions from fossil fuel combustion, 

indirect energy emissions from purchased electricity, and other indirect emissions such as drinking water and 

sewage treatment by government departments. The Group also publicizes and educates different ways to 

reduce greenhouse gas emissions to employees through media such as emails, posters, and intranet, hoping 

to enhance employees’ awareness for environmental protection. Regular environmental training is also 

conducted to enhance the environmental awareness of our employees. The Group encourages employees 

to take public transportation more often and plant green plants in the office area to help reduce carbon 

emissions. As the Group provides logistics and supply chain services, vehicle fuel combustion is the major 

source of greenhouse gas emissions (79.8%), the Group closely monitors the use of vehicles and implement 

various vehicle emission reduction measures such as optimisation of delivery routes.

The Group’s greenhouse gas emission data are as follows:

Greenhouse gases (Note 1) 2023 2022 (Note 5)

Total Greenhouse gases emissions 

 (tons of carbon dioxide equivalent) 5,832  5,644

Scope 1-Direct emissions 

 (tons of carbon dioxide equivalent) (Note 1) 4,658 4,614

Scope 2-Energy indirect emissions 

 (tons of carbon dioxide equivalent) (Note 2) 1,166 1,024

Scope 3-Other indirect emissions 

 (tons of carbon dioxide equivalent) (Note 3) 8 6

Greenhouse gases emission density 

 (tons of carbon dioxide equivalent/RMB millions revenue) 1.87 2.07
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Notes:

1. The Group’s greenhouse gas emissions include carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons, 
perfluorocarbons, and sulfur hexafluoride. All are presented in the form of tons of carbon dioxide equivalent.

2. Scope 1 direct emissions include greenhouse gases produced by burning fossil fuels such as gasoline, diesel, and natural gas 
when using gas stoves and motor vehicles. The data is calculated according to the “Guidelines for Greenhouse Gas Emission 
Accounting and Reporting” published by the National Development and Reform Commission of China and Appendix 2 
“Guidelines for Reporting Environmental Key Performance Indicators” published by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

3. Scope 2 energy indirect emissions include indirect greenhouse gas emissions from purchased electricity. The data is 
calculated based on the “Corporate Greenhouse Gas Emissions Accounting Methodology and Reporting Guidelines Power 
Generation Facilities (Revised 2022)” issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People’s Republic of China.

4. Scope 3 Other indirect emissions covers other indirect emissions outside the Group, including water and sewage treatment. 
The data are calculated based on “Research on Energy Consumption of Urban Water Supply Systems in China” and 
“Statistical Analysis and Quantitative Identification of Energy Consumption Laws of Urban Sewage.”

5. As a result of the adjustment of the vehicle-related data for 2022, the greenhouse gases data in 2022 has changed.

4.2. Use of Resources

The Group strictly abides the “Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China” and other 

national laws and regulations in terms of resource utilization, and adopts various measures to reduce water 

and electricity usage, rationalize the use of materials, and effectively manage the use of resources and 

energy, increase efficiency in the use of resources. The Group had formulated an energy-saving management 

system to strengthen energy and water resource management, reduce waste, and encourage the practices 

of using of resources rationally. These measures include implementing energy audits to assess and improve 

energy usage; conducting employee energy-saving knowledge training, posting water and electricity saving 

signs in conspicuous places to raise awareness on energy conservation; upgrading equipment and optimizing 

processes to enhance energy efficiency; implementing an energy monitoring system to promptly detect and 

address issues in energy usage; and executing a green procurement policy to choose high-efficiency, energy-

saving products and equipment. Through these efforts, the Group is committed to reducing the usage on 

energy and natural resources while making a positive contribution to sustainable development.

Energy Management

The Group is committed to reduce electricity consumption in the office, and requires employees to “switch 

on only while using, and switch off when they leave the appliances”. The number and power of lights are 

set reasonably, and employees are required to switch on and off the lighting devices according to their 

needs, and avoiding switching lights on for overnight. The Group also encourages employees to completely 

switch off air conditioners, printers, and other electronic equipment during non-working hours, and to set 

computers to sleep mode when not in use. The Group also uses virtualized computer equipment to reduce 

power consumption and hardware installation. These include using a set of infrastructure-as-a-service (“IaaS”) 

or platform-as-a-service (“PaaS”) based cloud computing, computing infrastructure, and computing solution 

platforms. Aiming to avoid the purchase of duplicate hardware and software, and lowering the usage of 

unnecessary energy. During hot weather days, the Group will not require employees to wear ties and full 

suits to reduce the use of air conditioning and sets a minimum temperature limit for air conditioning. For 

server cooling, water-cooled racks are used instead of conventional air conditioning. At the same time, the 

Group will conduct electricity statistics and monitor electricity consumption every month in order to make 

improvement plans effectively. In addition, the Group will also allocate vehicles reasonably and remind drivers 

the importance of fuel-saving. As vehicle fuel consumption remained the largest energy source (89.6%), the

Group closely monitors vehicle usage and implement various energy efficiency optimisation measures.
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The energy usage data of the Group are as follows:

Energy use 2023 2022 (Note 5)

Total energy consumption (MWh) 19,602 19,049

 Direct Energy 17,584 17,449

  Energy consumption from natural gas (MWh) (Note 1) 23 20

  Energy consumption from gasoline MWh) (Note 2) 559 654

  Energy consumption from diesel (MWh) (Note 3) 17,002 16,775

 Indirect Energy 2,018 1,600

  Energy consumption from purchased electricity 

   (MWh) (Note 4) 2,018 1,600

Energy consumption density (MWh/RMB millions revenue) 6.28 6.98
   

Notes:

1. Calculated based on the “Greenhouse Gas Emissions Accounting Method and Reporting Guidelines” published by the 
National Development and Reform Commission of China.

2. Calculated based on the Chinese national standard GB17930-2016 “Gasoline for Motor Vehicles” and the “Land 
Transportation Enterprises – Greenhouse Gas Emission Accounting Method and Reporting Guidelines (Trial)” issued by the 
National Development and Reform Commission of China.

3. Calculated based on the Chinese national standard GB19147-2016 “Vehicle Diesel” and the “Land Transportation 
Enterprises – Greenhouse Gas Emission Accounting Method and Reporting Guidelines (Trial)” issued by the National 
Development and Reform Commission of China.

4. Calculated based on the actual consumption of purchased electricity by the Group.

5. As a result of the adjustment of the vehicle-related data for 2022, the energy consumption from gasoline and diesel in 
2022 has changed.

Water Resources Management

The majority of water usage within the Group comes from office usage. The Group is committed to reduce 

water consumption, implementing water-saving measures, and encouraging employees to actively lower their 

water usage. The Group have reminded staff to turn off taps tightly after use, and the Group have posted 

water-saving reminder labels at water supply points and in all restrooms to enhance employees’ awareness of 

water conservation. The Group regularly checks water meter readings and concealed water leakage. If there 

is water dripping from the faucet, the Group will immediately arrange for repairs to ensure the effective use 

of water resources and avoid waste. In addition, the Group also utilizes toilet facilities with water-saving 

labels, such as dual-flush toilets and faucets equipped with infrared sensors. The Group also pays attention to 

the latest water-saving equipment and discuss the possibilities of their application, thereby further reducing 

water consumption. The Group did not encounter any issues in sourcing water that is fit for the purpose of 

its daily operation.
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The water consumption data of the Group are as follows:

Water consumption (Note 1) 2023 2022

Total water consumption (cubic meter) 18,981 13,540

Water consumption density (cubic meter/RMB millions revenue) 6.09 4.96
   

Notes:

1. Calculated based on the Group’s actual water consumption.

2. The increase in water consumption was mainly due to: (1) the growth in the business volume of the subsidiaries and the 
increase in water demand; (2) the aging and leakage of water pipes in the charging rooms of the subsidiaries as a reult of 
the deep burial of pipes underground, which has been inspected and repaired to prevent potential problems, and regular 
inspections have been carried out in order to save water resources.

Materials Usage

The Group, especially Tonghui Logistics, uses packaging materials in logistics and supply chain services. 

Tainxingjian requires its suppliers to package their hardware products, and Tonghui Logistics is responsible 

for delivering the materials and the packaging. The Group expects to join hands with upstream and 

downstream production to reduce the use of packaging materials in the future and minimize their impact on 

the environment.

Currently, share-packaging is an important business segment for Tonghui Logistics. Tonghui Logistics has 

been focusing on standardization, modularization, flexibility, and light and slim design as the criteria in 

promoting rationalized packaging, coupled with packaging reuse, redesigning idle packaging after product 

renewal, and promotion of green and recyclable packaging. Adopting standardized packaging could reduce 

the damage rate of raw materials, reduces equipment and shovel damage, and reduces the demand for 

packaging accessories. Tonghui Logistics also provides its customers packaging leasing services, where 

Tonghui Logistics provides packaging equipment and is responsible for maintenance. Such method increases 

the number of time each materials are being used, thus conducive to environmental protection and low 

carbonization. In the future, our Group will continue to work with upstream and downstream partners 

to explore and implement more innovative environmental packaging solutions to achieve sustainable 

development goals that are responsible to the environment.

This year, the Group’s usage data of packaging materials are as follows:

Packaging material use (Note 1) 2023 2022

Total packaging materials (tonnes) 189 47

Packaging Material Density (tonnes/RMB millions revenue) 0.06 0.01
   

Note:

1. Calculated based on the actual usage of packaging materials of the Group.
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4.3. Facing Climate Change

The Group fully understands that climate change can impact daily operations and bring risks. The Group has 

formulated a “Risk Management and Control Procedure” to enhance comprehensive risk management work, 

improve the level of risk management, and strengthen risk resistance. The Group has identified climate-

related risks; on the operational side, changes in rainfall patterns and extreme changes in weather patterns 

caused by climate change will affect the maintenance and repair budgets of the group’s vehicles, increasing 

operational costs. At the same time, changes in rainfall patterns and extreme changes in weather patterns 

(such as torrential rains, blizzards, etc.) will also increase the risk of the logistics safety, affecting logistics 

route planning, and the storage and transportation of network planning, and further increase the operational 

difficulty of the group’s transportation business. In terms of employees, extreme weather conditions may 

pose a threat to their safety and cause major inconvenience while commuting.

The Group has identified potential safety hazards that may arise from climate-related risks and has developed 

corresponding work arrangements and preventative measures to address the possible impacts of changes 

in rainfall patterns and extreme variations in weather patterns. This includes implementing internationally 

recognized management systems (such as ISO 14001, etc.) to manage and monitor climate-related risks, 

assessing climate-related risks in the supply chain, and identifying alternative supply sources. For employees, 

the Group will stay informed about meteorological conditions, make reasonable arrangements for various 

work plans in advance, and issue safety warnings to employees and on-site workers in cases of extreme 

weather, in order to ensure their safety.

The Group will continue to track climate-related issues, assess and inspect climate-related risks, increase the 

importance for reporting emissions, and supervise the requirements for existing products and services to 

optimize and improve management.

5. Employee and Labour Practices

The Group firmly believes that employees as important assets and is well aware that the growth of our employees is 

crucial to the success of the enterprise. The Group is committed to respecting and protecting the rights of employees 

and is dedicated to maintaining their safety and health. Upholding a “people-oriented” management philosophy, 

the Group implements humanized management and demonstrates care for employees in daily operations. The Group 

believes the relationship between the enterprise and its employees is also interdependent, and providing employees 

with development opportunities is the key to achieving long-term sustainable development.

The Group has published the “Employee Handbook” that clearly specifies the code of ethical conduct that 

all employees are expected to adhere to. This includes but not limited to, compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations, company discipline, and office rules (including environmental management, confidentiality, and safety 

management, etc.). The Group firmly opposes any form of discrimination, including gender, sexual orientation, 

disability, age, race, nationality, family status and/or any other component protected by law. Also, all employees and 

the entire Group are required to create a harmonious and welcoming working environment. This is a core part of 

the Group’s corporate culture and a reflection of our commitment to each and every employee.
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5.1. Employee Rights

The Group strictly abides to employment-related laws and regulations such as the “Labor Law of the 

People’s Republic of China”, “Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China” and “Regulations on 

the Prohibition of Using Child Labor” to ensure that employees enjoy equal employment and promotion 

opportunities. To further implement these principles, the Group’s “Employee Handbook” also details policies 

and procedures regarding employee benefits, performance evaluations, professional training, and personal 

development. In addition, the Group has formulated the “Labor Contract Management Regulations” to 

further protect the legal rights of both the company and employees, regulate the behavior of both parties in 

the labor contract, and establish harmonious labor relations. Each labor contract clearly outlines key terms 

such as the nature of work, working hours, leave policies, and compensation and benefits, to ensure the 

avoidance of any form of forced labor. The Group commits that all labor practices will respect the legal rights 

of employees and provide a safe, healthy, and respectful working environment in compliance with legal 

regulations.

Employee Recruitment

The Group adheres to the principle of fairness and openness during recruitment and promotion decisions, 

and will not be affected by factors such as age, gender, physical and mental health, marital and family 

status, race, skin color, nationality, religious belief, political stance, and sexual orientation. The Group has 

formulated the “Employee Recruitment Management Measures” to standardize the employee recruitment 

procedures to ensure a fair and just recruitment process. The method is applicable to the different 

recruitments approaches, such as internal and external recruitment. The Group will specifies the requirements 

and procedures for every job recruitment, then determines the interview team, method, time, interviewing 

questions, and skill assessment based on a structured interviewing model and the characteristics of the hiring 

position. Interview assessment elements include management ability, professional knowledge, education, 

training experience etc. The Group will also conduct background checks on candidates for key positions to 

verify the authenticity of the information provided, and to understand their educational background, past 

work performance, and abilities. The Group will conduct recruitment and salary approval for candidates 

based on interview results and background investigations.

The Group also emphasizes the prohibition of child labor and forced labor. During the recruitment process, 

the Group will check the applicant’s supporting documents such as ID card, birth certificate, education 

certificate, etc. to confirm whether their age and identity are identical with the supporting documents 

provided, so as to avoid the wrongful employment of child labor or forced labor. If in the case where child 

labor or forced labor has been mistakenly employed, the Group will immediately terminate the contract of 

the relevant personnel and conduct an investigation to prevent similar incidents from happening again.

To standardize the management of new employees and enable them to quickly become familiar with and 

adapt to the company culture, policies, and behavioral norms, as well as to become acquainted with the 

work environment and to master the necessary work methods and skills, the Group has established the 

“New Employee Entry Management Measures.” According to the job responsibilities and business divisions 

of new employees, instructors (“mentors”) are assigned to pay attention to the employees’ work and life 

situations. Mentors will provide clear guidance and assessment for new employees in aspects such as team 

integration, onboarding training, initial performance evaluation, and the process for becoming a permanent 

staff member.



DEEWIN TIANXIA CO.,LTD104

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Regarding resignation matters, the Group has formulated the “Employee Resignation Management 

Measures”, which clearly regulates the company’s employee resignation procedures, so as to protect the 

legitimate rights and interests of the company, the resigned personnel. At the same time, it ensures that the 

related resignation procedures can be completed in an orderly and timely manner, maintaining the normal 

order of personnel turnover. When an employee requests to leave, the human resources department will 

conduct an interview with him/her to understand the reasons for their departure.

This year, the employment data of the Group are as follows:

Employment indicators

As at 

31 December 

2023

As at 

31 December 

2022

Total employees 1,694 1,722

By gender

 Male 1,079 1,133

 Female 615 589

By age groups

 Age <30 373 456

 Age 30-50 1,259 1,200

 Age > 50 62 66

By employment types

 Part-time 0 0

 Full-time 1,694 1,722

By location

 Mainland China 1,694 1,722

 Other 0 0

Employment indicators

Year ended 

31 December 

2023

Year ended 

31 December 

2022

Total number of employees turnover 176 246

Employee turnover rate (%) 10% 14%

By gender

 Male 11% 16%

 Female 10% 10%

By age groups

 Age <30 20% 28%

 Age 30-50 7% 10%

 Age > 50 2% 0%

By location

 Mainland China 10% 14%

 Other 0% 0%
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Employee Benefits

In order to retain talents, in the case where there is a vacancy among the upper ranks, the Group will 

first consider internal promotion before external recruitment to encourage employees’ performance. The 

Group has formulated promotion management and performance management methods for each rank. 

Employee performance is assessed through standardized employee assessment, and promotion or annual 

remuneration adjustments are determined based on the assessment results to ensure all employees enjoy 

equal opportunities in promotion, and to ensure remunerations are associated with performance. Stimulates 

employee motivation and ignites their specialized business capabilities. The promotion process is rigorous, 

based on the core competence, management ability, and professional ability of employees, which is all in line 

with the Group’s fairness policy. Employee assessment can be divided into three types: monthly assessment, 

semi-annual assessment, and annual assessment. The annual assessment will be based on the monthly 

and semi-annual assessment results, and a comprehensive evaluation of employees will be used for salary 

adjustment. The Group is also committed to motivate employees to create long-term value. The Group has 

set up an employee incentive plan, and conducts monthly, quarterly and annual selection of outstanding 

employees every year, and all outstanding employees will receive cash awards.

In terms of benefits, in addition to annual leave and sick leave, employees are entitled to marriage leave, 

maternity leaves, funeral leaves, and public holidays and festival leave. Maternity leave includes prenatal 

leave, maternity leave, breastfeeding leave, and nursing leave. In addition, the Group will provide subsidies 

such as meals, transportation, condolences, labor protection, tuition reimbursement, etc., as well as holiday 

benefits. The Group does not encourage overtime work, but in the case where extra working hours are 

required, the Group will provide overtime subsidies and transportation expenses, and schedule employees to 

take time off when feasible.

The Group also pays for employees or jointly pays for various social insurances with employees, including 

work-related injury, maternity, housing pension, basic medical care, enterprise annuity, unemployment, and 

other related insurances. In order to effectively protect the interests of retired employees, the Group has 

formulated “Employee Retirement Management Measures” and “Enterprise Annuity Management Plan” to 

standardize retirement management procedures. The Group will also organize and invite retired employees 

to participate in different company activities. Moreover, the Group is committed to understand the needs of 

retirees and will reach out to care for the health and livelihood of retired employees.

5.2. Caring for Employees

The development of the Group depends on the efforts of the staff, the enterprise and the staff grow 

together and achieve mutual success. The Group cares for the staff, continuously develops various kinds of 

team building and cultural and entertainment activities, increases the strength of the relief protection and 

innovates the form of activities, enhances the staff’s spiritual dynamics, cultivates the staff’s sentiments, 

strengthens the friendship among the colleagues, creates a harmonious, positive and optimistic cultural 

atmosphere, enables the staff to obtain physical and mental pleasure, and improves the sense of occupational 

well-being of the staff and the sense of belonging to the enterprise.
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During the year, the Group carried out various activities dedicated to caring for the children of the 

Group’s employees. The Group distributed gift vouchers to 5 employees’ children who participated in the 

college entrance examination. The Group have completed the submission of enrollment information for 

63 employees’ children and have facilitated the participation in a charity mutual aid platform for 1,290 

employees. At the same time, the Company also organized single youth dating parties, group weddings, 

group purchases of gasoline, home appliances and swimming tickets as employee benefits, and customized 

bus discounts for specific routes. In addition, the Group organized a number of leisure activities aimed 

at creating a positive and enjoyable working atmosphere, including quarterly employee birthday parties, 

basketball tournaments, the 4th Staff Sports Day and a half marathon race. Such initiatives are designed to 

increase the sense of belonging and cohesion among employees.

In addition, the Group distributes festive welfare (such as food and daily necessities) to employees on festivals 

such as the Spring Festival, Dragon Boat Festival, Mid-Autumn Festival and National Day, and organizes 

festive activities such as the 2023 Lantern Festival, which not only enriches the cultural life of employees, 

but also deepens the employees’ understanding of traditional culture. The Group also organizes leisure 

activities such as flower arrangement class, wagashi making, drawing manga etc., to help employees relax 

after a stressful day at work. The Group has always cared for its employees, and often arrange condolence 

and consolation sessions during festivals and weather changes bringing coolness in summer and warmth in 

winter, in order to enrich the cultural life of employees, let employees feel the warmth of the Group, and 

enhance the happiness index of employees.

Employee Birthday Parties

2023 Lantern Festival Celebration

Stress-Relief Handcraft Activities

The 4th Staff Sports Day and Half Marathon Race
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5.3. Employee Development and Training

The Group focuses on cultivating talents and holding training sessions to increase the competitiveness of the 

Group and its employees. In order to standardize its rights, obligations, and training procedures related to 

employee training, the Group has formulated the “Training Management Measures”. These regulations aim 

to improve the capabilities and quality of our management team and staff to meet the needs of strategic 

business development and performance enhancement.

The Group’s training is divided into internal and external training, with internal training as the main course 

and external training as supplement Internal training is mainly courses conducted by internal lecturers, and 

internal lecturers are selected fairly, justly, openly and objectively within the group, and are determined by 

factors such as qualifications, teaching plan writing levels, and teaching skills. Furthermore, the Group have 

developed the “Internal Trainer Cultivation and Management Measures,” which outline the selection system 

for internal trainers and relevant incentive policies. These measures are designed to further explore the 

potential of employees, motivate them to grow rapidly, and cultivate a learning-oriented team. All internal 

lecturers are required to pass the annual teaching performance appraisal in order to be remain in their 

respective posts.

In order to cater for the training of different employees development directions, the Group has formulated 

various types of training, allowing employees to make full use of both working and after-work hours to 

learn basic knowledge, skills, and advanced expertise, thus improving themselves and learning efficiency. 

During the Year, the Group had provided job-related trainings for employees such as data analysis including 

using programming languages Python and Java, industrial procurement management, business optimization 

and development, cost analysis, quality system, on-site management, sales, and much more to be listed. 

In addition, the Group also provides new introductory trainings for new employees, including general 

knowledge training upon entry and pre-job training to accelerate the performance of new employees and 

their business skills set.

Warehouse Cost Control Training Business Training
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During the Year, the training data of the employees of the Group are as follows:

Training indicators 2023 2022

Average hours of training for employees (% trained) 21 (98%) 60 (96%)

By gender

 Female employee average trained hours (% trained) 22 (98%) 60 (96%)

 Male employee average trained hours (% trained) 20 (98%) 61 (97%)

By employment level

 Average hours of training for senior executives (% trained) 26 (100%) 133 (100%)

 Average training hours for technical personnel (% trained) 26 (96%) 47 (90%)

 Average training hours for executives (% trained) 27 (96%) 35 (87%)

 Average training hours for salespeople (% trained) 35 (98%) 38 (91%)

 Average training hours for production personnel (% trained) 14 (100%) 72 (100%)

 Average hours of training for other employees (% trained) 42 (100%) 42 (100%)
   

5.4. Health and Safety

The Group is committed to reduce production safety related accidents such as road transportation. The 

Group strictly abides by the safety-related laws and regulations namely the “Safety Production Law of the 

People’s Republic of China” and the “Road Traffic Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China” to protect 

the health and safety of employees. The Group has formulated a comprehensive occupational health and 

safety management system, safety production management measures, and implemented different safety 

related systems, including safety production and job responsibility system, safety technical operation 

procedures, accident handling emergency plans, etc. In the event of traffic accidents, electric shocks, fires 

and other accidents, the Group will activate relevant occupational health and safety emergency plans, and 

the established emergency rescue team will perform its duties and responsibilities to evacuate personnel 

effectively and take adequate measures to prevent the spread of the accident. In case of personal injury, the 

employee must report the accident to their supervisor immediately, so that it can be properly handled as 

soon as possible, and the accident site should be investigated.

Several safety goals were set to be achieve by the Group this year, which include a 100% coverage and 

drill rate for production safety accident scenarios, strived to strengthen intrinsically safe management 

of safe production, implement systematic management of dual prevention mechanisms, and carry out 

safety publicity, education, and training on a regular basis. In addition, the Group also promotes refined 

management of occupational health, and organizes occupational hazard testings, and occupational health 

examinations. The Group also arranges annually physical examinations for employees regularly to strengthen 

the control and prevention of diseases, ensuring the physical and mental health of the company’s employees.
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The Group will adhere to the principle of “No Safety, No Production”, strive to reduce safety risks, and 

strengthen employees’ safety awareness. The Group implements hierarchical management scale and control 

on corporate safety risks, and conducts timely investigation for hidden dangers to strengthen supervision. 

This year, the Group has inspected several potential safety hazards and had implemented rectification 

measures for the problems identified by the sub-office accordingly. In addition, the Group has also organized 

a series of safety-related trainings to enhance employees’ safety awareness. This year, the Group has held 

trainings during safety warning month on topics such as enhancement of safety performance capacity, 

occupational health knowledge, safety of new laborers, and safety standardization

During the Year, the health and safety data of the Group are as follows:

Health and Safety Indicators 2023 2022 2021

Death incidents (cases) 0 0 0

Work-related fatality rate (%) 0 0 0

2023 2022 2021

Work accidents (cases) 0 0 0

Lost work days due to work injury 0 0 0

Safety Standardization Training

The Group conducts safety standardization training 

to regulate the precautions for safety production 

standardization, enhance employees’ awareness and 

understanding of occupational health and safety, 

and thus help the organization establish a work 

environment that meets safety standards, reducing 

the occurrence of accidents.
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6. Operation Practices

6.1. Supply Chain Management

The Group strictly abides by the “Civil Code of the People’s Republic of China” and other laws and 

regulations related to supply chain management, have formulates supplier access management measures, and 

clearly state out the supplier qualification requirements. The Group requires suppliers to have a sound quality 

assurance system, a well-established environmental and social risk management, and should have passed 

ISO 9001 and/or other quality assurance system certifications. The products supplied by the supplier must 

be within the business scope of the business license of that enterprise, and the products that belong to the 

state franchise must have a business license. In addition, the compulsory product certifications required by 

the nation must be certified by a nationally recognized testing agency, and have compulsory testing reports, 

certifications, and required marks. As for other products, it must be supplied with all required product testing 

report or certificate in order to be accepted.

The Group has formulated procurement management regulations for the selection of suppliers, 

standardization of supplier access standards, and confirmation procedures, thus to reduce supply chain 

management risks. Suppliers are required to have long-term stability, stable supply capabilities, and 

have a good reputation in fulfilling contracts. That is to say, suppliers should have no record of contract 

breach. Based on factors such as the stability of the supplier team, product supply capabilities, and 

aftersales recovery, the Group will select primary suppliers that meet the requirements with combination 

of environmental, health and safety performance. When determining the primary suppliers, the Group will 

give priority first to internationally and domestically well-known and leading suppliers, then suppliers with 

localized factories, and last other potential suppliers. Afterwards, the Group will review and evaluate the 

prioritized suppliers, and conduct on-site evaluations as needed. Based on the results of the review and 

evaluation, the Group will prepare a list of suggested suppliers, then will approve and confirm whether 

if the suggested suppliers met the qualifications or not. The Group has signed commercial confidentiality 

agreements with its suppliers, requiring suppliers to keep information such as design, technology, customer 

list, and procurement information confidential. Suppliers shall provide services and products based on 

the principle of mutually benefits and equal negotiation. If the supplier violates the supplier management 

regulations, the supplier will be disqualified.

The Group has formulated risk decision-making management measures, and regularly identifies, evaluates, 

manages, and monitors environmental and social risks within the supply chain, and reviews the risk list to 

strengthen the management of suppliers. The Group will give priority to suppliers with sound systems in 

employment, health and safety, development and training, supply chain management, product liability, and 

anti-corruption. At the same time, the Group also gives priority to environmental friendly suppliers such 

as those with ISO 50001 energy management system certification, ISO 14001 environmental management 

system certification, low-carbon product certification, etc. The Group will require suppliers to sign a safety 

and environmental protection notice, agreeing to follow the principles of safety and environmental protection 

throughout the whole working process, to ensure the quality, safety, and environmental protection standards 

of the Group’s products. Suppliers need to classify and store the waste generated during the work process 

and have qualified processors to disposal wastes properly to avoid any potential harm to the environment. 

Suppliers also need to abide by the national labor and employment system, provide employees with a healthy 

and safe working environment and establish employee health records.
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The Group is committed to environmentally friendly procurement, targeting to purchase and selected products 

and services that have the least impact on the environment, and requires suppliers to provide environmentally 

friendly products according to different business needs. The products purchased by the Group should have 

energy and water efficiency labels, coupled with a have high recycling efficiency. Moreover, the Group will 

give priority to suppliers with closer geographical distance or more convenient transportation routes in hopes 

of reducing carbon footprint.

During the year, the Group had a total of 290 supplies and are distributed of suppliers as follows:

Supplier distribution 2023 2022

Northern 35 28

Central 18 12

Eastern 43 50

Southern 18 20

North-west 176 166
   

Notes:

1. Northern areas: Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei Province, Shanxi Province, Shandong Province, Inner Mongolia (excluding Chifeng, 
Tongliao, Hulunbuir, and Hinggan League)

2. Central areas: Henan Province, Hubei Province, Hunan Province, Jiangxi Province, Sichuan Province, Chongqin City

3. Eastern areas: Shanghai, Jiangsu Province, Zhejiang Province, Anhui Province, Fujian Province

4. Southern areas: Guangdong Province, Guangxi Autonomous Region, Yunnan Province, Guizhou Province, Hainan Province

5. North-west areas: Shaanxi Province, Gansu Province, Qinghai Province, Ningxia Autonomous Region, Xinjiang Autonomous 
Region

6.2 Product Responsibility

Product Quality

The group adheres to the business philosophy of “virtue wins the world, leading with exceptional services, 

and quality creates the future”. With that in mind, the Group follows strict requirements regarding both 

product and service quality and control. Guided by the management model of “Three Completes” (a.k.a. 

full participation, whole-process control, and whole-system management quality), the Group conducts 

various tasks ranging from customer demand identification, product development and verification, parts 

procurement, manufacturing, logistics and distribution sales services with precise control from start to the 

end.

The Group strictly abides by the “Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China” and other laws and 

regulations related to product quality, formulates different quality control systems, with aims to perfecting 

the quality assurance systems, design quality, and service quality to ensure product quality and safety. The 

Group has formulated a quality manual and quality assurance control procedures to standardize quality 

assurance work, generate quality assurance plans, implement quality inspections, and carry out rectification 

and tracking of non-conforming items.
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The Group’s Tainxingjian, Shanghai Yuanxing and Tonghui Logistics have obtained ISO 9001:2015 Quality 

Management System certification. Additionally, Tainxingjian has established the “Supplier Hardware Quality 

Management Measures” to standardize the supplier’s daily quality management process, including the 

quality management of the trial production stage and mass production stage, and to promote the quality 

improvement of the supplier’s products. Besides, the Group signs contracts with its suppliers and customers 

to ensure that the products and services provided by suppliers or by the Group meet the quality standards 

set out by the nation and the Group. During the year, the percentage of the Group’s total products sold or 

shipped that were subject to recall for safety and health reasons was 0%, with no turnover rate.

In order to further standardize the quality of purchased products, the Group has established inspection 

regulations for purchased products. The Group will inspect the purchased products, if it is judged as 

unqualified, the product will then be passed to the non-conforming product control procedure, which is then 

reviewed in warehouse, reworked, repaired, or returned. The supplier’s quality control department needs to 

analyze the causes of unqualified products being returned to the factory, and formulate corrective measures 

and provide a report on the analysis of defective products. The Group’s quality control personnel will be 

responsible for supervising and implementing suppliers’ corrective measures.

In addition, in order to ensure timely after-sales service, Tainxingjian has set up “Tianxingjian Special Service 

Stations” in areas with intensive traffic. Tianxingjian special service station will inspect and cooperate with 

service providers and maintenance factories to provide maintenance services for our customers. Tainxingjian 

has formulated management regulations, set the site selection criteria, and approval process to ensure service 

quality. This year, Tainxingjian has obtained the after-sales service certification, and was rated as a five-star 

service provider, meeting the national’s best standard in “Commodity After-sales Service Evaluation System”.

Regarding advertisements and product labels, all public product sales and market information of the Group 

must be reviewed to ensure that they comply with legal requirements and are not misleading. The Group will 

monitor the content of advertisements and product labels to ensure that the content is clear and true.

Valuing Customer Feedback and Rights

The Group respects the opinions of customers and strives to improve customer satisfaction. The Group has 

established customer satisfaction survey procedure to collect feedback and suggestions on the services and 

products through the “Customer Satisfaction Survey Form” on a quarterly basis in order to improve the 

Group’s offerings. The research procedures formulated by the Group will be reviewed internally, and then 

the research and analysis will be carried out in groups, and the improvement progress will be tracked. At the 

same time, the Group also regulates the process and standards of after-sales service, and formulates after-

sales service control procedures to further improve customer satisfaction.
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For frequently-asked-questions in after-sales service, after-sales service personnel will contact customers 

directly to solve their enquiry, and record the solution process and results. The Group will calculate the up-to 

standard value of the performance indicators of after-sales service personnel based on the collected statistics. 

The performance indicators include the completion rate of after-sales problems and the time frame used to 

solve common inquiries. Those who fail to meet the standards will be assessed. For the handling of special 

problems, the Group will assess the responsible department or person in accordance with the specified time. 

If the handling of special problems is not completed within the specified time without justified reasons, the 

relevant personnel will be punished with negative incentives to ensure that customer feedback is dealt with 

in a timely manner. This year, the Group’s Tainxingjian ability to provide after-sales service for products has 

been recognized as a 5-star rating in the evaluation system accreditation.

Tonghui Logistics focus on customer satisfaction and continuous improvements as the principle of quality 

control policy, and strives to improve service quality beyond customers’ expectations. Tonghui Logistics has 

implemented the three-guarantee management policy when dealing with spare parts – “return, replacement 

and repair”, and handles the repair and maintenance of the vehicle parts that have failed to perform due 

to quality-related issues, ensuring the best efforts in protecting users rights and interests. When the claim is 

approved, the old part will be returned directly to the supplier involved. The returned parts will be preserved 

and all the returning information will be indicated on the label.

In addition, the Group attaches huge attention to customer privacy management, strictly abides by the 

“Network Security Law of the People’s Republic of China”, and strives to prevent customers’ property from 

being illegally infringed or leaked, aiming to protect customer rights. The Group has informed its employees 

about the proper handling of customer information. Employees must have a fair reason to obtain customer 

information. The Group has also adopted data security measures and organized employee training about 

customer privacy to promote privacy awareness and ensure customer information are secured.

The Group has set up different complaint channels, such as WeChat official account, email, and telephone to 

allow customers submit their valued opinions and complaints. At the same time, the Group has established 

a “Customer Complaint and Dispute Handling System”. When a customer complaint is being reviewed, the 

Group will arrange relevant personnel to take measures to correct it and prevent it from happening again. 

The Group will conduct statistical analysis on customer opinions, rectifications, and treatments every six 

months, summarizing the areas needed to be improved for customer satisfactions during the half-year period, 

and formulate a follow-up plan to better handle future complaints.
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For customer complaints, the Group wil l , in 

principle, accept and review the complaint within 

3 working days. Every accepted complaint will be 

sort within 30 business days. During the Year, the 

Group received a total of 11 complaints, and have 

all been resolved in accordance with the “Customer 

Complaints and Dispute Resolution System.”

Information Security

The Group places a high emphasis on information security, committed to preventing the leakage of 

confidential information including business confidentiality and customer data. Therefore, the Group has 

formulated a Commercial Confidentiality Management System to adequately protect customer and business 

data, and to comply with data protection laws and regulations and relevant industry-leading standards. 

Documents identified as commercial confidential are labeled with the level and period of confidentiality. 

A Confidentiality Agreement are signed with confidential staff, requiring them to comply with company 

rules and regulations and to keep confidential information, not to transfer confidential information by 

non-confidential means such as telephone, fax or e-mail, and not to discuss in public. The Group has 

implemented a system of daily and periodic inspections of confidential information, and conducts annual 

audits and assessments of all relevant documents and processes of the information security system in order to 

standardize and strengthen the management of confidential information, to prevent leakage of confidential 

information and to ensure the security of data.

Protecting Intellectual Property

The Group strictly abides by laws and regulations related to intellectual property such as the “Patent Law 

of the People’s Republic of China”, “Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China”, and “Enterprise 

Intellectual Property Management Regulations”. By promoting technological innovation and production 

technology progress, the Group aims to improve the company’s market competitiveness and economic 

gains. The Group has formulated a patent management system and a trademark management system, and is 

committed to standardizing the company’s trademark and patent management, establishing and maintaining 

corporate reputation, protecting trademark exclusive rights, enhancing employees’ awareness of legal 

protection of intellectual property rights, and improving corporate efficiency.

End User Satisfaction Survey
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The Group regards intellectual property as an intangible asset that affects our reputation and customer 

recognition. The Group has established an intellectual property rights management system to strengthen the 

creation, application, management, and protection of the Group’s intellectual property rights, to enhance the 

Group’s capacity for independent innovation, and standardize the management of the Group’s intellectual 

property. At the same time, the Group has established an emergency management system for intellectual 

property rights to protect the rights and interests of the Group. When patents, trademarks, or copyrights 

are found to be infringed and/or accusations of infringement are encountered, the Group will initiate an 

emergency management system for emergency treatment. The Group’s Operations Management Department 

will take the lead in arranging an emergency team to discuss countermeasures, including but not limited to 

requesting administrative agencies to investigate and deal with, filing infringement lawsuits with the people’s 

courts, and requesting the signing of trademark licensing or transfer contracts.

During the Year, the Group has provided relevant employees with training on the basic knowledge of 

intellectual property rights to understand the role and importance of intellectual property rights, as well as 

the method of determining patent infringement. The Group has also established an intellectual property 

risk avoidance plan, and will conduct regular intellectual property risk control to avoid infringement. For 

example, the Group conducts software inspections every six months to avoid piracy and infringement of 

office software, conducts intellectual property evaluations when new products are produced, and conducts 

intellectual property inspections of promotional materials before sales promotions

6.3 Anti-corruption

The Group has always adhered to the principle of integrity in business operations and strictly abides by 

the "Criminal Law of the People's Republic of China", "Anti-money Laundering Law of the PRC", "Anti-

Unfair Competition Law of the People's Republic of China" and other laws and regulations related to anti 

-corruption and anti-money laundering, and advocates a corporate culture of honesty and integrity. The 

Employee Handbook establistied by the Group sets out the rules and regulations for conflicts of interest 

and due diligence, and clearly stipulates the ethical conduct that employees should maintain. Any employee 

who commits corruption, extorting, or fraud and money laundering will be terminated unconditionally and 

immediately.

The Group prohibits all employees from seeking personal benefits or seeking benefits for others in any 

name and form. Employees should also take the initiative to avoid conflicts of interest, and must not engage 

in commercial activities with units that have engaged in an interest relationship. The Group encourages 

employees and related parties to report any internal violations of discipline, law, fraud, and behaviors that 

damage the group's interests and image in an orderly manner. Thus, the Group has formulated a series of 

integrity management measures to enhance the awareness of anti-corruption and anti-money laundering 

awareness and regulate anti-corruption and anti-money laundering behaviors, and further regulation of 

employee behavior through the signing of a commitment with them. The Group has established different 

reporting channels, including reporting hotlines and complaint reporting rooms. The Group also take 

measures to ensure the identity of the whistleblower are confidential to protect employee rights. During the 

year, the Group did not have any legal proceedings against the Group or employees related to corruption.
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During the year, the Group organized a meeting on the coordinating mechanism for building a clean and 

honest work environment and anti-corruption work model. The Group launched the Integrity Education 

Conference for newly appointed cadres, conducted self-examination of various issues reported in the 

conference, made immediate rectifications and established a long-term mechanism to effectively prevent 

risks. The Group also coordinates with each member and unit to strengthen the supervision and inspection 

of the performance in supervisory duties and business areas. The Group is focusing on discover the causes, 

urging relevant units to implement rectification on responsibilities, promoting the resolution of hidden 

problems and dangers in production and operation, improving corporate governance efficiency, and building 

a clean risk prevention and control system.

In order to ace in the education of honesty and anti-corruption, the Group emphasizes on organizing 

anti-corruption training and moral education for employees, and uses materials such as warnings, education 

films, and typical cases to strengthen the discipline awareness, bottom-line thinking, and review the rules for 

all party members and leading cadres.

7. Community Investment

The Group recognises the importance of giving back to the community and actively fulfils its corporate social 

responsibility by paying attention to the needs of the underprivileged and different minority groups in the society. 

Sparing no effort to help the community in order to give back to the society. The Group encourages its staff to 

participate in community activities and events in various ways, so as to contribute to a harmonious and sustainable 

society. Looking ahead, the Group will continue to focus on community care and staff development, and aim to 

improve society through participation in different meaningful community activities.

Rural Revitalization and Charitable Donations

This year, the Group has organized multiple charitable donations, material contributions, and activities to revitalize 

rural areas, providing necessary living supplies and financial support to regions in need, aiding in the revitalization 

of the countryside. The details of various charity and donation activities organized and participated by the group this 

year are as follows:

1) “Support for Rural Revitalization and 
Loving Donation” Charitable Activities

On June 17, 2023, in Shuanghe Village, Zhen’an 

County, Shangluo, the Group organized a charitable 

activity named “Support for Rural Revitalization 

and Loving Donation.” This activity focused on 

supporting 20 local households in need. The Group’s 

employees act ively part ic ipated and donated 

essential living supplies worth a total of RMB12,000, 

including rice, flour, oil, and other basic necessities, 

to help improve their l iv ing condit ions. This 

charitable activity demonstrates the group’s support 

for rural revitalization and care for people in need.

Donating essential living supplies to Shuanghe Village
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2) “RMB10 Caring Action” Charity Donation Initiative Event

On September 14, 2023, the Shaanxi Province Charity Association launched a charity donation initiative 

named “RMB10 Caring Action.” Employees of the Group actively participated in the charity donation, 

contributing small amounts that accumulate like grains of sand into a tower, providing support and 

encouragement to moral models and individuals in difficult circumstances. A total of RMB8,730 in cash 

donations was raised on the day of the event, reflecting care and support for moral exemplars and families in 

need. These donations will be used directly to help them address practical life difficulties.

3) “Love Sponsorship & Ignite Hope” Angel Care Activity

On October 21, 2023, at the Central School of Pu Hua Town, Lantian County, a special charity activity 

brought warmth and care to 25 children. During the activity, the children received well-prepared duvets, 

stationery gift boxes, and basketballs by the Group, with the total value of these materials reaching 

RMB8,813. All donated items were distributed on-site directly, ensuring that the materials could be delivered 

to the children timely and accurately, to support their studies and daily life, while also conveying the warmth 

and care of society.

“RMB10 Care Action Charity” Donation Initiative Event Site

Distribution of Materials Sending Appreciation Award
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Content Index of the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting 
Guidelines”

ESG KPIs Description Chapter

Environment

Aspect A1: Emissions General disclosure

Regarding waste gas and greenhouse gas emissions, discharge 

to water and land, generation of hazardous and non-

hazardous waste, etc.:

(a) Policies; and

(b) Information on compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer.

Environmental protection 

Emission and waste 

 management

KPI A1.1 Types of emissions and related emissions data. Environmental protection

Emissions and Waste 

 Management

• Exhaust emission

• Waste management

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and Energy Indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions 

and intensity.

Environmental protection

Emissions and Waste

 Management

• Greenhouse emission

KPI A1.3 Total amount and density of hazardous waste generated. Environmental protection 

Emissions and Waste 

 Management

 • Waste management

KPI A1.4 Total amount and density of non-hazardous waste generated. Environmental protection

Emissions and Waste 

 Management

• Waste management

KPI A1.5 Description of the emissions targets set and the steps taken 

to achieve them.

Environmental protection 

Emissions and Waste 

 Management

 • Greenhouse emissions

KPI A1.6 Description of the methods for handling hazardous and non-

hazardous waste, and describe the waste reduction goals set 

and steps taken to achieve these goals.

Environmental protection

Emissions and Waste 

 Management

 • Waste management
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ESG KPIs Description Chapter

Aspect A2: Use of 

resource

General disclosure

Policies for the efficient use of resources, including energy, 

water and other raw materials.

Environmental protection

Resource use

KPI A2.1 Total direct and/or indirect energy consumption and intensity 

by type.

Environmental protection

Resource use

• Energy management

KPI A2.2 Total water consumption and density. Environmental protection

Resource use

• Water resources 

management

KPI A2.3 Description of the energy efficiency goals set and the steps 

taken to achieve them.

Environmental protection

Resource use

• Energy management

KPI A2.4 Description of any problems in obtaining suitable water 

sources, the water efficiency goals established and the steps 

taken to achieve these goals.

Environmental protection

Resource use

• Water resource 

management

KPI A2.5 The total amount of packaging material used for the finished 

product.

Environmental protection

Resource use

• Materials use

Aspect A3: Environment 

& natural resources

General disclosure

Policies to minimize the issuer’s significant impact on the 

environment and natural resources.

Environmental protection

Emissions and Waste 

 Management

Resource use

Facing climate change

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of business activities on 

the environment and natural resources and the actions taken 

to manage those impacts.

Environmental protection

Emissions and Waste 

 Management

Resource use

Facing climate change

Aspect A4: Climate 

change

General disclosure

Policies for identifying and addressing material climate-related 

issues that have and may have an impact on the issuer.

Environmental protection

Facing climate change

KPI A4.1 Description of the major climate-related issues that have and 

may have an impact on the issuer, and the corresponding 

actions.

Environmental protection

Facing climate change
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ESG KPIs Description Chapter

Community

Employment and Labor Practices

Aspect B1: Employment General disclosure

Regarding compensation and termination, recruitment and 

promotion, hours of work, vacation, equal opportunity, 

diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and benefits:

(a) Policies; and

(b) Information on compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer.

Employment and Labor 

 Practices

Employee Rights

Caring for employees

KPI B1.1 Total number of employees by gender, employment type, age 

group and region.

Employment and Labor 

 Practices

Employee Rights

• Employee recruitment

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rates by gender, age group and region. Employment and Labor 

 Practices

Employee Rights

• Employee recruitment

Aspect B2: Health & 

Safety

General disclosure

Regarding providing a safe working environment and 

protecting employees from occupational hazards:

(a) Policies; and

(b) Information on compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer.

Employment and Labor 

 Practices

Health & Safety

KPI B2.1 The number and rate of work-related fatalities in each of the 

past three years (including the reporting year).

Employment and Labor 

 Practices

Health & Safety

KPI B2.2 Lost work days due to work-related injuries. Employment and Labor 

 Practices

Health & Safety

KPI B2.3 Description of the occupational health and safety measures 

adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.

Employment and Labor 

 Practices

Health & Safety
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ESG KPIs Description Chapter

Aspect B3: 

Development & training

General disclosure

Policies on enhancing the knowledge and skills of employees 

to perform job duties. Describe training activities.

Employment and Labor 

 Practices

Employee development & 

 training

KPI B3.1 Percentage of trained employees by gender and employee 

category.

Employment and Labor 

 Practices

Employee development & 

 training

KPI B3.2 The average number of hours of training completed by each 

employee, by gender and employee category.

Employment and Labor 

 Practices

Employee development & 

 training

Aspect B4: Labor 

standards

General disclosure

Regarding the prevention of child labor or forced labor:

(a) Policies; and

(b) Information on compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer.

Employment and Labor 

 Practices

Employee rights

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review recruitment practices to 

avoid child and forced labor.

Employment and Labor 

 Practices

Employee rights

KPI B4.2 Description of the steps taken to eliminate the situation when 

a violation was discovered.

Employment and Labor 

 Practices

Employee rights

Operating Practices

Aspect B5: Supply chain 

management

General disclosure

Environmental and social risk policies for managing supply 

chains.

Operation practices

Supply chain management

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by region. Operation practices

Supply chain management

KPI B5.2 Description of the practices related to engaging suppliers, the 

number of suppliers to whom the practices are enforced, and 

how they are enforced and monitored.

Operation practices

Supply chain management

KPI B5.3 Description of the practice of identifying environmental and 

social risks in each link of the supply chain, and the related 

implementation and monitoring methods.

Operation practices

Supply chain management

KPI B5.4 Describe the practice of promoting the use of environmentally 

friendly products and services in supplier selection, as well as 

related implementation and monitoring methods.

Operation practices

Supply chain management
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ESG KPIs Description Chapter

Aspect B6: Product 

responsibility

General disclosure

Health and safety, advertising, labeling and privacy matters 

and remedies for products and services offered:

(a) Policies; and

(b) Information on compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer.

Operation practices

Product responsibility

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total product sold or shipped that is subject to 

recall for safety and health reasons.

Operation practices

Product responsibility

• Product quality

KPI B6.2 The number of complaints received about products and 

services and how to deal with them.

Operation practices

Product responsibility

• Valuing customer 

opinions and rights

KPI B6.3 Description of practices related to the maintenance and 

protection of intellectual property rights.

Operation practices

Product responsibility

• Intellectual property 

protection

KPI B6.4 Description of the quality verification process and product 

recall procedures.

Operation practices

Product responsibility

• Product quality

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, 

and how they are enforced and monitored.

Operation practices

Product responsibility

• Valuing customer 

opinions and rights

• Information Security
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ESG KPIs Description Chapter

Aspect B7: 

Anti-corruption

General closure

Regarding the prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and 

money laundering:

(a) Policies; and

(b) Information on compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer.

Operation practices

Anti-corruption

KPI B7.1 The number and outcome of concluded corruption litigation 

cases brought against the issuer or its employees during the 

reporting period.

Operation practices

Anti-corruption

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and reporting procedures, 

as well as related implementation and monitoring methods.

Operation practices

Anti-corruption

KPI B7.3 Description of the anti-corruption training provided to 

directors and employees.

Operation practices

Anti-corruption

Community

Aspect B8: Community 

investment

General disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs 

of the communities in which it operates and to ensure that 

its business activities take into account the interests of the 

communities.

Community investment

KPI B8.1 Focus on areas of contribution. Community investment

KPI B8.2 Resources used in areas of focus. Community investment
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To the Shareholders of Deewin Tianxia Co., Ltd

(incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Deewin Tianxia Co., Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which 

are set out on pages 130 to 234, comprise:

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023;

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and other 

explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 

the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 

year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the 

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 

(including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA 

Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 

opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to expected credit impairment allowance of loan receivables.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Expected credit impairment allowance of loan 

receivables

Refer to Notes 3.1(b), 4 and 24 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the gross amount of the Group’s 

loan receivables was RMB7,061,595 thousand, for which 

an expected credit impairment allowance of RMB538,307 

thousand, was recognised in the Group’s consolidated 

statement of financial position, and the net impairment 

losses charged to profit or loss for the year then ended 

amounted to RMB63,932 thousand.

The Group assessed whether the credit risk of loan 

receivables had increased significantly since their initial 

recognition, and applied a three-stage impairment model 

to calculate the expected credit loss (“ECL”). For loan 

receivables classified under stage 1 (there has not been a 

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition), 

stage 2 (there has been a significant increase in credit 

risk since initial recognition but is not yet deemed to be 

credit-impaired) and those classified as stage 3 (there has 

been identified as credit-impaired since initial recognition) 

with individual amount that are relatively insignificant 

management assessed loss allowances using the risk 

parameter modelling approach that incorporated relevant 

key assumptions and parameters, including the probability 

of default, loss given default, exposure at default, and 

forward-looking economic factors. For loan receivables 

classified under stage 3 with individual amount that are 

relatively significant, management assessed loss allowances 

by estimating the expected discounted cash flows.

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment 

assessment of loan receivables included:

1) Obtained an understanding of the management’s 

in te rna l  cont ro l  re la t ing to the impa i rment 

assessment of loan receivables, including the 

impairment model adopted and key assumptions 

used. Assessed the inherent r i sk of mater ia l 

misstatement by considering the degree of estimation 

uncertainty, level of subjectivity, complexity and 

susceptibility to management bias;

2) Evaluated and tested the design and the operating 

effect iveness of internal controls re lat ing to 

impairment assessment of loan receivables;

3) Evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment 

of impairment of loan receivables to assess the 

effectiveness of management’s estimation;

4) Eva lua ted the mode l l i ng methodo log ie s  fo r 

ECL measurement, the signif icant judgements 

and assumptions appl ied by the management 

(including economic indicators, economic scenarios 

and weight ings used in the forward- looking 

measurement);
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

The measurement of ECL involves significant management 

judgements, assumptions and estimates, primarily in 

respect of the followings:

1) segmentation of business operations sharing similar 

credit risk characteristics, selection of appropriate 

mode l s  and dete rminat ion of  re levant  key 

measurement parameters;

2) determination of criteria for the identification of 

significant increase in credit risk and the definition 

of default;

3) selection of appropriate economic indicators, 

economic scenarios and weightings used in the 

forward-looking measurement; and

4) the estimated future cash flows for loan receivables 

w i th ind i v idua l  amount tha t  a re  re la t i ve l y 

insignificant in stage 3.

Impairment assessment of loan receivables was considered 

a key audit matter due to the size of the balances of 

loan receivables and that the impairment assessment is 

subject to a high degree of estimation uncertainty. The 

inherent risks in relation to the impairment assessment 

of loan receivables are significant due to the complexity 

of the three-stage impairment model, the subjectivity of 

significant management judgements and assumptions 

involved in developing ECL estimates, and susceptibility to 

misstatement due to management bias.

5) Based on the risk profile of the asset portfolio, 

evaluated the reasonableness of the portfol io 

segmentation. Selected samples, in consideration 

of the financial information and non-financial 

information of the borrowers, and examed relevant 

external evidence and other factors, to assess the 

appropriateness of the Group’s criteria of significant 

increase in credit risk, defaults and credit-impaired 

loan receivables;

6) Tested the data input for the ECL model on a sample 

basis by checking against supporting documents 

such as contracts and basic information to verify the 

data accuracy and verified the completeness of the 

underlying data used in the model by comparing the 

data as exported from the business operation system 

against the relevant book amounts as reflected in the 

accounting records;

7) For loans receivables that DCF model was used 

to calculate ECL, examined on a sample basis, by 

evaluating and challenging the key management 

judgement and assumptions involved in estimating 

the discounted future cash flows, with reference to 

the economic background, repayment history and 

repayment plan of borrowers, and availability of 

collaterals, if applicable.

Based on the above, we considered that the models, 

significant management’s judgements, assumptions and 

estimates applied in the impairment assessment of loan 

receivables were supportable by the evidence obtained.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the 

information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 

of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit Committee for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 

and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 

but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We 

report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 

liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 

a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 

statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 

audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 

direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 

on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance 

in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 

describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 

when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 

the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Dou Wang Angel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Year ended 31 December
2023 2022

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 5 3,119,437 2,728,298
Cost of revenue 7 (2,604,024) (2,234,256)

Gross profit 515,413 494,042

Selling expenses 7 (49,485) (45,974)
Administrative expenses 7 (121,854) (121,468)
Research and development expenses 7 (36,430) (41,476)
Net impairment losses on financial assets 3.1(b) (116,548) (78,836)
Other income 5 27,131 68,735
Other losses – net 6 (372) (677)

Operating profit 217,855 274,346

Finance income 10 29,491 31,142
Finance costs 10 (43,384) (31,368)

Finance costs – net 10 (13,893) (226)

Share of net profit of associate accounted for using the equity method 18 5,141 4,657

Profit before income tax 209,103 278,777

Income tax expense 11 (57,853) (58,742)

Profit for the year 151,250 220,035

Other comprehensive income – –

Total comprehensive income for the year 151,250 220,035

Profit attributable to:
 – The shareholders of the Company 149,257 226,412
 – Non-controlling interests 1,993 (6,377)

151,250 220,035

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
 – The shareholders of the Company 149,257 226,412
 – Non-controlling interests 1,993 (6,377)

151,250 220,035

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the shareholders 
 of the Company during the year (expressed in RMB per share)
 – Basic or diluted earnings per share 12 0.07 0.12

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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As at 31 December

2023 2022

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 113,321 99,170

Investment properties 15 7,767 8,033

Intangible assets 16 52,000 32,550

Investment in an associate 18 9,641 9,157

Right-of-use assets 13 33,173 47,891

Other receivables 25 – 11,131

Loan receivables 24 1,808,120 1,914,548

Deferred income tax assets 17 160,402 152,300

2,184,424 2,274,780

Current assets

Inventories 19 43,897 113,198

Trade receivables 21 784,264 581,578

Prepayments 26 90,344 153,221

Other receivables 25 180,084 404,550

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

 (“FVOCI”) 22 112,284 90,268

Notes receivable 23 71,128 319,084

Loan receivables 24 4,715,168 4,070,849

Restricted cash at banks 27 46,337 16,158

Cash and cash equivalents 28 976,898 1,148,967

7,020,404 6,897,873

Total assets 9,204,828 9,172,653

EQUITY

Share capital 29 2,236,043 2,236,043

Treasury shares 29 (70,559) –

Other reserves 30 820,253 802,590

Retained earnings 334,461 299,822

Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 3,320,198 3,338,455

Non-controlling interests (913) (2,906)

Total equity 3,319,285 3,335,549
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

As at 31 December

2023 2022

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 31 9,953 23,136

Bonds payable 32 – 124,461

Borrowings 33 550,686 852,116

Other payables 34 150,165 212,116

Contract liabilities 5 16,158 18,568

Deferred government grants 35 8,560 16,744

735,522 1,247,141

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 34 1,816,376 1,807,430

Lease liabilities 31 17,838 18,613

Bonds payable 32 610,741 784,025

Borrowings 33 2,630,365 1,840,652

Contract liabilities 5 58,539 127,278

Current income tax liabilities 16,162 11,965

5,150,021 4,589,963

Total liabilities 5,885,543 5,837,104

Total equity and liabilities 9,204,828 9,172,653

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 130 to 234 were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024 

and were signed on its behalf.

Chairman: Guo Wancai Director: Wang Runliang
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Share capital

Treasury 

shares

Other 

reserves

Retained 

earnings Total

Non-

controlling 

interests Total equity

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2022

Comprehensive income 1,629,000 – 515,628 299,747 2,444,375 5,372 2,449,747

Profit for the year – – – 226,412 226,412 (6,377) 220,035

Transaction with owners:

Initial public offering issue of 

 H Shares 29 607,043 – 261,751 – 868,794 – 868,794

Dividends declared and paid 36 – – – (201,126) (201,126) (1,901) (203,027)

Appropriation of statutory 

 reserves – – 21,541 (21,541) – – –

Appropriation of safety fund – – 4,477 (4,477) – – –

Utilisation of safety fund – – (807) 807 – – –

Subtotal 607,043 – 286,962 (226,337) 667,668 (1,901) 665,767

At 31 December 2022 2,236,043 – 802,590 299,822 3,338,455 (2,906) 3,335,549

At 1 January 2023

Comprehensive income 2,236,043 – 802,590 299,822 3,338,455 (2,906) 3,335,549

Profit for the year – – – 149,257 149,257 1,993 151,250

Transaction with owners:

Buy-back of shares 29 – (70,559) – – (70,559) – (70,559)

Dividends declared and paid 36 – – – (96,955) (96,955) – (96,955)

Appropriation of statutory 

 reserves – – 19,758 (19,758) – – –

Appropriation of safety fund – – 29 (29) – – –

Utilisation of safety fund – – (2,124) 2,124 – – –

Subtotal – (70,559) 17,663 (114,618) (167,514) – (167,514)

At 31 December 2023 2,236,043 (70,559) 820,253 334,461 3,320,198 (913) 3,319,285

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash flow from operating activities

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 37(a) 299,659 (49,102)

Interests received 10 29,491 16,651

Income tax paid (61,758) (110,273)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 267,392 (142,724)

Cash flow from investing activities

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 127 173

Dividends received from an associate 4,657 5,123

Purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (62,793) (37,353)

Net cash used in investing activities (58,009) (32,057)

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from bank borrowings 1,652,920 814,092

Proceeds from loan from related parties – 370,000

Proceeds from loan from a third party – 50,000

Proceeds from bond issuance 1,102,000 1,353,000

Proceeds from initial public offering 29 – 920,420

Repayments of borrowings (1,150,423) (691,438)

Interests paid (32,254) (30,061)

Dividends paid to the Company’s shareholders 36 (96,955) (201,126)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of the subsidiaries 36 – (1,901)

Payments for repurchase of shares 29 (105,783) –

Repayments of loan from related parties (330,000) (40,000)

Repayments of bonds payable (1,399,745) (1,384,371)

Payments for listing expenses – (16,919)

Payments for leases liabilities – principal (19,342) (30,130)

Payments for leases liabilities – interest (1,580) (1,157)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (381,162) 1,110,409

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (171,779) 935,628

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 1,148,967 213,339

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (290) –

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 976,898 1,148,967

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Deewin Tianxia Investment Holding Co., Ltd (德銀天下投資控股有限公司, the “Company”) was incorporated in 

Shaanxi Province of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) on 14 August 2014 as a limited liability company 

under the Company law of the PRC. On 25 December 2020, the Company was converted into a joint stock limited 

liability company with registered capital of RMB1,629,000,000 and changed its name to Deewin Tianxia Co., Ltd (德

銀天下股份有限公司, the “Company”). The address of its registered office is Jingwei Center, 29 West section of Xijin 

Road, Xi’an Economic and Technological Development Zone, Xi’an, Shaanxi Province, the PRC. The Company and 

its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the business of logistics and supply chain service 

(including supply chain business, automobile sales business and aftermarket product business), supply chain financial 

service (including financial leasing business and factoring business), and Internet of Vehicle (IoV) and data service in 

the PRC.

Shaanxi Automobile Group Co., Ltd. (陝西汽車集團股份有限公司 , “SXAG”) is the Company’s controlling 

shareholder. Shaanxi Automobile Holding Group Co., Ltd (陝西汽車控股集團有限公司, “SAHG”) is the Company’s 

ultimate controlling shareholder. Both SXAG and SAHG are state owned enterprises in the PRC.

The Company completed its initial global public offerings (“IPO”) and listed its H shares on the Main Board of The 

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 15 July 2022.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi thousand (RMB’000), unless otherwise stated. 

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024.

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out 

below. These policies have been consistently applied during the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, unless 

otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

2.1.1 Compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards and HKCO (as defined below)

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with IFRS 

Accounting Standards and requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“HKCO”) Cap. 

622.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2 Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost convention, except 

for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), which are carried 

at fair value.

2.1.3 New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following new and amended accounting standards and interpretations become applicable for 

annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2023, and have been adopted by the 

Group in current period:

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Accounting 

Standards Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising 

from a Single Transaction

Amendments to IAS 12 Pillar Two Model Rules

IFRS Accounting Standards 17 Insurance Contracts

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods 

and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.4 New standards and amendments of IFRS Accounting Standards issued effective 
for the financial periods beginning on and after 1 January 2024 and have not 
been early adopted by the Group

The followings are new accounting standards, amendments to accounting standards and 

interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2023 reporting periods 

and have not been early adopted by the Group. These standards, amendments or interpretations are 

not expected to have a material impact on the Group in the current or future reporting periods and 

on foreseeable future transactions.

Effective for 

financial 

periods 

beginning on 

or after

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as current or 

 non-current

1 January 2024

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current liabilities with covenants 1 January 2024

Amendments to IFRS 

 Accounting Standards 16

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024

Amendments to IAS 7 and 

 IFRS Accounting 

 Standards 7

Supplier finance arrangements 1 January 2024

Classification by the Borrower 

 of a Term Loan that 

 Contains a Repayment on 

 Demand Clause 

 (Int 5 (2020))

Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of 

 Financial Statements

1 January 2024

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025

Amendments to IFRS 

 Accounting Standards 10 

 and IAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 

 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

To be determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and 

fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management policy focuses 

on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s 

financial performance. The Group currently does not use any derivative financial instruments to hedge certain 

risk exposures.

(a) Market risk

i. Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognized assets and 

liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the respective group entities’ functional 

currency. The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the transactions settled in RMB. 

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, management 

of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign 

currency exposure should the need arise. 

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s major exposure to foreign currency risk was the 

cash and cash equivalents amounting to RMB34,656,000 (2022: RMB1,000) which were 

denominated in HK$. If HK$ had strengthened/weakened by 5% against the RMB with 

all other variables held constant, profit after income tax for the year would have been 

approximately RMB1,300,000 (2022: Nil) higher/lower mainly as a result of foreign exchange 

gains/losses on translation of HK$ denominated cash and cash equivalents.

ii. Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk is mainly attributable to its cash and cash equivalents, restricted 

cash at banks, loan receivables, borrowings, bonds payable, trade and other payables and 

lease liabilities. Financial assets and liabilities at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow 

interest rate risk. Financial assets and liabilities at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value 

interest rate risk. Details of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash at banks, 

loan receivables, borrowings, bonds payable, trade and other payables and lease liabilities 

have been disclosed in Notes 28, 27, 24, 33, 32 ,34 and 31 to the consolidated financial 

statements, respectively.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, if interest rates on cash and cash equivalents, restricted 

cash at banks, trade and other payables and bank borrowings that were subject to variable 

interest rates had been 10% higher/lower with all other variables held constant, profit after 

income tax for the year would have been approximately RMB832,000 higher/lower and 

RMB1,088,000 lower/higher respectively, mainly as a result of higher/lower net interest 

income/expense and cost of revenue being recognised/incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that a counterparty fails to or is unwilling to meet its obligations. Credit 

risk for the Group mainly arises from cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash at banks, financial 

assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), notes receivable, loan receivables, 

trade and other receivables etc.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk associated with cash at bank and restricted 

cash at bank, since they are deposited at state-owned banks and other medium or large size listed 

banks.

i. Credit risk management

Management has credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored 

on an ongoing basis. The Group has policies to monitor the credit exposure of trade 

receivables, loan receivables and other receivables. The Group assesses the credit quality of 

and sets credit limits on its customers by taking into account their financial position, the 

availability of guarantee from third parties, their credit history and other factors such as 

current market conditions. The credit history of the customers is regularly monitored by the 

Group. In respect of customers with a poor credit history, the Group will use written payment 

reminders, or shorten or cancel credit periods, to ensure the overall credit risk of the Group is 

limited to a controllable extent.

The Group’s loan receivables are mainly receivables generated from the sale and leaseback 

business. For such receivables, the Group performs standard credit management procedures, 

which include project due diligence and proposal submission, credit underwriting review and 

approval, disbursement, post-lending monitoring and management of non-performing finance 

lease receivables etc. The Group enhances its credit risk management by strictly complying with 

its credit management procedures; strengthening customer investigation, lending approval and 

post-lending monitoring measures; enhancing risk mitigation effect of loan receivables through 

obtaining collateral, security deposits and corporate or individual credit guarantee.

The Group writes off financial assets when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery with 

the indicators of bankruptcy, cancellation, revocation or closure of the debtor, and the debtor 

has no property enforced by the court.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

ii. Measurement of ECL

For financial instruments whose impairment losses are measured using the ECL models, 

the Group assesses whether their credit risk has increased significantly since their initial 

recognition, and applies a three-stage impairment model to calculate their impairment 

allowance and recognise their ECL, as follows:

– Stage 1: If the credit risk has not increased significantly since its initial recognition, the 

financial asset is included in stage 1, at which the Group only needs to measure 

ECL in the next 12 months.

– Stage 2: If the credit risk has increased significantly since its initial recognition but is not 

yet deemed to be credit-impaired, the financial instrument is moved to Stage 2, 

at which the Group needs to measure lifetime ECL.

– Stage 3: If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then 

moved to Stage 3, at which the Group needs to measure lifetime ECL.

Definition of credit-impaired assets

When financial instruments are credit-impaired, the Group defines them as in default. In 

general, financial assets that are more than 90 days past due are identified as in default.

The Group considers a financial instrument to be credit-impaired when one or more of the 

following criteria have been met:

– Principal (including advances, applies to below) or interest is more than 90 days past 

due;

– Issuer or obligor is in significant financial difficulty, or has already been insolvent;

– It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy;

– An active market for that financial asset has disappeared because of financial 

difficulties of issuers;

– Other objective evidence indicating impairment of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

ii. Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Judgement criteria for significant increase in credit risk

The Group considers a financial instrument to have experienced a significant increase in credit 

risk when one or more of the following criteria have been met:

– Principal or interest is more than 30 days past due;

– There are litigation or/and other significant adverse issues which have negative impact 

on obligator’s repayment ability.

Description of parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques

The Group recognises a loss allowance to different financial instruments at an amount equal 

to 12-month or lifetime expected credit loss based on whether there has been a significant 

increase in credit risk and whether the financial instrument is credit impaired. ECL is the result 

of discounted product of the weighted average of “probability of default (PD)”, “loss given 

default (LGD)”, “exposure at default (EAD)” under the three scenarios (i.e., optimistic scenario, 

basic scenario, and pessimistic scenario), which are defined as follows:

The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation, either 

over the next 12 months (12-month PD), or over the remaining lifetime (lifetime PD) of the 

obligation. The lifetime PD is developed by applying a maturity profile to the current 12-month 

PD. The maturity profile looks at how defaults develop on the portfolio from the point of initial 

recognition throughout the lifetime of the financial instruments. The maturity profile is based 

on historical observed data and is assumed to be the same across all assets within a portfolio 

and credit grade band. This is supported by historical analysis.

Loss Given Default (LGD) represents the Group’s expectation of the extent of loss on a 

defaulted exposure. LGD is expressed as a percentage loss per unit of exposure at the time of 

default (EAD). LGD is calculated on lifetime basis, where lifetime LGD is the percentage of loss 

expected to be made if the default occurs over the remaining expected lifetime of the loan.

EAD is based on the amounts the Group expects to be owed at the time of default, over the 

next 12 months (12-month EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD). The 12-month 

and lifetime EADs are determined based on the contractual repayments owned by the debtor 

over 12 or lifetime basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

ii. Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Description of parameters, assumptions and estimation techniques (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the 

Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to 

receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a finance 

lease receivable, the cash flows used for determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flows 

used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance with IFRS 16.

Lifetime ECL for loans receivables is considered on a collective basis taking into consideration 

past due information and relevant credit information such as forward looking macroeconomic 

information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following characteristics 

when formulating the grouping:

– past-due status;

– nature, size and industry of debtors.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group 

continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

For credit-impaired financial assets with individual amount that are relatively significant, 

expected credit losses are measured as the differences between the present value of estimated 

cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate and the asset’s gross carrying 

amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

ii. Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Forward-looking information

Both the assessment of significant increases in credit risk and the calculation of ECLs involve 

forward-looking information. Through analysis of historical data, the Group has identified 

key economic indicators that affect credit risk and ECLs of various business types. When 

considering forward-looking information, the indicators used in the model include gross 

domestic products, aggregate finance, industrial add value, producer price index, consumer 

price index, total retail sales of consumer goods, RMB Loan, M2 and purchasing manager’s 

index. The Group regularly predicts the performance of indicators under three economic 

scenarios. The forecasts are used in the asset’s impairment model. Basic scenario is defined 

as the most probable situation, which will become benchmark for other scenarios. Optimistic 

and pessimistic scenarios are possible scenarios which are better or worse than basic scenario 

respectively and can also become a source of sensitivity test. The Group comprehensively 

considers statistical analysis and expert judgement results to determine economic forecasts and 

weights under various scenarios. The weight of the basic scenario is the highest among the 

three scenarios. The Group measures the provision for impairment by weighted 12-month ECL 

(Stage 1) or weighted lifetime ECL (Stage 2 and Stage 3). The above weighted ECL is calculated 

by multiplying the ECL in each scenario by the weight of the corresponding scenario.

The impact of these economic indicators on PD and LGD varies from different business types. 

The Group considers internal and external data, expert forecasts and statistical analysis to 

determine the relationship between these economic indicators and PD and LGD.

Sensitivity analysis

If the optimistic weightings increase by 10% and the basic scenario decreased by 10%, the 

impact on the allowance of expected credit loss as of 31 December 2023 and 2022 would 

have been less than 1%, respectively. If the pessimistic weightings increase by 10% and the 

basic scenario decreased by 10%, the impact on the allowance of expected credit loss as of 31 

December 2023 and 2022 would have been less than 1%, respectively.

If key economic indicator gross domestic products changed by 10%, the impact on the 

allowance of expected credit as of 31 December 2023 and 2022 would have been less than 

2%, respectively.

The Group has several types of financial assets that are subject to the ECL model:
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

ii. Measurement of ECL (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide expected credit loss prescribed by IFRS 

Accounting Standards 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all 

trade receivables from third parties and related parties.

To measure the expected credit loss of trade receivables, trade receivables have been grouped 

based on shared credit risk characteristics and the aging dates. The expected loss rates are 

based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of five years and the corresponding 

historical credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted 

to reflect current and forward-looking information on macro economic factors affecting the 

ability of the debtors to settle the receivables.

The amounts of trade receivables as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables – related parties 314,398 212,869

Trade receivables – individually assessed third parties 66,372 48,206

Trade receivables – remaining third parties 483,467 351,356

864,237 612,431

Less

– allowance for impairment-related parties (528) (474)

– allowance for impairment-individually assessed third  

 parties (48,136) (3,720)

– allowance for impairment-remaining third parties (31,309) (26,659)

(79,973) (30,853)

Trade receivables – net 784,264 581,578
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

ii. Measurement of ECL (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables (Continued)

The ECL rate for trade receivables other than related parties and individually assessed third 

parties based on aging as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 is determined as follows:

Up to 3 

months

3 to 6 

months

6 to 9 

months

9 to 12 

months

Over 12 

months Total

Trade receivables

At 31 December 2023

Expected loss rate 1.92% 8.07% 29.28% 52.31% 100.00% 6.48%

Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) 437,351 24,226 461 1,275 20,154 483,467

Loss allowance provision (RMB’000) (8,398) (1,955) (135) (667) (20,154) (31,309)

At 31 December 2022

Expected loss rate 1.81% 5.13% 17.99% 34.89% 100.00% 7.59%

Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) 291,278 30,153 9,557 3,439 16,929 351,356

Loss allowance provision (RMB’000) (5,263) (1,548) (1,719) (1,200) (16,929) (26,659)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

ii. Measurement of ECL (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables (Continued)

The provision for trade receivables as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, and reconciles to the 

opening loss allowance for that provision as follows:

Provision for 

trade 

receivables

RMB’000

At 1 January 2022 16,675

Net provision for impairment of trade receivables recognised in profit or 

 loss (Note 21 (b)) 14,178

At 31 December 2022 30,853

Net provision for impairment of trade receivables recognised in profit or 

 loss (Note 21 (b)) 49,140

Written-off during the year as uncollectible (Note 21 (b)) (20)

At 31 December 2023 79,973

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery with the 

indicators of bankruptcy, cancellation, revocation or closure of the debtor, and the debtor has 

no property enforced by the court.

(ii) Financial assets at FVOCI

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all the financial assets at FVOCI were notes receivable and 

trade receivables in nature. For the financial assets at FVOCI, the Group applies the simplified 

approach to provide ECL prescribed by IFRS Accounting Standards 9, and the impact of ECL 

was assessed to be insignificant.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

ii. Measurement of ECL (Continued)

(iii) Notes receivable

For notes receivable, the Group applies the simplified approach to provide ECL prescribed by 

IFRS Accounting Standards 9, and the impact of ECL was assessed to be insignificant.

(iv) Other receivables

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether 

there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each 

reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group 

compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of 

default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive 

forwarding-looking information.

The Group accounts for the ECL of its financial assets on a timely basis. In calculating the ECL 

rates, the Group considers historical loss rates of other receivables and adjusts for forward-

looking macroeconomic data.

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Other receivables

At 31 December 2023

Expected loss rate 1.10% – 61.74% 14.26%

Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) 164,460 – 45,572 210,032

Loss allowance provision (RMB’000) (1,810) – (28,138) (29,948)

At 31 December 2022

Expected loss rate 0.77% – 58.11% 5.99%

Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) 401,920 – 40,233 442,153

Loss allowance provision (RMB’000) (3,092) – (23,380) (26,472)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

ii. Measurement of ECL (Continued)

(iv) Other receivables (Continued)

The provision for other receivables as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, and reconciles to the 

opening loss allowance for that provision as follows:

Provision for 

other 

receivables

RMB’000

At 1 January 2022 12,335

Provision of impairment of other receivables recognised in profit or loss 

 (Note 25 (c)) 14,137

At 31 December 2022 26,472

Provision of impairment of other receivables recognised in profit or loss 

 (Note 25 (c)) 3,476

At 31 December 2023 29,948

(v) Loan receivables

To measure the expected credit loss, loan receivables have been grouped based on shared 

credit risk characteristics and number of days past due.

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Loan receivables

At 31 December 2023

Expected loss rate 1.28% 21.62% 52.04% 7.62%

Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) 6,171,836 12,643 877,116 7,061,595

Loss allowance provision (RMB’000) (78,912) (2,755) (456,640) (538,307)

At 31 December 2022

Expected loss rate 1.58% 31.42% 45.39% 7.46%

Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) 5,561,818 118,174 787,895 6,467,887

Loss allowance provision (RMB’000) (87,751) (37,126) (357,613) (482,490)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

ii. Measurement of ECL (Continued)

(v) Loan receivables (Continued)

Movements of allowances for impairment losses on loan receivables are as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Amount as at 1 January 2022 77,877 53,557 300,535 431,969

Changes in the loss allowance:

 – Move to stage 1 4,191 (4,074) (117) –

 – Move to stage 2 (1,535) 1,587 (52) –

 – Move to stage 3 (3,367) (22,410) 25,777 –

 – Provision charged during the year (Note 24) 10,585 8,466 31,470 50,521

Amount as at 31 December 2022 87,751 37,126 357,613 482,490

Amount as at 1 January 2023 87,751 37,126 357,613 482,490

Changes in the loss allowance:

 – Move to stage 1 782 (706) (76) –

 – Move to stage 2 (140) 160 (20) –

 – Move to stage 3 (507) (4,273) 4,780 –

 – Provision charged during the year (Note 24) (8,974) (29,552) 102,458 63,932

 – Written-off during the year as 

  uncollectible (Note 24) – – (8,115) (8,115)

Amount as at 31 December 2023 78,912 2,755 456,640 538,307

Loan receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery with the 

indicators of bankruptcy, cancellation, revocation or closure of the debtor, and the debtor has 

no property enforced by the court.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the provision for loss allowances were 

recognised in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income in “net impairment losses 

on financial assets” in relation to impaired loan receivables.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

ii. Measurement of ECL (Continued)

(vi) Net impairment losses of financial assets recognised in profit or loss

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the following losses were recognised in 
profit or loss in relation to impaired financial assets:

Year ended 31 December
2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Impairment losses
– Loan receivables (63,932) (50,521)
– Trade receivables (49,140) (14,178)
– Other receivables (3,476) (14,137)

(116,548) (78,836)

iii Maximum exposure to credit risk

The table below shows the maximum credit risk exposure of the Group without consideration 
of the collateral and pledges:

As at 31 December
2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets at amortised cost
– Cash and cash equivalents (Note 28) 976,898 1,148,967
– Restricted bank deposits (Note 27) 46,337 16,158
– Notes receivable (Note 23) 71,128 319,084
– Trade receivables (Note 21) 784,264 581,578
– Other receivables (Note 25) 180,084 415,681
– Loan receivables (Note 24) 6,523,288 5,985,397

8,581,999 8,466,865

Financial assets at fair value
– Fair value through other comprehensive income 
 (FVOCI) (Note 22) 112,284 90,268

Total 8,694,283 8,557,133

The amounts of the credit risk exposures set out above are same as the carrying amounts as at 
31 December 2023 and 2022.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain sufficient cash and sources of funding through committed 

credit facility and maintain flexibility in funding by maintaining committed credit lines. To manage 

the liquidity risk, management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserve (comprising 

undrawn banking facilities) and cash and cash equivalents based on expected cash flows. As at 

31 December 2023, the Group’s unutilized bank facilities was RMB1,392,785,000. The Group 

expected to fund the future cash flow needs through internally generated cash flows from operations 

and borrowings from financial institutions.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will be settled on a gross basis into 

relevant maturity grouping based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual 

maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Less than 

1 year

Between 

1 and 2 years

Between 

2 and 5 years

Over 

5 years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 31 December 2023

Trade and other payables 1,765,498 125,554 28,114 – 1,919,166

Lease liabilities 18,693 5,178 4,493 860 29,224

Borrowings 2,749,951 567,289 – – 3,317,240

Bonds payable 620,805 – – – 620,805

5,154,947 698,021 32,607 860 5,886,435

At 31 December 2022

Trade and other payables 1,771,982 153,556 61,359 – 1,986,897

Lease liabilities 20,275 16,520 6,201 1,434 44,430

Borrowings 1,918,422 868,021 – – 2,786,443

Bonds payable 797,734 125,939 – – 923,673

4,508,413 1,164,036 67,560 1,434 5,741,443
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern and provide returns for shareholders. The Group manages its capital structure and 

makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the 

capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders s, return capital to 

shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided 

by total capital. Net debt is calculated as the total of “borrowings”, “lease liabilities”, “loan from related 

parties”, “loan from a third party” and “bonds payable” as shown in the consolidated statement of financial 

position less cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash at banks. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as 

shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus net debt.

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Borrowings (Note 33) 3,181,051 2,692,768

Add: Trade and other payables – loan from related parties (Note 34) 825,000 973,000

Add: Trade and other payables – loan from a third party (Note 34) 50,000 50,000

Add: Lease liabilities (Note 31) 27,791 41,749

Add: Bonds payable (Note 32) 610,741 908,486

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 28) (976,898) (1,148,967)

Less: Restricted cash at banks (Note 27) (46,337) (16,158)

Net debt 3,671,348 3,500,878

Total capital 6,990,633 6,836,427

Gearing ratio 53% 51%
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation

The Group adopts the amendment to IFRS Accounting Standards 7 for financial instruments that are 

measured in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value, which requires disclosure of fair 

value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

• Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as 

prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2); and

• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable 

inputs) (level 3).

An explanation of each level follows underneath the table.

As at 31 December 2023

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets at FVOCI

– Notes receivable – – 60,435 60,435

– Trade receivables – – 51,849 51,849

– – 112,284 112,284

As at 31 December 2022

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets at FVOCI

– Notes receivable – – 43,740 43,740

– Trade receivables – – 46,528 46,528

– – 90,268 90,268

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 there were no transfers between levels of fair value 

measurement hierarchy.



DEEWIN TIANXIA CO.,LTD154

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 items for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022:

Notes 

receivable

Trade 

receivables Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Opening balance as at 1 January 2022 337,178 29,842 367,020

Acquisitions 236,936 230,751 467,687

Disposals (529,584) (214,040) (743,624)

Losses recognised in other losses (790) (25) (815)

Closing balance as at 31 December 2022 43,740 46,528 90,268

Acquisitions 500,976 357,047 858,023

Disposals (483,852) (350,511) (834,363)

Losses recognised in other losses (429) (1,215) (1,644)

Closing balance as at 31 December 2023 60,435 51,849 112,284

Fair value of notes receivable and trade receivables (Note 22) are considered approximate to their carrying 

amount. The fair value change was insignificant. The higher the future cash flow, the higher the fair value; 

the lower the discount rate, the higher the fair value.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 

definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 

addressed below.

(i) Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables, loan receivables and other 

receivables, is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future 

economic conditions and credit behaviour (the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses). 

Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring ECL is further detailed 

in Note 3.1 (b) Credit risk.

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring 

ECL, such as:

• Segmentation of business operations sharing similar credit risk characteristics, selection of appropriate 

models and determination of relevant key measurement parameters;

• Determination of criteria for the identification of significant increase in credit risk and the definition 

of default;

• Selection of appropriate economic indicators, economic scenarios and weightings used in the forward-

looking measurement;

•  The estimated future cash flows for loan receivables in stage 3.

Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the Group in the above areas is set out in 

Note 3.1 (b) Credit risk.

(ii) Deferred income tax

A deferred income tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused deductible losses to the extent 

that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the deductible losses can be 

utilized. Future taxable profits include taxable profits that can be achieved through normal operations and 

the increase in taxable profits due to the reversal of taxable temporary differences arising from previous 

period in future period. The Group needs to apply estimates and judgement in determining the timing and 

amount of future taxable profits. If there is any difference between the actual and the estimates, adjustment 

may be made to the carrying amount of deferred income tax assets.



DEEWIN TIANXIA CO.,LTD156

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION, REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

5.1 Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”) has been identified as the executive directors of the Company, 

who review the Group’s consolidated results when making decisions about allocating resources and assessing 

performance. As a result of this evaluation, the Group determined that it has operating segments as follows:

– Logistics and supply chain service sector, which includes supply chain business, automobile sales 

business and after-market product business;

– Supply chain financial service sector, which includes financial leasing business and factoring business;

– Internet of Vehicle (IoV) and data service sector, which includes sale of Intelligent internet of vehicle 

(IoV) terminal products and provision of relevant data service business.

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments mainly based on segment revenues, segment 

gross profit and segment operating profit. The revenues from external customers reported to CODM are 

measured as segment revenues, which is the revenues derived from the customers in each segment. The 

segment gross profit is calculated as segment revenues minus segment cost of revenues. The segment 

operating profit is calculated as segment gross profit minus selling expenses, administrative expenses, 

research and development expenses, net impairment losses on financial assets, other income and “Other 

losses-net” associated with the respective segment.

Other information, together with the segment information, provided to the CODM, is measured in a manner 

consistent with that applied in these consolidated financial statements.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION, REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (Continued)

5.1 Segment information (Continued)

The segment results for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2023

Logistics 

and supply 

chain service

Supply 

chain 

financial 

service

Internet of 

Vehicle (IoV)

 and data 

service Unallocated Elimination Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue

Sales/provide services to 

 external customers

 – Sales of goods 351,520 – 157,382 – – 508,902

 – Logistics and warehousing service 2,072,905 – – – – 2,072,905

 – In terest income from financial 

leasing business – 363,511 – – – 363,511

 – In terest income from factoring 

service – 95,261 – – – 95,261

 – In ternet of Vehicle (IoV) and data 

service – – 71,375 – – 71,375

 – Others 6,738 746 – – – 7,484

Inter-segment sales/provide services 11,187 3,779 1,708 – (16,674) –

2,442,351 463,295 230,465 – (16,674) 3,119,437

Gross profit 131,345 269,098 92,715 – 22,255 515,413

Operating profit 28,411 159,567 38,752 159,267 (168,142) 217,855

Financial costs – net (29,721) 2,267 1,188 34,172 (21,799) (13,893)

Share of net profit of associate – – – 5,141 – 5,141
      

Profit before income tax (1,310) 161,834 39,940 198,580 (189,941) 209,103
      

Total assets 1,329,487 6,878,028 362,477 6,902,128 (6,267,292) 9,204,828
      

Total liabilities 1,247,768 4,916,611 217,307 3,300,771 (3,796,914) 5,885,543
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION, REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (Continued)

5.1 Segment information (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022

Logistics 

and supply 

chain service

Supply 

chain 

financial 

service

Internet of 

Vehicle 

(IoV) and 

data service Unallocated Elimination Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue

Sales/provide services to 

 external customers

 – Sales of goods 293,066 – 72,210 – – 365,276

 – Logistics and warehousing service 1,686,579 – – – – 1,686,579

 – In terest income from financial 

leasing business – 489,880 – – – 489,880

 – In terest income from factoring 

service – 80,394 – – – 80,394

 – In ternet of Vehicle (IoV) and data 

service – – 102,527 – – 102,527

 – Others 3,036 606 – – – 3,642

Inter-segment sales/provide services 20,502 8,391 418 – (29,311) –

2,003,183 579,271 175,155 – (29,311) 2,728,298

Gross profit 100,830 284,223 98,242 – 10,747 494,042

Operating profit 21,228 198,577 42,140 242,125 (229,724) 274,346

Financial costs – net (28,566) 6,102 4,332 (31,372) 49,278 (226)

Share of net profit of associate – – – 4,657 – 4,657
      

Profit before income tax (7,338) 204,679 46,472 215,410 (180,446) 278,777
      

Total assets 1,703,201 6,538,618 205,163 5,389,771 (4,664,100) 9,172,653
      

Total liabilities 1,659,665 4,577,943 145,295 1,818,479 (2,364,278) 5,837,104
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION, REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (Continued)

5.2 Revenue

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Recognised at a point in time

Sales of goods 508,902 365,276

Others 7,484 3,642

Recognised over time

Logistics and warehousing service 2,072,905 1,686,579

Sales-and-leaseback financing business 363,511 489,880

Interest income from factoring services 95,260 80,394

Internet of Vehicle (IoV) and data service 71,375 102,527

3,119,437 2,728,298

(a) Revenue from major customers that individually contributed 10% or above of the Group’s revenue is 

set out below:

Year ended 

31 December

Year ended 

31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Customer A 501,356 *

Customer B 402,267 *

Customer C * 288,330

Customer A and Customer C are third parties, and Customer B is a related party to the Group.

* The Group had sales with the customer and the sales did not contribute 10% or above of the 

Group’s revenue.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION, REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (Continued)

5.2 Revenue (Continued)

(b) Accounting policies on revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the goods or service is rendered to the customer. 

Depending on the terms of the contract and laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods and 

service may be transferred overtime or at a point in time.

Revenue is recognised when a performance obligation is satisfied by transferring control of the 

promised products or services to a customer in an amount that reflects the consideration expected 

to be collected in exchange for those products or services. The revenue recognition of the Group is 

determined through the following five steps:

(i) Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer;

(ii) Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

(iii) Determination of the transaction price;

(iv) Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract;

(v) Recognition of revenue when, or as, a performance obligation is satisfied.

At contract inception, the Group carries out the assessment and the identification of a performance 

obligation for each promise to transfer to the customer a product or a service (or bundle of products 

or services) that is distinct. To identify the performance obligations, the Group considers all the goods 

and services promised in the contract with the customer based on the Group’s customary business 

practices, published policies, or specific statements.

The Group determines whether control of a product or a service is transferred to a customer over 

time or at a point in time based on the analysis of the following three criteria. Revenue is recognised 

over time if any of such criteria are met that the Group:

• Provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the customer; or

• Creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group perform; or

• Does not create an asset with an alternative use of the Group and the Group has an 

enforceable right to request payment for performance completed to date.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION, REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (Continued)

5.2 Revenue (Continued)

(b) Accounting policies on revenue recognition (Continued)

A performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time if none of the above criteria for satisfying a 

performance obligation over time are met.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group presents the contract in the statement of 

financial position as a contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the relationship between the 

Group’s performance and the customer’s payment.

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for a product or a service that the 

Group has transferred to a customer. Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contact, if recoverable, 

are capitalized and presented as assets and subsequently amortized when the related revenue is 

recognised.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an amount of consideration that is 

unconditional, before the Group transfers a product or a service to the customer, the Group presents 

the contract as a contract liability when the payment is received or a receivable is recorded (whichever 

is earlier). A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer a product or a service to a customer 

for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the 

customer.

The application of the Group’s revenue recognition policies and a description of the principal 

activities, organized by segment, from which the Group generate its revenue, are presented below.

i. Sales of good

The Group sells commercial vehicles and spare parts to customers. Customers include 

distributors, transport companies and individual users. Revenue from sales of goods is 

recognised when control of the products are transferred at a point in time to its customers, 

that is when the products are delivered and accepted by the customers, the customers have 

full discretion over the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the 

customer’s acceptance of the products.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION, REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (Continued)

5.2 Revenue (Continued)

(b) Accounting policies on revenue recognition (Continued)

ii. Logistics and warehousing service

The Group generated logistics and warehousing service revenue from the provision of logistics 

and warehousing service to customers. The Group recognises logistics and warehousing service 

revenue over time in the period in which its customers simultaneously receive and consume 

the benefits provided by the logistics and warehousing service as specified in logistics service 

contract.

iii. Financial leasing business

The Group provides financial leasing service to end customers and commercial vehicles dealers 

through sale and leaseback arrangement. The transaction is in substance a collateral financing 

and revenue is recognised over the lease period using the effective interest rate method.

iv. Interest income from factoring business

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the effective interest method using the rate 

that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life 

of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. For financial assets 

measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied 

to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 

interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) 

of the asset.

v. Internet of Vehicle (IoV) and data service

The Group provides Internet of Vehicle (IoV) and data service to customers based on the data 

of commercial vehicles generated from intelligent internet of vehicle (IoV) terminal products 

pre-installed in commercial vehicles. The Group use sensing and tracking technology to collect 

IoV data of commercial vehicles, in particular the data of commercial vehicles operation, 

driving behaviour of drivers, location and other types of tracking information, and provide 

relevant services to various customers. The Group recognises commercial vehicles operating 

data service revenue over time when its customers simultaneously receive and consume the 

benefits as specified in the service contract.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION, REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (Continued)

5.2 Revenue (Continued)

(c) Contract liabilities

The Group has recognised the following revenue-related contract liabilities:

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Contract liabilities

Sales of goods 8,971 5,650

Logistics and warehousing service 3,845 67,607

Internet of Vehicle (IoV) and data service 61,881 72,589

74,697 145,846

Less: non-current portion (16,158) (18,568)

Current portion 58,539 127,278

Contract liabilities represented advanced payments received from customers for goods or services that 

have not yet been delivered to the customers. The following table shows the amount of the revenue 

recognised in the respective year related to brought-forward contract liabilities:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liabilities 

 balance at the beginning of the year

Sales of goods 5,650 27,869

Logistics and warehousing service 67,607 6,304

Internet of Vehicle (IoV) and data service 54,021 94,094

127,278 128,267
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION, REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (Continued)

5.2 Revenue (Continued)

Transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied long-term performance obligations is as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to 

 contracts that are partially or fully unsatisfied

Internet of Vehicle (IoV) and data service 61,881 72,589

The above remaining performance obligations are mainly related to the contract of Internet of Vehicle 

(IoV) and data service. Management expects that the unsatisfied obligations of RMB45,723,000 

(2022: RMB54,021,000) as at 31 December 2023 will be recognised as revenue within next one year. The 

remaining will be recognised in one to two years.

5.3 Other income

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Government subsidy income

– Income related 16,641 64,747

– Assets related (Note 35) 10,490 3,988

27,131 68,735

Government subsidy income mainly represented subsidies received from the PRC government authorities for 

subsidising the Group’s general operation, research and development activities.

6 OTHER LOSSES – NET

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Losses on notes receivable discounted (1,644) (815)

Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment (173) (34)

Others 1,445 172

(372) (677)
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7 EXPENSES BY NATURE

Below represents breakdown and total of cost of revenue, selling expenses, administrative expenses and research 

and development expenses.

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Transportation expenses 1,705,256 1,387,936

Purchase cost of commercial vehicles 265,972 208,121

Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) 258,306 244,606

Raw materials and purchased goods consumed 204,068 139,219

Funding cost 149,730 253,107

Outsourced labour costs 79,599 39,812

Lease expenses 27,053 19,529

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 14) 20,622 18,464

Amortisation of right-of-use assets (Note 13) 20,103 29,696

Network traffic cost 14,780 18,724

Office expenses 10,888 9,535

Travelling expenses 10,711 7,793

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16) 8,270 5,628

Taxes and levies 8,106 6,858

Utilities and electricity 5,384 4,542

Auditor’s remuneration 3,373 3,483

– Audit services 3,000 3,000

– Non-audit services 373 483

Maintenance expenses 2,051 3,393

Provision for impairment of inventory (Note 19) 1,291 2,709

Amortisation of investment properties (Note 15) 266 266

Listing expenses – 3,668

Miscellaneous 15,964 36,085

Total 2,811,793 2,443,174
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8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING DIRECTORS AND SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS)

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Wages, salaries and bonuses 180,059 167,394

Pension costs (a) 30,133 31,452

Housing funds, medical insurances and other social insurances (b) 29,786 32,752

Other benefits 18,328 13,008

258,306 244,606

(a) As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement schemes for its employees in 
the PRC. The Group’s employees make monthly contributions to the schemes from 8% to 10% of the relevant income (comprising 
wages, salaries, allowances and bonus, and subject to maximum caps), while the Group contributes 16% to 20% of such relevant 
expenses, subject to certain ceiling and has no further obligations for the actual payment of post-retirement benefits beyond the 
contributions. The state-sponsored retirement schemes are responsible for the entire post-retirement benefit obligations payable to 
the retired employees.

(b) Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate in various government-supervised housing fund, medical insurance 
and other employee social insurance plan. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to these funds based on approximately 18% of 
the salaries of the employees, subject to certain ceiling. The Group’s liability in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions 
paid/payable in each year.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.
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9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments

Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments are set out as follows:

Employer’s contribution to

Fees Salaries Bonus

Contributions 

to retirement 

benefits and 

other social 

security costs

Employee 

share schemes 

– value of 

employee 

services Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Year ended 31 December 2023

Executive directors

Mr. Wang Runliang (i) – 537 – 143 – 680

Mr. Wang Wenqi (ii) – 431 – 115 – 546

Non-executive directors

Mr. Guo Wancai (iii) – – – – – –

Mr. TianQiang (iv) – – – – – –

Mr. Zhao Chengjun (v) – – – – – –

Ms. Feng Min (vi) – 221 – 100 – 321

Mr. Li Gang (vii) – 80 – – – 80

Mr. Ip Wing Wai (viii) – 120 – – – 120

Mr. Yu Qiang (ix) – 80 – – – 80

Mr. Wang Jianbin (xiii) – – – – – –

Mr. Zhou Qi (xiv) – – – – – –

Supervisors

Mr. Zhang Yuan (x) – – – – – –

Mr. Qin Xiaohui (xi) – 337 – 99 – 436

Mr. Zhang Shaojie (xii) – – – – – –

Mr. Wang Jingan (xv) – – – – – –

– 1,806 – 457 – 2,263
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9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments are set out as follows (Continued):

Employer’s contribution to

Fees Salaries Bonus

Contributions 

to retirement 

benefits and 

other social 

security costs

Employee 

share schemes 

– value of 

employee 

services Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Year ended 31 December 2022

Executive directors

Mr. Wang Runliang (i) – 535 – 134 – 669

Mr. Wang Wenqi (ii) – 424 – 100 – 524

Non-executive directors

Mr. Guo Wancai (iii) – – – – – –

Mr. Wang Jianbin (xiii) – – – – – –

Mr. Zhou Qi (xiv) – – – – – –

Mr. Li Gang (vii) – 80 – – – 80

Mr. Yu Qiang (ix) – 80 – – – 80

Mr. Ip Wing Wai (viii) – 120 – – – 120

Ms. Feng Min (vi) – 253 – 106 – 359

Supervisors

Mr. Wang Jingan (xv) – – – – – –

Mr. Qin Xiaohui (xi) – 340 – 105 – 445

Mr. Zhang Yuan (x) – – – – – –

– 1,832 – 445 – 2,277
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9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments (Continued)
(i) Mr. Wang Runliang was appointed as a director of the Company on 15 April 2019. Mr. Wang was also appointed as the 

general manager of the Company since January 2019.

(ii) Mr. Wang Wenqi was appointed as director and vice general manager of the Company on 25 December 2020. Mr. Wang 
also served as the general manager of Shaanxi Tonghui Automobile Logistics Co., Ltd (陝西通匯汽車物流有限公司,”SXTH”) 
from January 2017 to December 2020 and chairman of SXTH since April 2019.

(iii) Mr. Guo Wancai was appointed as the chairman of the Company on 17 July 2020. Since August 2019, Mr. Guo has been 
serving as a chief accountant of SAHG. From July 2020 to March 2021, Mr. Guo served as a director of Shaanxi Automobile. 
From July 2020 to date, he serves as the general accountant of Shaanxi Automobile.

(iv) Mr.Tian Qiang was appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company on 30 May 2023. Since January 2023, he 
has served as the director of commercial vehicles department of SXAG, and director and general manager of Shaanxi 
Automobile Group Commercial Vehicle Co., Ltd (陝汽集團商用車有限公司, “SAGCV”).

(v) Mr. Zhao Chengjun was appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company on 30 May 2023. Since January 2022, he 
has served as the sales director of Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile Co., Ltd (陝西重型汽車有限公司,”SXHDA”) and general 
manager of the sales company.

(vi) Ms. Feng Min was appointed as a director of the Company on 27 August 2021. Ms. Feng was also appointed as the general 
manager of the finance department of the Company since January 2017.

(vii) Mr. Li Gang was appointed as an independent director of the Company on 25 December 2020.

(viii) Mr. Ip Wing Wai was appointed as an independent director of the Company on 25 December 2020.

(ix) Mr. Yu Qiang was appointed as an independent director of the Company on 25 December 2020.

(x) Mr. Zhang Yu’an was appointed as the chairman of the Board of supervisor of the Company on 25 December 2020. Since 
January 2016 to date of this Historical Financial Information, Mr. Zhang has been serving as director of investment and 
capital operations, and director of the investment securities department (renamed as investment management department) 
of SXAG.Since May 2023, he has served as the secretary of the board of directors of SAHG and the secretary of the board 
of directors of SXAG.

(xi) Mr. Qin Xiaohui was appointed as a supervisor of the Company on 11 August 2016. From February 2018 to February 2021, 
Mr. Qin has been serving as the chairman of the labour union, director of the integrated management department of the 
Company. Since March 2021, Mr. Qin has been serving as the chairman of the labour union and the director of the general 
manager office.

(xii) Mr. Zhang Shaojie was appointed as a supervisor of the Company on 30 May 2023. From January 2013 to January 2017, 
he served as the general manager of SXTH. From January 2017 to February 2021, he served as the General Manager of 
Shaanxi Huazhen Industry and Trade Service Co., Ltd (陝西華臻工貿服務有限公司). Since February 2021, he has served as 
the Director of the Financial Management Department of SAHG.

(xiii) Mr. Wang Jianbin served as general manager of the Company from December 2014 to January 2019 and was a director of 
the Company from 15 April 2019 to 30 May 2023.

(xiv) Mr. Zhou Qi was a director of the Company from 10 September 2020 to 30 May 2023.

(xv) Mr. Wang Jing’an was a supervisor of the Company from 5 June 2016 to 30 May 2023.
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9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments (Continued)

In addition to the directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments as disclosed above, certain directors and 

supervisors of the Company who are also directors or management of the parent company (i.e. SXAG) and 

certain fellow subsidiaries received emoluments from the parent company and different related companies 

during the years ended 31 December 2023, part of which are in respect of their services rendered to the 

Group. No apportionment has been made as the directors and supervisors of the Company consider that it 

is impractical to apportion the emoluments between their service rendered to the Group and their services 

rendered to the parent company and the respective fellow subsidiaries.

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits

There are no director’s retirement benefits operated by the Group.

(c) Directors’ termination benefits

There are no directors’ termination benefits operated by the Group.

(d) For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no consideration was provided to third parties for making 

available directors’ service.

(e) For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there was no loan, quasi-loan and other dealing in favour 

of directors, bodies corporate controlled by or entities connected with directors.

(f) No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the 

Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or 

indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(g) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group included 2 and 1 directors for the 

years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, respectively, whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis 

shown in Note 9(a). The emoluments payable to the remaining 3 and 4 highest paid individuals are as 

follows:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Wages, salaries and bonuses 1,315 1,795

Pension and other social benefits 342 535

1,657 2,330
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9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(g) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

Emoluments bands (in RMB)

RMB500,000-RMB1,000,000 3 4

10 FINANCE COSTS – NET

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest income:

– bank deposits 29,491 16,651

– foreign exchange income – 14,491

Total finance income 29,491 31,142

Interest expenses:

– bank borrowings (38,864) (30,061)

– foreign exchange losses (2,865) –

– lease liabilities (1,580) (1,158)

– unwinding cost of early retirement obligation (75) (149)

Total finance costs (43,384) (31,368)

Finance costs -net (13,893) (226)
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11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amounts of income tax expense charged to profit or loss represented:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current income tax 65,955 75,344

Deferred income tax (Note 17) (8,102) (16,602)

Income tax expense 57,853 58,742

(a) Under the Law of the PRC on Corporate Income Tax (the “CIT Law”) and implementation regulations of the 

CIT Law, the statutory corporate income tax rate in the PRC is 25% from 1 January 2008. The income tax 

rate of 25% is applicable to all of the Group’s subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2023 and 

2022, except for Shaanxi Tianxingjian IoV Information Technology Co., Ltd, Xinjiang Fargo Supply Chain 

Management Co., Ltd and SXTH which enjoy a preferential income tax rate of 15% according to the polices 

of Western Area Development for the years ended 31 December 2023. Shaanxi Huazhen Logistics Co., Ltd 

has applied the Small-Scaled Minimal Profit Corporate Income Tax Preferential Policy announced by the PRC’s 

State Administration of Taxation, pursuant to the policy, the portion of annual taxable income amount of a 

Small-Scaled Minimal Profit Corporate which does not exceed RMB1,000,000 shall be computed at a reduced 

rate of 25% as taxable income amount, and shall be levied at a reduced tax rate of 20%.

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before income tax 209,103 278,777

Tax calculated at applicable corporate income tax rate of 25% 52,276 69,694

Tax effect of:

Effects of preferential tax rates (7,375) (7,350)

Additional deduction of research and development expenses (3,978) (4,121)

Additional expenses allowable for tax deduction – (4,230)

Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes 12,252 3,503

Utilisation of tax loss of previous years upon which no 

 deferred tax assets recognised (558) (2,657)

Tax losses upon which no deferred tax assets recognised 5,236 3,903

Income tax expense 57,853 58,742
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11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(b) Tax losses

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised 37,308 41,612

Potential tax benefit 9,327 9,980

The unused tax losses were incurred by the Company and its subsidiaries that are not likely to generate 

taxable income in the foreseeable future. See Note 17 for information about tax losses that deferred income 

tax is recognised.

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the shareholders of the 

Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares issued or deemed to be issued for the year 

ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company (RMB’000) 149,257 226,412

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue in thousands 2,220,893 1,906,819

Basic earnings per share (RMB) 0.07 0.12

(b) The diluted earnings per share are the same as the basic earnings per share as there was no dilutive potential 

share for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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13 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
The Group’s interests in right-of-use assets represented land use rights and leased buildings located in the PRC, the 
net book values of which are analysed as follows:

Land use 
right

Leased 
buildings Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Year ended 31 December 2022
Opening net book amount 10,803 51,344 62,147
Additions – 25,217 25,217
Transfer to investment properties (8,299) – (8,299)
Disposals – (1,478) (1,478)
Amortization (Note 7) (81) (29,615) (29,696)

Closing net book amount 2,423 45,468 47,891

As at 31 December 2022
Cost 5,566 148,052 153,618
Accumulated amortization (3,143) (102,584) (105,727)

Net book amount 2,423 45,468 47,891

Year ended 31 December 2023
Opening net book amount 2,423 45,468 47,891
Additions – 5,385 5,385
Amortization (Note 7) (81) (20,022) (20,103)

Closing net book amount 2,342 30,831 33,173

As at 31 December 2023
Cost 5,566 153,437 159,003
Accumulated amortization (3,224) (122,606) (125,830)

Net book amount 2,342 30,831 33,173

Amortisation of right-of-use assets has been charged to profit or loss (Note 7) as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost of revenue 12,967 22,903
Administrative expenses 4,617 4,659
Research and development expenses 2,519 2,134

20,103 29,696
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings 
and 

facilities

Machinery 
and 

equipment
Motor 

vehicles
Electronic 

equipment
Leasehold 

improvement
Construction 

in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 2022
Cost 64,566 9,916 47,097 41,117 14,315 607 177,618
Accumulated depreciation (20,605) (3,304) (28,510) (24,320) (7,687) – (84,426)
Impairment – – (14) – – – (14)

Net book value 43,961 6,612 18,573 16,797 6,628 607 93,178

Year ended 31 December 
 2022
Opening net book value 43,961 6,612 18,573 16,797 6,628 607 93,178
Additions – 8 539 1,305 7,633 15,178 24,663
Transfer – – 64 – 3,204 (3,268) –
Disposals – (7) (157) (43) – – (207)
Depreciation (Note 7) (2,195) (884) (4,252) (7,652) (3,481) – (18,464)

Closing net book value 41,766 5,729 14,767 10,407 13,984 12,517 99,170

As at 31 December 2022
Cost 64,566 9,849 44,749 40,866 25,152 12,517 197,699
Accumulated depreciation (22,800) (4,120) (29,968) (30,459) (11,168) – (98,515)
Impairment – – (14) – – – (14)

Net book value 41,766 5,729 14,767 10,407 13,984 12,517 99,170

Year ended 31 December 
 2023
Opening net book value 41,766 5,729 14,767 10,407 13,984 12,517 99,170
Additions – 189 2,930 4,489 26,221 10,086 43,915
Transfer – 2,215 – – 5,705 (16,762) (8,842)
Disposals (22) – (247) (31) – – (300)
Depreciation (Note 7) (1,608) (881) (3,995) (6,247) (7,891) – (20,622)

Closing net book value 40,136 7,252 13,455 8,618 38,019 5,841 113,321

As at 31 December 2023
Cost 64,539 12,253 44,858 44,486 57,078 5,841 229,055
Accumulated depreciation (24,403) (5,001) (31,389) (35,868) (19,059) – (115,720)
Impairment – – (14) – – – (14)

Net book value 40,136 7,252 13,455 8,618 38,019 5,841 113,321
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been charged to profit or loss (Note 7) as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost of revenue 13,480 9,664
Research and development expenses 3,284 4,286
Administrative expenses 2,939 3,627
Selling expenses 919 887

20,622 18,464

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Land use right
RMB’000

Year ended 31 December 2022
Opening net book value –
Transfer from right-of-use assets – at cost 8,299
Amortisation (Note 7) (266)

Closing net book value 8,033

As at 31 December 2022
Cost 8,299
Accumulated amortisation (266)

Net book value 8,033

Fair value at end of the year 26,615

Year ended 31 December 2023
Opening net book value 8,033
Amortisation (Note 7) (266)

Closing net book value 7,767

As at 31 December 2023
Cost 8,299
Accumulated amortisation (532)

Net book value 7,767

Fair value at end of the year 27,704

The investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation. The investment properties are located in 
Weinan, Shaanxi Province, and the fair value of which, as at 31 December 2023, for disclosure purpose, was derived 
using the comparison approach with reference to comparable market transactions.
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Softwares

RMB’000

As at 1 January 2022

Cost 38,667

Accumulated amortisation (15,811)

Net book value 22,856

Year ended 31 December 2022

Opening net book value 22,856

Additions 15,322

Amortisation (Note 7) (5,628)

Closing net book value 32,550

As at 31 December 2022

Cost 53,989

Accumulated amortisation (21,439)

Net book value 32,550

Year ended 31 December 2023

Opening net book value 32,550

Additions 18,878

Transfer from Construction in progress 8,842

Amortisation (Note 7) (8,270)

Closing net book value 52,000

As at 31 December 2023

Cost 81,709

Accumulated amortisation (29,709)

Net book value 52,000
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets has been charged to profit or loss (Note 7) as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Research and development expenses 3,216 2,071

Administrative expenses 2,564 1,813

Cost of revenue 1,965 1,225

Selling expenses 525 519

8,270 5,628

17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred income tax assets:

– to be realised within 12 months 125,260 104,254

– to be realised after more than 12 months 39,759 54,982

165,019 159,236

Deferred income tax liabilities:

– to be realised within 12 months 2,804 3,162

– to be realised after more than 12 months 1,813 3,774

4,617 6,936

Net deferred income tax assets: 160,402 152,300
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17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS (Continued)

Movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, without 

taking into consideration the offsetting of balance within the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets

Provision for 

impairment 

of receivables

Deferred 

income from 

government 

grants

Accrued 

expenses

Deductible 

tax losses

Impairment 

of property, 

plant and 

equipment

Impairment 

of inventory

Lease 

liability Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 2022 115,243 1,026 929 17,596 4 953 – 135,751

Year ended 31 December 2022

Credited/(charged) to profit or loss 19,534 356 (555) (2,559) – 96 6,613 23,485

As at 31 December 2022 134,777 1,382 374 15,037 4 1,049 6,613 159,236

Year ended 31 December 2023

Credited/(charged) to profit or loss 20,954 (677) 209 (11,609) – (956) (2,138) 5,783

As at 31 December 2023 155,731 705 583 3,428 4 93 4,475 165,019

Deferred income tax liabilities

Accelerated 

depreciation

Right-of-use 

assets Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 2022 53 – 53

Year ended 31 December 2022

Charged/(credited) to profit or loss (53) 6,936 6,883

As at 31 December 2022 – 6,936 6,936

Year ended 31 December 2023

Credited to profit or loss – (2,319) (2,319)

As at 31 December 2023 – 4,617 4,617
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18 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Share of net assets:

Beginning of the year 9,157 9,623

Share of profits 5,141 4,657

Dividends declared (4,657) (5,123)

End of the year 9,641 9,157

Set out below are the particulars of the associate as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Place of 

incorporation 

and operation Principal activities Equity interest held

As at 31 December

2023 2022

Meixin Insurance Brokers 

 (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. 

 (“MXIB”) PRC Insurance brokerage business 30% 30%

The directors of the Company considered that the associate as at 31 December 2023 was insignificant to the Group 

and thus a summary of financial information of the associate was not disclosed.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, there was no significant contingent liability and commitment relating to the 

Group’s interest in the associate.
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19 INVENTORIES

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost:

Commercial vehicles and electric vehicle charging and battery swap 

 infrastructure 42,400 113,945

Intelligent internet of vehicle (IoV) terminal products 1,330 2,520

Spare parts 595 928

44,325 117,393

Provision for impairment loss:

Commercial vehicles (428) (4,195)

Inventories – net 43,897 113,198

Movement in the provision for impairment of inventories is as follow:

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Beginning of the year 4,195 3,812

Provision for impairment: 1,291 2,709

Written-off of impairment: (5,058) (2,326)

End of the year 428 4,195

The cost of inventories recognised as cost of revenue amounted to approximately RMB470,040,000 and 

RMB 347,340,000 for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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20 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets per consolidated statement of financial position

Financial assets at amortized cost

– Trade receivables (Note 21) 784,264 581,578

– Other receivables (Note 25) 180,084 415,681

– Notes receivable (Note 23) 71,128 319,084

– Loan receivables (Note 24) 6,523,288 5,985,397

– Restricted bank deposits (Note 27) 46,337 16,158

– Cash and cash equivalents (Note 28) 976,898 1,148,967

8,581,999 8,466,865

Financial assets at fair value

– Fair value of comprehensive income (FVOCI) (Note 22) 112,284 90,268

Total 8,694,283 8,557,133

Liabilities per consolidated statements of financial position

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost

– Lease liabilities (Note 31) 27,791 41,749

– Borrowings (Note 33) 3,181,051 2,692,768

– Bonds payable (Note 32) 610,741 908,486

– Trade and other payables (not including staff salaries and welfare payables, 

 early retirement benefits payables, and accrued taxes other than income tax) 

 (Note 34) 1,901,373 1,958,002

5,720,850 5,601,005
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21 TRADE RECEIVABLES

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables – related parties (Note 39(c)(i)) 314,398 212,869

Trade receivables – individually assessed third parties 66,372 48,434

Trade receivables – third parties 483,467 351,128

864,237 612,431

Less: allowance for impairment (79,973) (30,853)

Trade receivables – net 784,264 581,578

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair values of trade receivables of the Group approximated their carrying 

amounts.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all the carrying amounts of trade receivables were denominated in RMB.

Aging analysis of trade receivables at the respective balance sheet dates, based on the transaction date, are as 

follows:

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 801,582 572,182

One year to two years 29,344 32,658

Two years to three years 26,303 508

Over three years 7,008 7,083

864,237 612,431

The Group did not hold any collateral as security over these trade receivables.

The assessment of expected credit loss of trade receivables is set out in Note 3.3(b).
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22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVOCI

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Notes receivable 60,435 43,740

Trade receivables 51,849 46,528

112,284 90,268

As at 31 December 2023, all the financial assets at FVOCI were notes receivable and trade receivables in nature, the 

impact of expected credit loss of these assets was assessed to be insignificant.

As at 31 December 2023, RMB50,018,000 of trade receivables recognised as financial assets at FVOCI were 

receivables from related parties, and RMB1,831,000 was from third parties. The Group intends to either hold the 

notes receivable and trade receivables to maturity for cash collection or transfer to suppliers as settlement of its 

purchases of goods. Considering these financial assets are held by the Group for both collection of contractual 

cash flows and selling of the related financial assets, the Group has accounted for such notes receivable and trade 

receivables as financial assets at FVOCI.

23 NOTES RECEIVABLE

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Notes receivable – related parties (Note 39(c)(i)) 32,214 15,395

Notes receivable – third parties 38,914 303,689

71,128 319,084

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has endorsed or discounted notes receivable with carrying 

amount of RMB54,870,000 (2022: RMB306,534,000), which shall not be derecognised.

As at 31 December 2023, notes receivable of RMB2,100,000 (2022: RMB64,985,000) were pledged for the Group’s 

short-term borrowings (Note 33).

In the opinion of management, the Group has retained the substantial risk and rewards, and accordingly continue to 

recognise the full carrying amounts of notes receivable as at 31 December 2023.

Notes receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for 

impairment. The impact of expected credit loss of notes receivable was assessed to be insignificant.
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24 LOAN RECEIVABLES

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Loan receivables

Financial leasing business

– Leased vehicle 3,359,803 3,990,236

– Leased non-vehicle assets 2,131,912 1,544,772

Factoring service 1,569,880 932,879

7,061,595 6,467,887

Less: expected credit impairment allowance

Financial leasing business (385,192) (367,956)

Factoring service (153,115) (114,534)
  

(538,307) (482,490)

Loan receivables – net 6,523,288 5,985,397

Less: non-current portion

– Financial leasing business (1,808,120) (1,914,548)
  

Current portion 4,715,168 4,070,849
  

As at 31 December 2023, loan receivables of approximately RMB4,889,200,000 (2022: RMB4,227,982,000) were 

secured by the leased assets owned by lessees with original cost of approximately RMB9,133,059,000 (2022: 

RMB10,813,702,000).

As at 31 December 2023, loan receivables of RMB643,523,000 (2022: RMB228,550,000) were pledged for bank 

borrowings.



DEEWIN TIANXIA CO.,LTD186

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

24 LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, loan receivables of RMB125,428,000 (2022: RMB1,433,797,000) were pledged for other 

borrowings of RMB39,996,000 (2022: RMB835,146,000) (Note 33).

As at 31 December 2023, loan receivables of RMB859,898,000 (2022: RMB1,118,846,000) were transferred out but 

not derecognised under the Group’s asset-backed security program.

As at 31 December 2023, loan receivables of RMB30,523,000 (2022: Nil) were pledged for notes payable of 

RMB33,000,000 (2022: Nil) (Note 34).

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair values of loan receivables of the Group approximated their carrying 

amounts.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of loan receivables were all denominated in RMB.

The Group’s loan receivable activities and how these are accounted for

The Group provides financial services including sales-and-lease back financing business and factoring service. For the 

Financial leasing business, the Group provides heavy-duty trucks and commercial vehicles financial leasing service to 

individual customers and commercial vehicles dealers and provides other machinery and equipment financial leasing 

service to other companies through model of sales and leaseback. 

Loan receivables are amounts due from customers in relation to financial service performed. If collection of loan 

receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are 

classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Loan receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for 

impairment. See Note 42.9 for further information about the Group’s accounting policies for loan receivables.
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25 OTHER RECEIVABLES

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Other receivables – related parties (Note 39(c)(ii)) 13,781 125,300

Other receivables – third parties 196,251 316,853

210,032 442,153

Less: Provision for impairment (29,948) (26,472)

Other receivables – net 180,084 415,681

Less: Non-current portion – (11,131)

Current portion 180,084 404,550

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair value of other receivables of the Group approximated their carrying 

amounts.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all the carrying amounts of other receivables were denominated in RMB.

The aging analysis of other receivables at the respective balance sheet dates, based on the transaction date, is as 

follows:

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 89,806 276,455

One year to two years 60,894 154,974

Two years to three years 51,810 4,034

Over three years 7,522 6,690

210,032 442,153

The Group did not hold any collateral as security over these debtors.
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25 OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Details of other receivables as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current

Lease deposits (i) – 12,747

Non-current subtotal – 12,747

Current

Receivables from related parties (Note 39(c)(ii)) 13,781 125,300

Advances for bulk commodity purchase price on behalf of customers 156,855 122,889

Lease deposits (i) 13,781 140,938

Other deposits 17,038 13,932

Interest receivable – 2,305

Others 8,577 24,042

Current subtotal 210,032 429,406

Total 210,032 442,153

(i) Lease deposits were the deposits placed with third parties to obtain loans in sub-lease arrangements.
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26 PREPAYMENTS

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepayments for goods and services 90,344 153,221

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all the carrying amounts of prepayments were denominated in RMB.

27 RESTRICTED CASH AT BANKS

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Restricted cash at banks 46,337 16,158

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the breakdown of restricted cash at banks are as follow:

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Deposits for the issuance of notes payable 42,270 12,719

Restricted by court due to business disputes 4,067 –

Deposits for the issuance of bank borrowings – 3,439

46,337 16,158

28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash at banks and on hand 976,898 1,148,967
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29 SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES

Share capital

As at 31 December

2023 2022

Registered, issued and fully paid

Number of shares (shares) 2,236,042,500 2,236,042,500

Share capital (in RMB) 2,236,042,500 2,236,042,500

Treasury shares

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company repurchased 38,721,000 its own shares with 

RMB70,559,000 from the market, and none of those shares have been cancelled as at 31 December 2023. The 

shares were repurchased at prices ranging from HKD1.83 to HKD2.20 per share, with an average price of HKD2.08 

per share.

30 OTHER RESERVES

Capital 

surplus

Statutory 

reserves (a)

Safety 

fund (b) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 2022 475,108 34,905 5,615 515,628

Initial public offering issue of H Shares 261,751 – – 261,751

Appropriation of statutory reserves – 21,541 – 21,541

Appropriation of safety fund – – 4,477 4,477

Utilisation of safety fund – – (807) (807)

As at 31 December 2022 736,859 56,446 9,285 802,590

As at 1 January 2023 736,859 56,446 9,285 802,590

Appropriation of statutory reserves – 19,758 – 19,758

Appropriation of safety fund – – 29 29

Utilisation of safety fund – – (2,124) (2,124)

As at 31 December 2023 736,859 76,204 7,190 820,253
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30 OTHER RESERVES (Continued)

(a) Statutory reserves

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles of association of the PRC companies of the Group 

(the “PRC Companies”), the PRC Companies are required to allocate 10% of their profits attributable to the 

respective owners of the PRC Companies as set out in their statutory financial statements, to the statutory 

reserve until such reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of the respective PRC Companies. The 

appropriation to the reserve must be made before any distribution of dividends to the respective owners of 

the PRC Companies.

The statutory surplus reserve can be used to offset previous year’s losses, if any, and part of the statutory 

reserve can be capitalised as the share capital of the respective PRC Companies provided that the amount 

of such reserve remaining after the capitalisation shall not be less than 25% of the share capital of the 

respective PRC Companies.

(b) Safety fund

Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the Ministry of Finance and Ministry of Emergency Management 

of the People’s Republic of China (the previous name as Safety Production General Bureau), the Group 

is required to set aside an amount to safety fund based on the revenue generated from transportation 

service provided. The fund can be used for improvements of safety and are not available for distribution to 

shareholders. Upon incurring qualifying safety expenditure, an equivalent amount is transferred from safety 

fund to retained earnings.
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31 LEASE LIABILITIES

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Minimum lease payments due

– Within one year 18,693 20,275

– Between one and two years 5,178 16,520

– Between two and five years 4,493 6,201

– Later than five years 860 1,434

29,224 44,430

Less: future finance charges (1,433) (2,681)

27,791 41,749

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Present value of lease liabilities

– Within one year 17,838 18,613

– Between one and two years 4,856 15,992

– Between two and five years 4,294 5,866

– Later than five years 803 1,278

27,791 41,749

The total cash outflows for leases including payments of lease liabilities, payments of interest expenses on leases for 

the years ended 31 December 2023 was RMB20,922,000 (2022: RMB31,287,000).
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32 BONDS PAYABLE

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Asset-backed securities 610,741 908,486

Less: maturing within 1 year (610,741) (784,025)

Non-current portion of bonds payable – 124,461

Major terms of the asset-backed securities of the Group are summarised as below:

(a) Asset-backed securities (“ABS”) issued in year 2023

ABS 1 ABS 2 ABS 3

Issue date:

14 April 2023

Issue date:

6 June 2023

Issue date:

27 October 2023

As at 

31 December

2023

As at

31 December

2023

As at 

31 December

2023

Outstanding principal amount 

 (senior A1 tranches) (RMB’000) 16,375 69,187 199,281

Coupon rate (senior A1 tranches) (%) 3.00% 3.20% 3.99%

Maturity date (senior A1 tranches) 28 February 2024 30 April 2024 30 September 2024

Payment terms of principal and interests monthly monthly monthly

Outstanding principal amount 

 (senior A2 tranches) (RMB’000) 75,000 81,000 –

Coupon rate (senior A2 tranches) (%) 3.30% 3.40% –

Maturity date (senior A2 tranches) 30 September 2024 31 December 2024 –

Payment terms of principal and interests monthly monthly –

Outstanding principal amount 

 (senior B tranches) (RMB’000) 14,000 6,000 33,000

Coupon rate (senior B tranches) (%) 4.40% 4.40% 4.60%

Maturity date (senior B tranches) 31 October 2024 27 January 2025 31 December 2024

Payment terms of principal and interests monthly monthly monthly
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32 BONDS PAYABLE (Continued)

(b) Asset-backed securities (“ABS”) issued in year 2022

ABS 4 ABS 5 ABS 6

Issue date: 30 November 2022

Issue date:

30 March 2022

Issue date:

27 July 2022

As at 

31 December 

2023

As at 

31 December 

2022

As at 

31 December 

2022

As at 

31 December 

2022

Outstanding principal amount 

 (senior A1 tranches) 

 (RMB’000) – 281,632 37,708 150,340

Coupon rate

 (senior A1 tranches) (%) 2.99% 2.99% 3.15% 3.00%

Maturity date

 (senior A1 tranches) 31 October 2023 31 October 2023 28 February 2023 30 June 2023

Payment terms of principal 

 and interests monthly monthly monthly monthly

Outstanding principal amount 

 (senior A2 tranches) 

 (RMB’000) 89,898 140,000 90,000 15,000

Coupon rate

 (senior A2 tranches) (%) 3.39% 3.39% 3.40% 3.10%

Maturity date

 (senior A2 tranches) 28 June 2024 28 June 2024 30 June 2023 31 July 2023

Payment terms of principal 

 and interests monthly monthly monthly monthly

Outstanding principal amount 

 (senior B tranches) (RMB’000) 27,000 27,000 35,000 31,000

Coupon rate

 (senior B tranches) (%) 4.30% 4.30% 4.00% 3.80%

Maturity date (senior B tranches) 31 July 2024 31 July 2024 31 August 2023 31 October 2023

Payment terms of principal 

 and interests monthly monthly monthly monthly
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32 BONDS PAYABLE (Continued)

(c) Asset-backed securities (“ABS”) issued in year 2021

ABS 7

Issue date: 16

September 2021

As at 

31 December 

2022

Outstanding principal amount (senior A1 tranches) (RMB’000) –

Coupon rate (senior A1 tranches) (%) 3.50%

Maturity date (senior A1 tranches) 29 July 2022

Payment terms of principal and interests monthly

Outstanding principal amount (senior A2 tranches) (RMB’000) 30,806

Coupon rate (senior A2 tranches) (%) 3.90%

Maturity date (senior A2 tranches) 28 February 2023

Payment terms of principal and interests monthly

Outstanding principal amount (senior B tranches) (RMB’000) 70,000

Coupon rate (senior B tranches) (%) 4.70%

Maturity date (senior B tranches) 28 April 2023

Payment terms of principal and interests monthly

Deewin Financing Leasing Co., Ltd, a subsidiary of the Company, transferred its loan receivables to the asset 

plan administrator which issue asset-backed securities to investors.

Bonds payable are consist with tranches of senior A1, senior A2, senior B and subordinate, according to 

payment priority. The Group has subsequently repurchased and held all of the subordinate tranches of the 

issued asset-backed securities and hence the risks and rewards of the aforesaid loan receivables transferred 

are still substantially retained by the Group. Accordingly, the Group has not de-recognised the related loan 

receivables in the consolidated financial statement.
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33 BORROWINGS

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current:

Long term bank borrowings, unsecured 1,077,852 747,949

Long term bank borrowings, secured (a) 73,239 128,245

Other long term borrowings, secured (b) 39,996 835,146

Subtotal 1,191,087 1,711,340

Less:

–  Current portion of long term bank borrowings (600,405) (115,173)

–  Current portion of other long term borrowings (39,996) (744,051)

Total non-current portion: 550,686 852,116

Current:

Short term bank borrowing, unsecured 1,685,813 890,522

Short term bank borrowings, secured (a) 304,151 75,906

Short term bank borrowings, guaranteed by a third party – 15,000

Current portion of long term bank borrowings 600,405 115,173

Current portion of other long term borrowings 39,996 744,051

Total current portion: 2,630,365 1,840,652

Total borrowings 3,181,051 2,692,768

(a) As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s long term and short term bank borrowings of RMB73,239,000 

(2022: RMB128,245,000) and RMB304,151,000 (2022: RMB75,906,000) were secured by the pledge of the 

Group’s loan receivables of RMB643,523,000 (2022: RMB228,550,000) (Note 24) and notes receivable of 

RMB2,100,000 (2022: RMB64,985,000) (Note 23).

(b) Other borrowings were the loans obtained from third parties in the form of sub-lease arrangement. As at 

31 December 2023, other borrowings of RMB39,996,000 (2022: RMB835,146,000) were secured by loan 

receivables of RMB125,428,000 (2022: RMB1,433,797,000) (Note 24).
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33 BORROWINGS (Continued)

(c) The weighted average effective interest rates for borrowings at each balance sheet date are as follows:

As at 31 December

2023 2022

Bank borrowings 3.56% 3.80%

Other borrowings 4.23% 4.65%

(d) At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s borrowings were repayable as follows:

Bank borrowings Other borrowings Total

As at 

31 December 

2023

As at 

31 December 

2022

As at 

31 December 

2023

As at 

31 December 

2022

As at 

31 December 

2023

As at 

31 December 

2022

Within one year 2,590,369 1,096,601 39,996 744,051 2,630,365 1,840,652

Between one and two years 550,686 761,021 – 91,095 550,686 852,116

3,141,055 1,857,622 39,996 835,146 3,181,051 2,692,768

(e) All the borrowings were denominated in RMB.
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34 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Trade payables

Notes payable (a) 256,852 38,238

Trade payables – related parties (Note 39 (c)(i)) 46,059 56,254

Trade payables – third parties 351,501 275,393

Trade and notes payables 654,412 369,885

Other payables

Other payables – loans from a related party (Note 39 (c)(ii)) 825,000 973,000

Other payables – advances from related parties (Note 39 (c)(ii))(c) 2,424 8,469

Other payables – interest payable to related party (Note 39 (c)(ii)) 645 836

Other payables – loan from a third party (d) 50,000 50,000

Other payables – interest payable to third party 46 –

Other payables – deposits collected from lessees of leased properties 277,295 459,380

Other payables – other deposits 26,904 30,434

Other payables – others 64,647 65,998

Provisions for warranty (f) 1,049 1,194

Staff salaries and welfare payables 56,806 54,298

Early retirement benefits payable 378 1,301

Accrued taxes other than income tax 6,935 4,751

Other payables 1,312,129 1,312,129

Total of trade and other payables 1,966,541 2,019,546

Less: non-current portion:

– Other payables – deposits collected from lessees of leased properties (149,067) (160,537)

– Early retirement benefits payable (49) (385)

– Other payables – loan from a third party – (50,000)

– Provisions for warranty (1,049) (1,194)

Total non-current portion (150,165) (212,116)

Current portion 1,816,376 1,807,430
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34 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all trade and other payables except for loan from related parties of the Group 

were non-interest bearing, and their fair values, except for the staff salaries and welfare payables, early retirement 

benefits payable and accrued taxes other than income tax which are not financial liabilities, approximated their 

carrying amounts.

(a) As at 31 December 2023, loan receivables of RMB30,523,000 (2022: Nil) were pledged for notes payable of 

RMB33,000,000 (2022: Nil) (Note 24).

(b) The aging analysis of the trade payables (including amounts due to related parties of trading in nature) based 

on transaction date was as follows:

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Within one year 365,676 312,083

One year to two years 29,726 17,663

Two years to three years 624 1,686

Over three years 1,534 215

397,560 331,647

(c) The loans from a related party as at 31 December 2023 of RMB 825,000,000 (2022: RMB 973,000,000) were 

unsecured, interest bearing at rates ranging from 2.50% to 2.60% (2022: 2.60% to 3.55%) per annual, and 

repayable within one year.

(d) The loans from a third party as at 31 December 2023 of RMB 50,000,000 (2022: RMB 50,000,000) was 

provided to the Company through a bank entrusted arrangement with guaranteed to the bank by the same 

third party.

The loan was unsecured, interest bearing at a rate of 3.00% (2022: 3.00%) per annual, and with a term of 

one year.



DEEWIN TIANXIA CO.,LTD200

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

34 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

(e) The movement in provisions for warranty is as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Beginning of the year 1,194 2,558

– Provision for the year 338 –

– Utilisation and reversal for the year (483) (1,364)

End of the year 1,049 1,194

Provision for warranty represents warranty program provided by the Group in terms of the sales of intelligent 

internet of vehicle (IoV) terminal products.

35 DEFERRED GOVERNMENT GRANTS

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Deferred government grants 8,560 16,744

Movements in deferred government grants for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Beginning of the year 16,744 14,043

Additions for the year 2,306 6,689

Credited to profit or loss (Note 5.3) (10,490) (3,988)

End of the year 8,560 16,744
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36 DIVIDENDS

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Dividends declared to shareholders of the Company 96,955 201,126

Pursuant to a resolution of the shareholders’ meeting of the Company on 29 March 2023, dividends of 

RMB96,955,000 (2022: RMB 201,126,000), being RMB 0.4336 (tax inclusive) (2022: RMB 1.2347) per 10 share, for 

the year ended 31 December 2022 were declared to the shareholders of the Company, which were fully paid on 25 

August 2023.

In accordance with the resolution at the Board of Directors’ meeting held on 28 March 2024, based on the total 

outstanding share capital as at 28 March 2024, the Board of Directors proposed a final dividend of RMB0.4076 (tax 

inclusive) per 10 shares amounting to RMB88,926,000 to the shareholders of the Company in respect of the year 

ended 31 December 2023. The proposed dividend is not recorded as liability in the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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37 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Cash generated from operations

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before income tax 209,103 278,777

Adjustments for:

– Net impairment losses on financial assets (Note 3.1(b)) 116,548 78,836

– Provision for impairment of inventory (Note 7) 1,291 2,709

– Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 14) 20,622 18,464

– Depreciation of investment properties (Note 15) 266 266

– Amortisation of right-of-use assets (Note 13) 20,103 29,696

– Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16) 8,270 5,628

– Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 173 34

– Finance costs – net 13,893 226

– Share of net profit of associate accounted for using the 

  equity method (Note 18) (5,141) (4,657)

– Other losses – net 1,644 815

– (Decrease)/increase of deferred government grants (Note 35) (8,184) 2,701

– Provisions for/(reversal of) warranty (Note 34) 338 (1,096)

378,926 412,399

Changes in working capital:

– Restricted cash at banks (Note 27) (30,179) 68,658

– Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

  income (FVOCI) (Note 22) (22,016) 30,151

– Notes receivable 184,856 (319,084)

– Trade receivables (251,826) (128,251)

– Loan receivables (601,823) 2,148,897

– Other receivables 232,121 (153,180)

– Prepayments 95,528 (90,153)

– Inventories 68,010 67,562

– Trade and other payables 277,017 (545,033)

– Contract liabilities (71,149) (10,485)

– Borrowings 40,677 (1,530,315)

– Provisions for warranty (Note 34) (483) (268)

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 299,659 (49,102)
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37 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Major non-cash investing and financing activities

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Acquisition of right-of-use asset (Note 13) 5,385 25,217

(c) Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for each of the years presented. 

For details of net debt please refer to note 3.2.

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash and restricted cash at banks 1,023,235 1,165,125

Gross debt – fixed interest rates (4,694,629) (3,775,170)

Gross debt – variable interest rates – (890,833)

Net debt (3,671,394) (3,500,878)
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37 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Net debt reconciliation (Continued)

Assets Liabilities

Cash 

and cash 

equivalents

Restricted 

cash at 

banks

Borrowings 

due within 

1 year

Borrowings 

due after 

1 year

Other 

payables 

due 

within 

1 year

Other 

payables 

due after 

1 year

Lease 

liabilities 

due 

within 

1 year

Lease 

liabilities 

due after 

1 year

Bonds 

payable 

due 

within 

1 year

Bonds 

payable 

due after 

1 year Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2022 213,339 84,816 (3,705,410) (395,019) (211,000) (643,000) (24,730) (23,409) (836,072) (103,785) (5,644,270)

Cash flows 935,628 (68,658) 1,407,661 – (169,000) – 31,287 – 31,371 – 2,168,289

Non-cash change

– Acquisitions of lease 

 incentives – – – – – – – (23,739) – – (23,739)

– Interest expenses on 

 lease liabilities – – – – – – – (1,158) – – (1,158)

– Reclassification – – 457,097 (457,097) (593,000) 593,000 (25,170) 25,170 20,676 (20,676) –

At 31 December 2022 1,148,967 16,158 (1,840,652) (852,116) (973,000) (50,000) (18,613) (23,136) (784,025) (124,461) (3,500,878)

At 1 January 2023 1,148,967 16,158 (1,840,652) (852,116) (973,000) (50,000) (18,613) (23,136) (784,025) (124,461) (3,500,878)

Cash flows (171,779) 30,179 (553,268) – 244,955 – 20,922 – 297,745 – (131,246)

Non-cash change

– Acquisitions of lease 

 incentives – – – – – – – (5,384) – – (5,384)

– Interest expenses on lease 

 liabilities – – – – – – – (1,580) – – (1,580)

– Dividends declared – – – – (96,955) – – – – – (96,955)

– Other non-cash changes (290) – 64,985 – – – – – – – 64,695

– Reclassification – – (301,430) 301,430 (50,000) 50,000 (20,147) 20,147 (124,461) 124,461 –

At 31 December 2023 976,898 46,337 (2,630,365) (550,686) (875,000) – (17,838) (9,953) (610,741) – (3,671,348)
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38 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities.

39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise 

control or significant influence over the Group in making financial and operating decisions. SXAG is the 

Company’s controlling shareholder. SAHG is the Company’s ultimate controlling shareholder.

The Company is controlled by SXAG, which is a government-related enterprise established in the PRC 

by Shaanxi SASAC. In accordance with IAS 24 (Revised), “Related Party Disclosures”, issued by the IASB, 

government-related entities and their subsidiaries, directly or indirectly controlled, jointly controlled or 

significantly influenced by the government are defined as related parties of the Group. On that basis, related 

parties include SXAG and its subsidiaries (other than the Group), entities controlled by Shaanxi SASAC, other 

entities and corporations in which the Group is able to exercise significant influence and key management 

personnel of the Company and as well as their close family members. The Group’s significant transactions 

and balances with the PRC government and other entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly 

influenced by the PRC government mainly include deposits and borrowings, trade and other receivables, 

trade and other payables and cash and cash equivalents. The directors of the Company believe that the 

meaningful information of related party transactions has been adequately disclosed in the consolidated 

financial statements.

Management believes that all material related party transactions and balances, of which they are aware of, 

have been adequately disclosed. Sales of goods to related parties are at market prices or prices that are 

also available to other customers. The Group considers that these sales are activities in the ordinary course 

of business. In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the 

Group had the following material transactions or balances with related parties.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this consolidated financial statements, during the year ended 31 December 

2023, the Group had the following significant transactions and balance with related parties.
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39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Sales of goods

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant influence 113,350 35,312

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 60,273 30,394

173,623 65,706

Rendering of logistics and warehousing service

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant influence 289,215 229,357

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 99,216 54,581

– Entities over which the Ultimate Controlling Shareholder has 

 significant influence 773 482

– Entities controlled by the Ultimate Controlling Shareholder – 2

389,204 284,422

Interest income from factoring business

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant influence – 164

Rendering of Internet of Vehicle (IoV) and data service

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant influence 7,046 11,292

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 41 90

7,087 11,382

Rendering of maintenance and other services

– Entities controlled by the Ultimate Controlling Shareholder 121 –

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 4 13

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant influence – 25

125 38
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39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Purchase of goods and services

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant influence 82,825 1,069

– Associates 3,474 2,352

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 1,572 31,110

– Entities controlled by the Ultimate Controlling Shareholder 10 13

– Parent Company – 28,348

87,881 62,892

Loan advanced from related parties

– Parent Company 1,030,000 370,000

– Ultimate Controlling Shareholder – 100,000

– Associates – 10,000

1,030,000 480,000

Repayment of loan to related parties

– Parent Company 1,178,000 251,000

– Ultimate Controlling Shareholder – 100,000

– Associates – 10,000

1,178,000 361,000

Accrued interest on loan from related parties

– Parent Company 33,040 20,969

– Associates – 376

– Ultimate Controlling Shareholder – 304

33,040 21,649
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39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Payment of interest on loan from related parties

– Parent Company 33,231 26,920

– Associates – 376

– Ultimate Controlling Shareholder – 61

33,231 27,357

Factoring receivables repaid from related parties

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant influence – 10,191

Purchase of right-of-use assets

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant influence – 5,121

Payment of rental expense

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant influence 11,715 11,090

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 8,102 6,506

– Parent Company 97 97

19,914 17,693

Collection of transportation fee collected by related parties on behalf

 of the Group

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant influence 167,055 88,954

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 6,308 32,786

173,363 121,740
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39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Repayment of social benefits expense which was previously paid by 

 related parties on behalf of the Group

– Ultimate Controlling Shareholder 8,425 3,333
  

Factoring receivables repaid by related parties on behalf of third parties

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant influence 84,771 113,919

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 55,194 67,533

139,965 181,452
  

Lease payment received from related parties on behalf of lessees

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 381 6,177

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant influence – 52,944
  

381 59,121
  

(c) Balances with related parties

(i) Trade balances with related parties

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables (Note 21)

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant 

 influence 226,327 160,320

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 87,829 52,075

– Entities over which the Ultimate Controlling Shareholder has 

 significant influence 235 467

– Entities controlled by the Ultimate Controlling Shareholder 7 7

314,398 212,869

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying amount of trade receivables are RMB314,398,000 

and RMB212,869,000, and the allowance provision of RMB528,000 and RMB474,000, respectively.
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39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(i) Trade balances with related parties (Continued)

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

FVOCI – Notes receivable

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant 

 influence 30,969 8,923

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 19,902 15,761

50,871 24,684

FVOCI – Trade receivables

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant 

 influence 39,727 39,378

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 10,291 403

50,018 39,781

Notes receivable (Note 23)

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant 

 influence 26,900 10,310

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 5,314 5,085

32,214 15,395

Loan receivables

– Entities over which the Ultimate Controlling Shareholder has 

 significant influence – 47,386

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant 

 influence – 43,891

– 91,277

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of loan receivables of RMB91,277,000 had allowance 

provision of RMB47,825,000.
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39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(i) Trade balances with related parties (Continued)

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepayments

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 21,390 56,876

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant 

 influence 3,250 2,231

– Parent company 35 30

24,675 59,137

Notes payable

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant 

 influence 64,912 –

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 7,610 –

72,522 –

Trade payables (Note 34)

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 38,952 52,451

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant 

 influence 7,056 198

– Parent Company 51 3,605

46,059 56,254

Contract liabilities

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 82 39

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant 

 influence 74 –

– Entities controlled by the Ultimate Controlling Shareholder 1 –

157 39



DEEWIN TIANXIA CO.,LTD212

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(ii) Non-trade balances with related parities

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Other receivables (Note 25)

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 12,960 125,150

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant 

 influence 721 50

– Parent Company 100 100

13,781 125,300

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying amount of other receivables were RMB13,781,000 

and RMB125,300,000 and the allowance provision were RMB33,000 and RMB141,000, respectively.

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Other payables (Note 34)

Loan, advance and interest payable to:

– Parent Company 825,645 973,836

– Entities over which the Parent Company has significant 

 influence 2,372 1,877

– Entities controlled by the Parent Company 52 6,592

828,069 982,305
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39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d) Key management compensation

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 3,121 2,720

Pension costs, housing fund, medical insurances 

 and other social insurances 799 669

3,920 3,389

(e) Use of registered trademark

Pursuant to the trademark agreements with SXAG, the Company has the right to use the registered 

trademark of “che lun gun gun” at no cost from 28 August 2016 to 27 August 2026, Deewin Financing 

Leasing Co., Ltd. has the right to use the registered trademark of “Deyingtianxia” at no cost from 7 August 

2012 to 31 December 2024, Shanghai Fargo Supply-chain Management (Group) Co., Ltd. has the right to 

use the registered trademark, which is a logo, at no cost from 21 March 2017 to 20 March 2027.
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40 SUBSIDIARIES

The Company had direct and indirect interests in the following subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 

2023 and 2022:

Percentage of equity attributable 

to the Company

Directly held (Note (a))

Place and date of 

incorporation

/Establishment

Registered 

capital

As of 

31 December 

2022

As of 

31 December 

2023

Principle activities 

and place of operation

Deewin Financing Leasing Co., Ltd 

 (德銀融資租賃有限公司)

PRC, 

24 November 2011

RMB1,550,000,000 100% 100% Financial leasing business in PRC

Shanghai Deewin Commercial Factoring Co., Ltd 

 (上海德銀商業保理有限公司)

PRC, 

17 September 2013

RMB200,000,000 100% 100% Factoring service in PRC

Shanghai Fargo Supply-chain Management (Group) Co., Ltd 

 (上海遠行供應鏈管理（集團）有限公司)

PRC, 

13 June 2012

RMB50,000,000 100% 100% Logistics and supply chain 

 business in PRC

Shaanxi Tianxingjian IoV Information Technology Co., Ltd 

 (陝西天行健車聯網信息技術有限公司)

PRC, 

18 June 2013

RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Internet of Vehicle (“IoV”) and 

 data service in PRC

Shaanxi Tonghui Automobile Logistics Co., Ltd 

 (陝西通匯汽車物流有限公司)

PRC, 

20 October 2005

RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Logistics and supply chain 

 business in PRC

Shanghai Fargo Logistics Service Co., Ltd 

 (上海遠行物流服務有限公司)

PRC, 

18 May 2015

RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Logistics and supply chain 

 business in PRC

Shaanxi Zhongfu Wulian Technology Service Co., Ltd 

 (陝西中富物聯科技服務有限公司)

PRC, 

12 June 2012

RMB16,000,000 100% 100% Logistics and supply chain 

 business in PRC

Xinjiang Fargo Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd 

 (新疆遠行供應鏈管理有限公司)

PRC, 

28 January 2013

RMB20,000,000 51% 51% Logistics and supply chain 

 business in PRC

Shaanxi Fargo Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd 

 (陝西遠行供應鏈管理有限公司)

PRC, 

12 December 2013

RMB3,000,000 100% 100% Logistics and supply chain 

 business in PRC

Henan Deewin Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd 

 (河南德銀供應鏈管理有限公司)

PRC, 

28 February 2014

RMB30,000,000 51% 51% Logistics and supply chain 

 business in PRC

Shanxi Deewin Fargo Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd 

 (山西德銀遠行供應鏈管理有限公司)

PRC, 

13 March 2014

RMB3,000,000 100% 100% Logistics and supply chain 

 business in PRC

Inner Mongolia Fargo Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd 

 (內蒙古遠行供應鏈管理有限公司)

PRC, 

14 March 2014

RMB3,000,000 100% 100% Logistics and supply chain 

 business in PRC

Beijing Deewin Fargo Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd 

 (北京德銀遠行供應鏈管理有限公司)

PRC, 

10 June 2015

RMB3,000,000 100% 100% Logistics and supply chain 

 business in PRC

Shaanxi Huazhen Logistics Co., Ltd 

 (陝西華臻物流有限公司)

PRC, 

24 January 2011

RMB6,000,000 100% 100% Logistics and supply chain 

 business in PRC

(a) All the companies comprising the Group are incorporated/established with limited liability in the PRC and 

adopted 31 December as their financial year end date.

(b) Shanghai Fargo Supply-chain Management (Group) Co., Ltd (上海遠行供應鏈管理（集團）有限公司), the 

shareholder of Shanghai Fargo Logistics Service Co., Ltd (上海遠行物流服務有限公司) made a written 

resolution to absorb and merge Shanghai Fargo Logistics Service Co., Ltd and liquidate and deregister 

Shanghai Fargo Logistics Service Co., Ltd, on 18 January 2024.
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41 STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE 
COMPANY

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 3,946 5,352

Investment properties 4,026 4,389

Intangible assets 1,260 1,401

Investment in an associate 9,641 9,157

Investments in subsidiaries 2,472,053 2,302,053

Right-of-use asset 477 –

Other receivables from subsidiaries 657,736 806,230

3,149,139 3,128,582

Current assets

Prepayments 32,676 1,035

Other receivables from third parties 2,858 17,561

Other receivables from subsidiaries 2,981,840 1,355,732

Restricted cash at banks 22,723 10,108

Cash and cash equivalents 712,892 876,753

3,752,989 2,261,189

Total assets 6,902,128 5,389,771

EQUITY

Share capital 2,236,043 2,236,043

Treasury shares (70,559) –

Other reserves 1,114,320 1,094,562

Retained earnings 321,553 240,687

Total equity 3,601,357 3,571,292
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41 STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE 
COMPANY (Continued)

As at 31 December

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 292 –

Borrowings 542,296 670,000

Other payables to third parties – 50,000

Deferred government grants 2,684 2,781

545,272 722,781

Current liabilities

Other payables to third parties 796,121 382,701

Other payables to subsidiaries 67,565 5

Lease liabilities 89 –

Borrowings 1,891,724 712,992

2,755,499 1,095,698

Total liabilities 3,300,771 1,818,479

Total equity and liabilities 6,902,128 5,389,771

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024 and 

was signed on its behalf.

Chairman: Guo Wancai Director: Wang Runliang
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41 STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE 
COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Reserve movement of the Company

Other 

reserves

Retained 

earnings

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2022

Comprehensive income 811,270 247,944

Profit for the year – 215,410

Transaction with owners:

Initial Public Offering Issue of 

 H Shares 261,751 –

Dividends declared and paid – (201,126)

Appropriation of statutory reserves 21,541 (21,541)

Subtotal 283,292 (222,667)

At 31 December 2022 1,094,562 240,687

At 1 January 2023

Comprehensive income 1,094,562 240,687

Profit for the year – 197,579

Transaction with owners:

Dividends declared and paid – (96,955)

Appropriation of statutory reserves 19,758 (19,758)

Subtotal 19,758 (116,713)

At 31 December 2023 1,114,320 321,553
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42 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

42.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

i. Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The 

Group controls an entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 

involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the 

activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred 

to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies 

are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 

impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 

necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity 

and the consolidated statement of financial position respectively.

ii. Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint 

control. This is generally the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. 

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting (see (iii) below), 

after initially being recognised at cost.

iii. Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted 

thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in 

profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in 

other comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are 

recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in 

the entity, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise further 

losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.
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42 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

42.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (Continued)

iii. Equity method (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent 

of the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 

provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted 

investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the 

Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance with the 

policy described in Note 42.8.

iv. Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as 

transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment 

between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative 

interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling 

interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity 

attributable to owners of the Group.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because of a loss of 

control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its 

fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes 

the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest 

as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in 

other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly 

disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as 

specified/permitted by applicable IFRS Accounting Standards.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant 

influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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42 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

42.2 Separate financial information

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost also includes direct attributable 

costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends 

received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving dividends from these 

investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the 

dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds 

the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

42.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 

operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and 

assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as executive directors of the Company 

that makes strategic decisions.

42.4 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using 

the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional 

currency”) throughout the year. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi 

(“RMB”), which is the Company’s functional currency and the Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 

prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 

settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary 

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are 

presented in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income within “Finance costs-net”. 

All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated statements of 

comprehensive income within “Other losses-net”.
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(Continued)

42.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at historical cost less 

depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 

to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 

part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statements of 

comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over 

their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings and facilities 20 to 45 years

Machinery and equipment 12 years

Motor vehicles 8 years

Electronic equipment 3 to 5 years

Leasehold improvement 2 to 8 years

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment under construction or pending installation 

and is stated at cost less provision for impairment loss, if any. Cost includes the costs of construction and 

acquisition as well as interest expenses during the periods of construction and installation. When the assets 

concerned are available for use, the costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment and depreciated 

in accordance with the policy as stated above.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 

reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 

amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 42.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are 

recognised within “other losses- net” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
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42 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

42.6 Intangible assets

Intangible assets represented the purchased computer softwares which are capitalised on the basis of the 

costs incurred to acquire the specific software. Based on the current functionalities equipped by these 

softwares and the daily operation needs, the Group considers a useful life of 5 to 10 years is the best 

estimation under current business needs. These costs are amortised over periods ranging from 5 to 10 years.

42.7 Investment properties

Properties that are held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that are not 

occupied by the Group, are classified as investment property.

The Group’s investment properties comprise land use right located in the PRC, which is measured initially at 

their costs, including the related transaction costs and borrowing costs, where applicable.

After initial recognition, investment property is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 

provision for impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 

acquisition of the properties. The land use right of investment properties is depreciated over their estimate 

useful lives of 20-45 years.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized to the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset only 

when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the 

cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All 

other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income 

during the financial period in which they are incurred.

An investment property shall be derecognised on disposal or when investment property is permanently 

withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Gains or losses arising 

from the retirement or disposal of investment property shall be determined as the difference between the 

net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and shall be recognised in the consolidated 

statements of comprehensive income in the period of the retirement or disposal.
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42 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

42.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation but are tested annually for 

impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes 

in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised 

for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 

amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing 

impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 

(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed 

for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

42.9 Financial assets

i. Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income 

(“OCI”) or through profit or loss); and

• those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the 

contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other 

comprehensive income. For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the business model in 

which the investment is held. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this 

will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition 

to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those 

assets changes.

ii. Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which 

the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 

receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has 

transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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(Continued)

42.9 Financial assets (Continued)

iii. Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a 

financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair 

value through profit or loss (FVTPL) are expensed in profit or loss.

iv. Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing 

the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into 

which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

• Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash 

flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. A 

gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at amortised cost and is not 

part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or 

impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is included in financial income using the 

effective interest rate method.

• FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial 

assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are 

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Movements in the carrying 

amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, 

interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. 

When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 

OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in “other losses – net”. Interest 

income from these financial assets is included in other income using the effective interest 

rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses generated from borrowings are presented in 

“financial income” and impairment losses on financial assets are presented in “net impairment 

losses on financial assets”.

• FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVOCI) are measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss 

on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss and 

is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss and presented net in the 

consolidated statements of comprehensive income within “other losses -net” in the period in 

which it arises.
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42.9 Financial assets (Continued)

v. Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group’s 

management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in other 

comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit 

or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue 

to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is 

established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

(FVTPL) are recognised in “other losses -net” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive 

income, where applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments 

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) are not reported separately from 

other changes in fair value.

vi. Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL associated with its assets carried at amortized 

cost and fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). The impairment methodology 

applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. Note 3.1 details how 

the Group determines whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, notes receivable and fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), 

the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS Accounting Standards 9, which requires 

to recognise the lifetime ECL. The amount of ECL (or reversal) that is required to adjust the loss 

allowance at the reporting date to its recognised amount is recognised in profit or loss, as an 

impairment loss or a reversal of an impairment loss.

For the loan receivables, the Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit loss. 

The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in 

credit risk. The Group considers various reasonable and supportable information to judge if there is 

significant increase in credit risk, including the forward-looking information, when determining the 

expected credit loss staging for loan receivables. Major factors being considered include regulatory 

and operating environment, internal and external credit ratings, solvency, and operational capabilities.
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42.9 Financial assets (Continued)

vi. Impairment (Continued)

For other receivables, the impairment is measured as either 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL, depending 

on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant 

increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is 

measured as lifetime ECL.

While cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at banks are also subject to the impairment 

requirements of IFRS Accounting Standards 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables, loan receivables, other receivables, notes receivable, fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVOCI), cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at banks are written off 

(either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.

The description of inputs, assumption and estimation techniques used in measuring the ECL is 

presented in Note 3.1.

42.10 Financial liabilities

(a) Recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost. Financial liabilities at amortised 

cost are recognised initially at fair value net of transaction costs incurred and subsequently stated at 

amortised cost. Any difference between proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption value 

is recognised in the profit or loss over the period of the other financial liabilities using the effective 

interest method.

Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, 

they are presented as non-current liabilities.

See Note 20 for details of each type of financial liabilities.

(b) Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled 

or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 

substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such 

exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a 

new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or 

loss.
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42.11 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statements of 

financial position where the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, 

and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

The Group has also entered into arrangements that do not meet the criteria for offsetting but still allow 

for the related amounts to be set off in certain circumstances, such as bankruptcy or the termination of a 

contract.

42.12 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted 

average method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 

applicable variable selling expenses.

42.13 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or service performed in the ordinary course 

of business. If collection of trade receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle 

of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current 

assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they 

contain significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair value.

Trade receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 

provision for impairment. See Note 42.9 for further information about the Group’s accounting policies for 

trade and other receivables.

42.14 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated cash flows statements, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at 

call with banks and financial institutions and readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 

subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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42.15 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 

tax, from the proceeds.

42.16 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods, construction or service that have been acquired in the 

ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due 

within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented 

as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method. See Note 42.10 for further information about the Group’s 

accounting policies for trade and other payables.

42.17 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and 

the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective 

interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the 

loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee 

is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all 

of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity service and amortised 

over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the 

contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial 

liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any 

non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 

of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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42.18 Borrowings cost

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 

qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 

intended use or sale, which will be capitalized, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 

intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 

qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

42.19 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income 

based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and 

liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at 

the statement of balance sheet date in the areas where the Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate 

taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations 

in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on 

the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 

the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. 

However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 

transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting 

nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been 

enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the 

related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise 

those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount 

and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the Company is able to control the timing of the 

reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 

future.
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42.19 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 

assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax 

assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either 

to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items 

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in 

other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

42.20 Employee benefits

i. Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave 

that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the 

employees render the related service are recognised in respect of employees’ service up to the end 

of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 

are settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit obligations in the statement of 

financial position.

ii. Pension obligation

The employees of the Group in the PRC are covered by the government-sponsored defined 

contribution pension plans under which the employees are entitled to a monthly pension based on 

certain formulas. The relevant government agencies are responsible for the pension liability to these 

retired employees. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to these pension plans. Under these 

plans, the Group has no obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions made and 

contributions to these plans are included in profit or loss as incurred.

iii. Housing funds, medical insurances and other social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate in various government-supervised 

housing fund, medical insurance and other employee social insurance plans. The Group contributes on 

a monthly basis to these funds based on certain percentages of the salaries of the employees, subject 

to certain ceiling. The Group’s liability in respect of these fund is limited to the contributions payable 

in each period.
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42.20 Employee benefits (Continued)

iv. Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a liability when the Group has a present 

contractual or constructive obligation as a result of service rendered by employees and a reliable 

estimation of the obligation can be made.

v. Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal 

retirement date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. 

The Group recognises termination benefits when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of 

those benefits.

42.21 Leases

i. The Group as a lessee

The Group leases buildings, facilities and related land use right. Rental contracts of buildings and 

facilities are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 3 years with no extension options. Land use right 

is made for fixed period of 40 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain 

various different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased 

assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Buildings, facilities and related land use right leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and the 

corresponding liabilities at the date of which the respective leased asset is available for use by the 

Group. Each lease payment is allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is 

charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on 

the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease 

liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

• Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable

• Variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate

• Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees

• The exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that 

option, and

• Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising 

that option.
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42.21 Leases (Continued)

i. The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot 

be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental 

borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the 

funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic 

environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

• Where possible, uses recent third-parties financing received by the individual lessee as a 

starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third parties financing 

was received

• Uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for 

leases held by the Group, which does not have recent third-parties financing, and

• Makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or 

rate, which are not included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease 

payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against 

the right-of-use asset.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

• The amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

• Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives 

received

• Any initial direct costs, and

• Restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease 

term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the 

right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and commercial vehicles and all leases 

of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-

term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise commercial 

vehicles and small items of equipment.
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42 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

42.21 Leases (Continued)

ii. The Group acts as a buyer-lessor

Individual customers (the seller-lessee) transfer commercial vehicles (transferred assets) to the Group 

(the buyer lessor) and lease back from the buyer-lessor. The Group does not recognise the transferred 

assets as such transfer does not satisfy the requirements of IFRS Accounting Standards 15 as a 

sale and recognise loan and receivables (Note 24) equal to transfer proceeds. Sale and leaseback 

transactions in which the relevant seller-lessees have an obligation or a right to repurchase the 

relevant assets were accounted as financing arrangements under IFRS Accounting Standards 9.

42.22 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the 

grant will be received, and the Group will comply with all the attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the profit or loss over the period 

necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in non-current 

liabilities as deferred income and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives 

of the related assets.

42.23 Provision and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 

events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount 

can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement 

is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the 

likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 

obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 

risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest 

expense.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and its existence will only be 

confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within 

the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised 

because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required, or the amount of obligation 

cannot be measured reliably.
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42 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

42.24 Research and development

Research and development cost comprise all costs that are directly attributable to research and development 

activities (relating to the application platform related to vehicle operation data) or that can be allocated on a 

reasonable basis to such activities. Research and development costs are recognised as intangible assets when 

the following criteria are met:

• it is technically feasible to complete the application platform so that it will be available for use or sale;

• management intends to complete the application platforms, and use or sell it;

• the ability to use or sell the application platform;

• it can be demonstrated how the application platform will generate economic benefits;

• there are adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and the 

ability to use or sell the application platforms; and

• the expenditure attributable to the application platforms during its development phase can be reliably 

measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are charged to expense as incurred. 

Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent 

period.

42.25 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company and 

the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the 

Company’s shareholders.
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Definition

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise require, the following expressions shall have the following meaning:

“AGM” the annual general meeting of the Company

“Articles of Association” the articles of association of the Company

“Audit Committee” audit committee of the Board

“Board” or “Board of Directors” the board of Directors of the Company

“Board of Supervisors” the board of Supervisors of the Company

“China” or “the PRC” the People’s Republic of China, except where the context requires otherwise and only 

for the purpose of this report, excluding Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative 

Region of the PRC and Taiwan

“Companies Ordinance” the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended, 

supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

“Company” Deewin Tianxia Co., Ltd (德銀天下股份有限公司) (formerly known as Deewin Tianxia 

Investment Holding Co., Ltd.* (德銀天下投資控股有限公司)), a limited liability company 

established in the PRC on 14 August 2014 and registered as a joint stock company 

with limited liability on 25 December 2020

“Connected person(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

“Controlling Shareholder” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

“Deewin Factoring” Shanghai Deewin Commercial Factoring Co., Ltd.* (上海德銀商業保理有限公司), a 

limited liability company established in the PRC on 17 September 2013, which is a 

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

“Deewin Financial Leasing” Deewin Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.* (德銀融資租賃有限公司), a limited liability company 

established in the PRC on 24 November 2011, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 

the Company

“Director(s)” director(s) of the Company

“EIT” enterprise income tax of the PRC

“Global Offering” the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Offering both as defined in the 

Prospectus
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“Group”, “our Group”, 

 “the Group”, “we” or “us”

the Company and its subsidiaries

“H Share(s)” overseas listed foreign share(s) in our ordinary share capital with a nominal value of 

RMB1.00 each

“H Share Registrar” Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

“Hong Kong” or “HK” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

“Hong Kong dollars” or 

 “HK dollars” or “HK$”

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“IFRSs” International Financial Reporting Standards

“Independent Customers” including Independent Logistics Supply Chain Customers, Independent Factoring 

Customers, Independent Financial Leasing Customers and Independent IoV Customers

“IoV” or “Internet of Vehicles” the business which uses sensing technology to collect data in relation to automobile, 

in particular the data of automobile operation, driving behaviour of drivers and driving 

location, in order to provide data service and information service to various market 

participants of automobile ecosphere

“Latest Practicable Date” 29 March 2023, being the latest practicable date for ascertaining certain information in 

this report before its publication

“Listing” the listing of the H Shares on the Main Board

“Listing Date” 15 July 2022, being the date on which the H Shares was listed and on which dealings 

in the H Shares was first permitted to take place on the Stock Exchange

“Listing Rules” or 

 “Hong Kong Listing Rules”

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

“Main Board” the stock market (excluding the options market) operated by the Stock Exchange which 

is independent from and operated in parallel with the GEM of the Stock Exchange

“Meixin” Meixin Insurance Agency (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.* (美信保險經紀(上海)有限公司), a limited 

liability company established in the PRC on 14 September 2010, in which 30.00% 

equity interest is held by the Company and remaining 70.00% equity interest is held by 

an independent third party

“Nomination Committee” nomination committee of the Board
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“Over-allotment Option” the option expected to be granted by the Company to the International Underwriters, 

exercisable by the Sole Representative (for itself and on behalf of the International 

Underwriters)

“PRC Company Law” Company Law of the People’s Republic of China (中華人民共和國公司法), as amended, 

supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

“PRC Government” or “State” the central government of the PRC, including all political subdivisions (including 

provincial, municipal and other regional or local government entities) and its organs or, 

as the context requires, any of them

“Prospectus” the prospectus being issued by the Company dated 30 June 2022 in connection with 

the Global Offering

“Remuneration Committee” the remuneration committee of the Board

“Reporting Period” the year ended December 31, 2023

“RMB” or “Renminbi” Renminbi yuan, the lawful currency of the PRC

“SAT” State Administration of Taxation of the PRC (中華人民共和國國家稅務總局)

“SFC” Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

“SFO” Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as 

amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

“Shaanxi Automobile” Shaanxi Automobile Group Co., Ltd. (陝西汽車集團股份有限公司) (formerly known as 

Shaanxi Automobile Group Co., Ltd.* (陝西汽車集團有限責任公司)), a limited liability 

company established in the PRC on 18 November 1989 and registered as a joint stock 

company with limited liability on 30 March 2021. It is a Controlling Shareholder

“Shaanxi Automobile Group” Shaanxi Automobile and its affiliated companies

“Shaanxi Automobile Holding” Shaanxi Automobile Holding Group Co., Ltd.* (陝西汽車控股集團有限公司), a limited 

liability company established in the PRC on 20 August 2012 and a Controlling 

Shareholder, in which 51.00% equity interest is held by the State-owned Assets 

Supervision and Administration Commission of the People’s Government of Shaanxi 

Province and 49.00% equity interest is held by one company that is wholly-owned by 

the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the People’s 

Government of Shaanxi Province
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“Shaanxi Commercial Automobile” Shaanxi Group Commercial Automobile Co., Ltd.* (陝汽集團商用車有限公司), a 

limited liability company established in the PRC on 10 April 2002 and a Controlling 

Shareholder, in which 68.51% equity interest is held by Shaanxi Automobile and 

31.49% equity interest is held in aggregate by three independent third parties. The 

Company was held as to 0.52% by Shaanxi Commercial Automobile as at the Latest 

Practicable Date

“Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile” Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile Co., Ltd.* (陝西重型汽車有限公司), a limited liability 

company established in the PRC on 18 September 2002, in which 49.00% equity 

interest is held by Shaanxi Automobile and 51.00% equity interest is held by Weichai 

Power Co., Ltd. (濰柴動力股份有限公司), which is a company listed on the Main Board 

of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2338) and the main board of Shenzhen Stock 

Exchange (stock code: SZ000338) and an independent third party. The Company was 

held as to 5.24% by Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile as at the Latest Practicable Date

“Shaanxi Holding Group” Shaanxi Automobile and Shaanxi Automobile Holding and/or their respective associates 

(excluding the members of our Group)

“Share(s)” ordinary share(s) in the capital of the Company, with a nominal value of RMB1.00 

each, comprising Domestic Shares and H Shares

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of the Shares

“Stock Exchange” or the “Hong 

 Kong Stock Exchange”

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“subsidiary(ies)” has the meaning ascribed to it in section 15 of the Companies Ordinance

“substantial shareholder(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

“Supervisor(s)” supervisor(s) of the Company

“Tianxingjian” Shaanxi Tianxingjian Internet of Vehicle Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (陝西天行健

車聯網信息技術有限公司), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 18 June 

2013, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

“Tonghui” Shaanxi Tonghui Automobile Logistics Co., Ltd.* (陝西通匯汽車物流有限公司), a limited 

liability company established in the PRC on 20 October 2005, which is a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of the Company

“%” per cent.


